

Cohomologie à coefficients tordus de la réalisation géométrique d'un système de liaison

Rémi Molinier

► To cite this version:

Rémi Molinier. Cohomologie à coefficients tordus de la réalisation géométrique d'un système de liaison. Topologie algébrique [math.AT]. Université Paris 13, 2015. Français. NNT: . tel-01197017

HAL Id: tel-01197017 https://hal.science/tel-01197017v1

Submitted on 10 Sep 2015

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

UNIVERSITÉ PARIS 13 Laboratoire Analyse, Géométrie et Applications, UMR 7539

THÈSE

présentée pour obtenir le grade de

Docteur de l'Université Paris 13

Discipline : Mathématiques

présentée et soutenue publiquement par :

Rémi MOLINIER

le 17 Juillet 2015

Cohomology with twisted coefficients of the geometric realization of linking systems

Directeur de thèse : Bob OLIVER

RAPPORTEURS

Mme	Natàlia CASTELLANA VILA	Associate Professor	(Barcelona)
М.	Radu STANCU	Maître de Conférence Habilité	(Amiens)

JURY

М.	Christian AUSONI	Professeur	(Paris 13)
М.	Baptiste CALMÈS	Maître de Conférence Habilité	(Lens)
Mme	Natàlia CASTELLANA VILA	Associate Professor	(Barcelona)
М.	Bob OLIVER	Professeur Émérite	(Paris 13)
М.	Radu STANCU	Maître de Conférence Habilité	(Amiens)
М.	Antoine TOUZÉ	Maître de Conférence Habilité	(Paris 13)

UNIVERSITÉ PARIS 13 Laboratoire Analyse, Géométrie et Applications, UMR 7539

THÈSE

présentée pour obtenir le grade de

Docteur de l'Université Paris 13

Discipline : Mathématiques

présentée et soutenue publiquement par :

Rémi MOLINIER

le 17 Juillet 2015

Cohomology with twisted coefficients of the geometric realization of linking systems

Directeur de thèse : Bob OLIVER

RAPPORTEURS

Mme	Natàlia CASTELLANA VILA	Associate Professor	(Barcelona)
М.	Radu STANCU	Maître de Conférence Habilité	(Amiens)

JURY

М.	Christian AUSONI	Professeur	(Paris 13)
М.	Baptiste CALMÈS	Maître de Conférence Habilité	(Lens)
Mme	Natàlia CASTELLANA VILA	Associate Professor	(Barcelona)
М.	Bob OLIVER	Professeur Émérite	(Paris 13)
М.	Radu STANCU	Maître de Conférence Habilité	(Amiens)
М.	Antoine TOUZÉ	Maître de Conférence Habilité	(Paris 13)

Remerciements

Je voudrais tout d'abord grandement remercier mon directeur de thèse, Bob Oliver. Merci de m'avoir accepté en thèse et de m'avoir fait travailler sur la théorie homotopique des systèmes de fusion dans laquelle j'ai beaucoup aimé évoluer. Merci aussi pour ta disponibilité et tout le temps que tu m'as consacré, cela malgré tes responsabilités et tes problèmes de santé. Merci donc infiniment pour ton encadrement exemplaire qui m'a conduit jusqu'ici et bien plus loin encore.

J'aimerais aussi remercier tendrement Natalia et Radu d'avoir accepté de relire mes travaux. Je vous remercie pour votre souplesse et votre compréhension pendant votre relecture alors que je trouvais une erreur dans ma thèse.

Merci aussi à Christian d'avoir accepté de présider mon jury de thèse et merci à tous, Antoine, Baptiste, Natalia, Radu, d'avoir accepté de faire partie de mon jury.

Cette thèse ne serait rien sans les belles rencontres que j'ai faites tout autour du globe.

Merci Radu pour les nombreuses discussions que nous avons eues et le temps que tu m'as consacré. J'ai eu énormément de plaisir à réfléchir avec toi, et j'espère, à l'avenir, pouvoir encore échanger et travailler avec toi. Merci Jesper, Jesper M. et Sune pour votre accueil à Copenhague, votre temps et les nombreux échanges que nous avons eus. J'ai passé de très bons moments avec vous et j'aimerais, à l'avenir, garder contact et travailler avec vous.

Pendant ces trois ans, j'ai pu évoluer dans un environnement de grande qualité au sein du LAGA.

Merci tout d'abord à mes collègues et amis du Bureau B410 : Amine, Annalaura, Eva, Julien, Lisa, Taiwang. Merci pour tous ces moments de travail, de détente, de fous rires, de jeux... C'est en grande partie grâce à vous que j'avais le courage de me lever et de faire une heure de trajet aller, puis une heure de trajet retour, tous les jours. Un grand merci aux membres de l'équipe de topologie algébrique qui ont apporté un excellent cadre de travail. Merci peut-être en particulier à Antoine, Christian, Eric et Muriel pour le temps qu'ils ont consacré à mes questions multiples. Merci aussi à Thomas qui, dans son rôle de tuteur, a su m'écouter dans des moments de creux. Merci enfin aux autres doctorants, Alexandre, Amal, Asma, Bruno, Cuong, Tuan, Nicolas, Roland, Guiseppe... avec qui j'ai eu beaucoup de plaisir à discuter et à travailler.

Le LAGA ne serait rien sans sa très solide et très efficace équipe administrative.

Merci Isabelle, Jean-Philippe et Yolande pour votre compréhension, votre efficacité, votre énergie et toute l'aide que vous m'avez apportée pour toutes les démarches administratives. Merci Gilles et Michael pour votre réactivité et votre efficacité suite aux problèmes informatiques que j'ai rencontrés. Enfin, merci Jean-Philippe pour ta sympathie et ton efficacité en tant que bibliothécaire.

Pendant cette thèse, j'ai aussi eu beaucoup d'activités passionnantes en dehors de mes travaux de recherche.

Le monitorat que j'ai effectué a été une très enrichissante expérience. Merci Jean-Stéphane pour ton aide, en tant que directeur du département de mathématiques, pour tous les petits problèmes que j'ai rencontrés. Merci aussi à Alain, Claude, François, Thomas, Yannick et tous mes autres collègues avec qui j'ai eu beaucoup de plaisir à travailler. Un enseignement, c'est aussi des élèves, et j'aimerais remercier tous les étudiants que j'ai pu encadrer. L'expérience pédagogique que j'ai acquise grâce à vous fût très riche et variée et j'espère que mon enseignement était à la hauteur de vos ambitions et vous à permis de réussir.

J'ai aussi prêté une grande attention à la popularisation des mathématiques durant ces trois années et, dans les nombreuses actions que j'ai menées, j'ai rencontré des personnes formidables. Merci Cyril, Eric, François, Julien et plus généralement toute l'équipe de Science Ouverte avec qui j'ai eu énormément de plaisir à préparer et encadrer de nombreux stages. Merci à Gwenola et Pierre avec qui j'ai participé à de superbes expositions et activités auprès des jeunes. Merci François et toute l'équipe de MATh.en.JEANS avec qui j'espère pouvoir être plus actif à l'avenir. Merci Martin, Christian et toute l'équipe d'Animath qui m'ont permis de participer à une belle action au Kosovo. Merci d'ailleurs à Nathanaël et Qëndrim, j'ai pris beaucoup de plaisir à vous rencontrer et à encadrer avec vous cette école de printemps à Pristina. Toutes ces actions, qui font la différence, sont indispensables pour l'avenir des mathématiques et, grâce à vous, j'ai pu me sentir vraiment utile.

J'aimerais aussi en profiter pour remercier des personnalités qui m'ont marqué, ont fait un bout de chemin avec moi, m'ont donné le goût des mathématiques ou tout simplement m'ont aidé à en arriver là.

Merci Cyprien pour tous ces moments précieux qui ont égayé mon enfance. Je ne pourrai jamais oublier la belle assiette de crème que j'ai eu le plaisir et l'honneur de t'envoyer en pleine face. Merci Mme Portelatine pour votre superbe enseignement en première et terminale scientifique qui a vraiment conforté mon amour des mathématiques. Merci Pierre-Jean pour cette très belle année de MP* avec vos cours et polycopiés hors programme qui m'ont montré l'immensité des mathématiques et m'ont mis les chaussures aux pieds pour escalader toutes ses montagnes. C'est aussi grâce à votre avis avisé que j'ai continué mes études à Orsay où j'ai pu m'épanouir complètement. Nathalie, Merci énormément pour ta tendresse et ton soutien sans faille. Merci Ramla pour ton temps et ton aide dans mes divers questionnements sur mon avenir. J'espère qu'on aura un jour le temps de parler un peu plus de mathématiques ensemble. Merci aussi Lionel pour m'avoir orienté vers Bob au balbutiement de ce projet alors que j'étais perdu et ne savais pas où planter mon pic à glace.

Enfin un grand merci à mes camarades d'ascension avec qui j'ai partagé des moments difficiles et des moments de grandes joies.

Romain et Pierre-Damien, je n'oublierai pas nos grandes soirées à l'internat à bosser nos DM de maths à en finir fou en criant "Tout est bon dans le cochon ! Tout est bon dans le cochon !" (un petit clin d'oeil aussi à Marie-Cécile que je remercie pour ses superbes cours d'espagnol !). Antoine, je n'oublierai jamais nos engueulades en TD d'algèbre sur des problèmes où, en fait, on disait exactement la même chose. Je n'oublierai pas les heures, soirées, dimanches et jours fériés passés à préparer l'agrégation avec une bonne partie de la prépa agreg d'Orsay et celle de Cachan. Maxime, outre nos TDs de représentation des groupes, je n'oublierai pas non plus nos grandes parties d'Hanabi à parfois en pleurer tellement le sort était contre nous. Enfin, merci encore à tous les doctorants du LAGA, beaucoup d'Orsay, d'autres d'Ile de France, et même certains de Copenhague avec qui j'ai partagé des moments très précieux.

Une thèse, c'est aussi une grande aventure humaine et j'aimerais remercier tous les amis qui ont contribué à apporter quotidiennement leurs propres couleurs au tableau.

Merci au club de L'Haÿ-les-Roses où j'ai pu me défouler et pratiquer du handball dans un cadre très chaleureux. Merci Hélène et Virgile pour ces petits week-ends à Nantes ou à la Turballe et surtout merci pour votre amitié qui m'est très chère. Merci Jean-Marie pour toutes ces belles années de collocation. Merci Adrien, Aladin, Augustin, Neva, Seb, Valentin et aussi toute la coloc d'Orsay pour toutes ces superbes soirées, week-ends et autres. J'espère vraiment que l'on continuera tous à se voir. Merci Maxime pour ton accueil à Amiens et toutes ces soirées jeux de société. Tu remercieras d'ailleurs pour moi tes collègues de jeux amiénois que j'ai eu beaucoup de plaisir à rencontrer. Merci Christèle, Pierre-Antoine, les Braubert, les Kortchemski et les Freyssinet avec qui j'ai passé de superbes soirées, des mariages, des brunchs, ou parfois juste quelques instants. Merci énormément Maxime pour toutes ces soirées, j'espère qu'un jour, nous trouverons plus de temps pour parler de maths ensemble, mais aussi et surtout que nous continuerons nos parties de Seven Wonders. Merci Lucile pour nos petites soirées. Enfin, merci encore infiniment au Bureau B410, nos sorties au restaurant chinois, nos soirées jeux (où Taiwang s'acharnait sur Lisa) et tout le reste.

Je ne serais pas la personne que je suis aujourd'hui, presque psychologiquement équilibré (quand on aime les maths, on n'est peut-être pas complétement sain d'esprit...), sans le tendre soutien émotionnel, psychologique, éducatif et bien plus, de toute ma famille.

Merci infiniment, Papa et Maman, pour votre soutien constant, votre tendresse au quotidien, l'éducation sociale et culturelle que vous m'avez donnée ainsi que le milieu familial très chaleureux que vous avez créé. On dit souvent qu'on ne choisit pas ses parents, mais je peux dire que j'ai eu énormément de chance. Merci aussi d'avoir pris sur vous et de m'avoir fait confiance en allant en faculté plutôt que dans une école d'ingénieurs. Je culpabilise tout de même d'avoir choisi un parcours qui m'éloigne, physiquement, toujours un peu plus, mais j'espère que, malgré la distance, je vous apporte suffisamment de joie et qu'aujourd'hui, vous êtes fiers de moi. Merci François pour toutes ces soirées à Paris qui me manquent déjà. J'ai pris énormément de plaisir dans nos grandes discussions et j'espère que, même si nous sommes aujourd'hui loin l'un de l'autre, nous continuerons nos échanges passionnants. Merci Grand-père et Grand-mère pour votre intérêt et votre soutien constant. Merci aussi pour tout ces moments plus intimes, à trois ou quatre, à refaire l'être humain et le monde, qui me sont très précieux. Lucas, j'aimerais en profiter pour te dire que, même si tu risques de voter à droite aux prochaines élections, j'ai beaucoup d'affections pour toi et que je suis très fier de tout ce que tu as entrepris et de toutes tes réussites, meilleures les unes que les autres. Ta persévérance et ta détermination m'ont toujours impressionné et m'inspirent au quotidien. Merci Matthieu et Sandra pour votre tendresse et votre accueil à Londres. Je prends toujours énormément de plaisir à vous revoir et je compte bien venir vous faire des pâtes carbonara encore longtemps. De plus, je vous remercie infiniment pour le plaisir et l'honneur d'être parrain d'une très jolie petite Angélica. J'espère être à la hauteur de la confiance que vous m'accordez. En tout cas, pour son 10^{ième} anniversaire, je lui apprends la théorie des groupes ! (on va peut-être attendre les 12 ans pour les systèmes de fusion...). Merci les cousins (avec toutes les pièces rapportées) pour les superbes cousinades que l'on a organisées. Enfin, Alain et Geneviève, Catherine et Jean-Dominique, et tous les autres, même si je n'ai pas eu tant de contact avec vous durant ces trois dernières années, je garde une grande affection pour vous.

J'aimerais finir par une pensée profonde pour Papy et Mamie. Les gens qu'on aime partent toujours trop vite, et je ne peux qu'être triste que vous ne soyez pas là aujourd'hui pour partager ce moment.

Enfin, Emilie, je te remercie infiniment pour ta présence et ta tendresse au quotidien. Merci pour ton dynamisme même si j'ai souvent ronchonné le matin. Merci pour nos voyages passionnants du fin fond du Canyon de Colca jusqu'aux temples bouddhistes japonais, à pied, en bus, en train, en avion et voir même à dos d'éléphant et de dromadaire, à dormir partout mais surtout n'importe où, à se faire réveillé par un hippopotame gourmand, à manger (quand on n'était pas malade) tout et n'importe quoi (sauf peut être du cui...), à voir de grandes merveilles naturelles ou construites par l'homme, rencontrer des gens et culture passionnantes. En résumé, merci pour cette vie d'aventure fascinante à tes côtés. Merci de m'avoir écouté te parler de mes mathématiques (même si tu t'endormais vite) et merci de m'avoir fait découvrir un peu de statistique (je suis un pro en sélection de modèle maintenant !). Merci de ta patience alors que je mettais deux heures à faire des choses que tu aurais mises 5 minutes à faire. Merci de ta compréhension alors que je défaisais pour re ranger les sac-à-dos ou les choses que tu avais déjà rangés. Merci d'avoir eu les épaules assez larges pour supporter mes doutes, mes craintes, mes crises de paniques, mes tensions ou autres, bien que tu étais toujours en première ligne et souvent la seule à qui je me confiais. Merci tout simplement d'être là, toujours à mes côtés, physiquement ou juste en pensé, souriante ou ronchonne, blonde ou aux cheveux verts, à partager ta vie avec moi.

"Peut-être est-ce un stratagème psychologique inconscient pour assumer ces incertitudes, mais je n'ai plus peur ni de vivre ni de mourrir. J'ai complètement intégré l'hypothèse du naufrage et de l'éradication humaine, tout comme celle d'un miraculeux sursaut de l'humanité qui déciderait d'une mobilisation de toutes les nations pour sauver le vaisseau commun. Quelle que soit l'issue, j'aurai tenté d'être aussi cohérent que possible. J'aurai reconnu et souscrit à cette sorte d'intelligence universelle qui nous invite sans cesse à l'intelligence. Et si les générations futures, mises en difficulté par nos outrances, nous font un procès, je souhaite ne pas être accusé d'avoir su et de n'avoir rien fait..."

Pierre Rabhi

Contents

In	trodu	ction 1
	Nota	$tion \ldots \ldots$
1	Fusi	on systems and <i>p</i> -local finite groups
	1.1	Fusion systems
	1.2	Linking systems
	1.3	Homotopy properties of linking systems
		1.3.1 Fundamental groups and covering spaces
		1.3.2 Homotopy properties of classifying spaces
2	Coh	omology and stable elements 21
	2.1	Group cohomology and δ -functors
	2.2	Cartan-Eilenberg Theorem
	2.3	Stable elements with trivial coefficients
	2.4	Stable elements with an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$
	2.5	Realizable fusion systems and stable elements
3	Iden	npotents problems 35
	3.1	Left-free (G, H) -bisets $\ldots \ldots 35$
	3.2	\mathcal{F} -characteristic bisets and trivial coefficients
	3.3	Bisets and twisted coefficients
	3.4	Idempotents and twisted coefficients
	3.5	Idempotents and constrained fusion systems
	3.6	A δ -functor
4	The	cohomology of classifying spaces of fusion systems 47
	4.1	Cohomology of <i>p</i> -good spaces
	4.2	Cohomology of $ \mathcal{L} $ with nilpotent coefficients

5	Coh	Cohomology with coefficients twisted by a <i>p</i> -solvable action		
	5.1	Extension by a p' -group	51	
		5.1.1 The minimal p-local subgroup of index prime to p	51	
		5.1.2 Remarks on actions factoring through a p' -group	53	
	5.2	Constrained fusion systems and coefficients with a <i>p</i> -solvable action	54	
		5.2.1 Constrained fusion systems	54	
		5.2.2 Realizable fusion systems and p -solvable actions $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	56	
6	Stu	dies of some constructions	61	
	6.1	Products of fusion systems	61	
	6.2	Cohomological coverings of <i>p</i> -local finite groups	63	
	6.3	The <i>p</i> -local structure of wreath products by C_p	69	
7	Exa	mples	75	
	7.1	A linking system with a non \mathbb{F}_p -acyclic universal covering space \ldots \ldots	75	
	7.2	Projective linear groups	76	
		7.2.1 Tits buildings and radical subgroups	76	
		7.2.2 The homotopy type of the linking system	78	
		7.2.3 The case $n \ge 4$	79	
		7.2.4 The case $n = 3$	80	
Ap	openo	dices	81	
тΙ	he Ge	eometric realization of a category	83	
	1	Simplicial sets and their realizations	83	
	2	The nerve of a category and its geometric realization	84	
тΙ	he Bo	ousfield-Kan p-completion	87	

Introduction

The notion of classifying space of a group was introduced by Milnor in the 1950s. To each group G (discrete or topological), he associated a topological space BG. When we work with finite (and thus discrete) group, this space is just a CW complex BG with a contractible universal covering space and such that $\pi_1(BG) = G$ (i.e. an Eilenberg MacLane space K(G, 1)). One canonical way to define it is as the geometric realization of the group category $\mathcal{B}(G)$ (see 2.4 for details). The application which assigns to Gthe space BG defines a functor $B: G \in \operatorname{Grp} \longrightarrow BG \in \operatorname{Top}$ and creates a link between group theory and homotopy theory. Milnor introduces these spaces to classify certain fiber bundles with a structure determined by the given group. But in the early 1980s, Lannes, Miller and Carlson proved the Sullivan conjecture which implies that BG has homotopy theoretic properties really rigid, and closely connected to the structure of Gitself. For example, if G is a finite group, for every $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ -module M, there is a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(G, M) \cong H^*(BG, M)$$

where the left term is the usual group cohomology of G and the right one is the cohomology of BG with twisted coefficients by the action of $\pi_1(BG) = G$ on M. Recall that, if a space X has a universal covering space \widetilde{X} , the cohomology of X with twisted coefficients in a $\mathbb{Z}[\pi_1(X)]$ -module M is the cohomology of the chain complex

$$C^*(X; M) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[\pi_1(X)]}(S_*(X), M),$$

where $S_*(\widetilde{X})$ is the usual singular chain complex of \widetilde{X} . We refer the reader not familiar with algebraic topology to [Hatch], with group cohomology to [AM], [Br2], [Ev] or [Be2] and with general homological algebra to [We].

For p a prime number, we can be interested in the p-completion, BG_p^{\wedge} , of BG and how it is linked to the structure of G. The p-completion of a space X, defined by Bousfield and Kan in the 1970s, is a space which allows us to focus on the properties of X "at mod p" (see appendix 2 for more details). It turns out that the homotopy theoretic properties of BG_p^{\wedge} , for G a finite group, are closely linked to the p-local structure of G, i.e. the structure of S together with the conjugacy relations between its subgroups. For example, by Cartan-Eilenberg Theorem (Theorem 2.2.4), the cohomology of BG_p^{\wedge} with coefficients in a trivial abelian p-group is completely determined by the p-local structure of G.

The notion of fusion and p-local structures in finite groups have been of interest for over a century and some results along these lines have been stated in the end of the 18th century by Burnside. Puig was the first, in the early 1970s (in [P1]), to consider the category $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ to encode the p-local structure of G. The fusion system of a finite group G, denoted by $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$, for S a Sylow p-subgroup of G, is the category with objects the set of all the subgroups of S and the morphisms between two subgroups are given by conjugacy by an element of G. This category seems to be the good object to consider when we want to study the p-local structure of a finite group and many classical results on fusion in a finite group G can be interpreted as results about the fusion system $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$.

Recently, Oliver [O1, O2] proved the Martino-Priddy conjecture, which gives a refine of the Cartan-Eilenberg Theorem.

Theorem (Martino-Priddy-Oliver Theorem). Let p be a prime number and G_1, G_2 be two finite groups.

If S_1 and S_2 are, respectively, Sylow p-subgroups of G_1 and G_2 , then the following statements are equivalent,

(i)
$$\mathcal{F}_{S_1}(G_1) = \mathcal{F}_{S_2}(G_2),$$

(*ii*)
$$(BG_1)_p^{\wedge} \simeq (BG_2)_p^{\wedge}$$
.

While working on this conjecture, and also trying to understand the group of self homotopy equivalences of BG_p^{\wedge} , Broto, Levi and Oliver [BLO1] were led to investigate the *centric linking system* $\mathcal{L}_S^c(G)$ associated to a finite group G with S as Sylow psubgroup. They discovered that the p-completed geometric realization $|\mathcal{L}_S^c(G)|_p^{\wedge}$ of this category has the homotopy type of BG_p^{\wedge} , and also that many of the homotopy properties of BG_p^{\wedge} can be described in terms of properties of $\mathcal{L}_S^c(G)$.

The notion of fusion system of a finite group G over a Sylow *p*-subgroup S can be generalized by the notion of saturated fusion system by forgetting the group G and mimicking the Sylow Theorems in terms of morphisms between subgroups of S. This notion was first developed by Puig in the 1990s [P6]. A saturated fusion system \mathcal{F} over a *p*-group S is the category whose objects are the subgroups of S, with the set $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q)$ of morphisms from P to Q consisting of monomorphisms from P to Q, and such that some axioms are satisfied (see Definition 1.1.1 for more details). Of course, the standard example of a saturated fusion system is the category $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$, where G is a finite group and S is a Sylow *p*-subgroup of G.

Motivated by a work of Ron Solomon, Dave Benson (in [Be3] and unpublished work) predicted that there should be a way of associating classifying spaces to saturated fusion systems, which would generalize the association between $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ and BG_p^{\wedge} . In that purpose, Broto, Levi and Oliver [BLO2] define the notion, more general, of *centric linking system* associated to a saturated fusion system over a *p*-group *S*. As an example, we can mention that, when we work with a finite group *G* and *S* a Sylow *p*-subgroup of *G*,

 $\mathcal{L}_{S}^{c}(G)$ is a centric linking system associated to $\mathcal{F}_{S}(G)$. They also define the notion of *p*-local finite group as a triple $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ with S a *p*-group, \mathcal{F} a saturated fusion system over S and \mathcal{L} an associated centric linking system. Thus, a classifying space of a *p*-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ can be defined to be the space $|\mathcal{L}|_{p}^{\wedge}$. In particular, if G is a finite group and S a Sylow *p*-subgroup of G, $(S, \mathcal{F}_{S}(G), \mathcal{L}_{S}^{c}(G))$ defines a *p*-local finite group and $|\mathcal{L}_{S}^{c}(G)|_{p}^{\wedge} \cong BG_{p}^{\wedge}$ is its classifying space. One problem with linking systems was the existence and uniqueness: for a given saturated fusion system, can we always find an associated centric linking system and, if it exists, is there a unique one? Recently, Chermak proved, using his theory of partial groups [Ch], that for any saturated fusion system, there is a unique associated centric linking system. Hence, for a saturated fusion system \mathcal{F} , we can define its classifying space $B\mathcal{F}$ as the space $|\mathcal{L}|_{p}^{\wedge}$ where \mathcal{L} is the associated centric linking system.

The *p*-completed classifying space of a finite group have some very remarkable homotopy properties and classifying spaces of saturated fusion systems share many of these properties. Hence, for a *p*-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$, the homotopy type of $|\mathcal{L}|$ and its homotopy properties are strong invariants of \mathcal{F} .

One important result of Broto, Levi and Oliver ([BLO2], Theorem B) and of first interest in this thesis is the following.

Theorem (2.3.4). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group.

The inclusion of BS in $|\mathcal{L}|$ induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, \mathbb{F}_p) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(\mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F}_p)$$

Here, $H^*(\mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F}_p) \subseteq H^*(S, \mathbb{F}_p)$ is the submodule of \mathcal{F} -stable elements (Definition 2.3.3). This theorem is a version of the Cartan-Eilenberg Theorem in the case of a saturated fusion system and with trivial coefficients. In particular, if G is a finite group and if we consider the associated *p*-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$, it is just another way to state Cartan-Eilenberg Theorem with trivial coefficients.

In this work, for $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ a *p*-local finite group, we are interested in the cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ with twisted coefficients in a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module. More precisely, we want to generalize Cartan-Eilenberg Theorem and Theorem 2.3.4, trying to express the cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ in terms of "stable" elements in the cohomology of the *p*-group *S*. This is a really interesting problem and it corresponds to the 7th open problem ask by Oliver in [AKO], Part III.

The first thing we have to fix is the notion of "stable" elements. Indeed, when we work with untwisted coefficients there is a cohomology functor $\mathcal{F} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Mod which allows us to define the notion of \mathcal{F} -stable element (Definition 2.3.3). But, in general, when we work with coefficients twisted by an action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$, there is not such a functor... However, it is possible to construct a cohomology functor from \mathcal{L} which factor through \mathcal{F}^c , the \mathcal{F} -centric part of \mathcal{F} . Hence we can define the notion of \mathcal{F}^c -stable element (Definition 3.2.1) which extends naturally, by Alperin's Fusion Theorem (Theorem 1.1.9), the notion of \mathcal{F} -stable elements. Then, for M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)]$ -module, if we denote by $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) \subseteq$ $H^*(S, M)$ the submodule of all \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements, we can ask if the inclusion of BS in $|\mathcal{L}|$ induces a natural isomorphism,

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$$
?

Unfortunately several examples (see Chapter 7) show that this is impossible in general. Indeed, sometimes, the cohomology of S is trivial whereas the cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ is not. Nevertheless, under some conditions, we can express the cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ with twisted coefficients in terms of \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements in the cohomology of S.

We can first try to look at some restricted classes of fusion systems where we have a good control on the homotopy type of $|\mathcal{L}|$. If we look at constrained fusion systems, almost everything true in the trivial case can be extended, without too much modifications, to the twisted case. In particular we have the following.

Theorem (5.2.5). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)]$ -module.

If \mathcal{F} is a constrained fusion system, then the inclusion of BS in $|\mathcal{L}|$ induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

The second way to attack the problem is by working on restrictions on the action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$. One first idea is to study nilpotent actions and try to use, by induction, the isomorphism given when the action is trivial (Theorem 2.3.4). For this purpose, we have to work on (S, S)-biset. Indeed, an important tool in the proof of Theorem 2.3.4 is the existence of an \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset which induces an idempotent on $H^*(S, \mathbb{F}_p)$ with image $H^*(\mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F}_p)$. Here we have to be more careful when working with \mathcal{F} characteristic bisets. In Chapter 3, we look at the problem of constructing an idempotent from a \mathcal{F} -characteristic biset and assuming an hypothesis (Hypothesis (A)) we construct an idempotent of the δ -functor $(H^*(S, -), \delta_{H^*(S, -)})$, with image containing $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$. From that we can deduce the following theorem.

Theorem (4.2.3). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and M an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$.

Assume that Hypothesis (A) is satisfied.

If the action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$ on M is nilpotent, then the inclusion of BS in $|\mathcal{L}|$ induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

In particular, if the action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$ on M factors through a p-group, the action is nilpotent and then, we get a natural isomorphism between the cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ and the \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements. The action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$ on M factors through a p-group if, and only if, the action factor through $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}) \cong S/\mathfrak{hyp}(\mathcal{F})$, where

$$\mathfrak{hyp}(\mathcal{F}) = \langle g^{-1}\alpha(g) \mid g \in P \leq S, \alpha \in O^p(\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)) \rangle \leq S$$

is the hyperfocal subgroup of \mathcal{F} . As a corollary, we can look at the cohomology of $B\mathcal{F} = |\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}$.

Theorem (4.2.4). Let \mathcal{F} be a saturated fusion system and M an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_1(B\mathcal{F})$.

If Hypothesis (A) is satisfied, then there is a natural isomorphism,

$$H^*(B\mathcal{F}, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

Some inductions can also be made using a p-local subgroup which induces a covering space on geometric realizations. For example, by studying p-local subgroups of index prime to p, we get the following theorem.

Theorem (5.1.4). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and M an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$.

If the action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$ on M factors through a p'-group, then the inclusion of BS in $|\mathcal{L}|$ induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

By Theorem 1.3.5, we also know that *p*-local subgroups of index a power of *p* induces covering spaces on the geometric realizations. Unfortunately it is more difficult to work with them. Indeed, as we work on fusion systems over different *p*-groups, it is more difficult to compare the \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements. However, working with realizable *p*-local finite groups, we get the following

Theorem (5.2.7). Let G be a finite group and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be the associated p-local finite group. Let M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)]$ -module.

If there is a "natural" action of G on M, then there is a natural isomorphism,

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(G, M)$$

We also recall some conditions, due to Grodal [Gr], under which the cohomology of G is isomorphic to the \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements. All these Theorems might be generalized and we can conjecture the following.

Conjecture (5.2.9). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group and $M \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)]$ -module. If the action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$ on M is *p*-solvable, then the inclusion of BS in $|\mathcal{L}|$ induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

We finally work, in Chapter 6, on some constructions of p-local finite groups or linking systems with particular forms to give some tools when working on concrete examples. We start with products of p-local finite groups, and using the Kunneth formula we get the following.

Proposition (6.1.5). Let, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, $(S_i, \mathcal{F}_i, \mathcal{L}_i)$ be two p-local finite groups and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ the p-local finite group product of $(S_1, \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{L}_1)$ and $(S_2, \mathcal{F}_2, \mathcal{L}_2)$.

Let also M_1 be a $\mathbb{F}_p[\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}_1|)]$ -module and M_2 be a $\mathbb{F}_p[\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}_2|)]$ -module.

If, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, δ_{S_i} induces a natural isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M_i) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_i^c, M_i)$ then the inclusion of BS in $|\mathcal{L}|$ induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} M_2) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} M_2).$$

Secondly, we work on linking systems that we can decompose as the union of two other linking systems which might be more easy to study and we give some criteria (Definition 6.2.1) under which, if we can compute the cohomology of the geometric realizations of the two parts by stable elements, then the initial one can also be compute by stable elements.

Proposition (6.2.5). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ and, for $i = \{1, 2\}$, $(S, \mathcal{F}_i, \mathcal{L}_i)$ be three p-local finite groups on the same p-group S. Let M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module.

Assume that $\{\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2\}$ is an *M*-cohomological covering of \mathcal{L} .

If, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, we have natural isomorphisms $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_i^c, M)$, then we have a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

We apply this machinery to the 2-local finite group associated to $P\Gamma L_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ and give an example of isomorphism between the cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ and the \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements when the action is twisted by a 2-solvable.

We finally study some realizable *p*-local finite group given by a wreath products. We give informations on the \mathcal{F} -essentials subgroups and use it to study the 5-local subgroup associated to $GL_{20}(\mathbb{F}_2) \wr C_5$. We give an example of isomorphism between the cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ and the \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements when the action is twisted by a 5-solvable but where there is no natural action of $GL_{20}(\mathbb{F}_2) \wr C_5$ on the coefficients.

Notation

Let G be a finite group.

For $g \in G$, let $c_g : G \longrightarrow G$ be the conjugation by g, defined by, for all $x \in G$, $c_g(x) = gxg^{-1}$. For $X \subseteq G$, let $N_G(X) = \{g \in G \mid c_g(X) \subseteq X\}$ be the normalizer in Gof X, and $C_G(X) = \{g \in G \mid c_g|_X = \mathrm{Id}_X\}$ be the centralizer in G of X. For $X, Y \subseteq G$ we denote by $T_G(X, Y) = \{g \in G \mid c_g(X) \subseteq Y\}$ the transporter in G from X to Y. We write $\langle X \rangle$ for the subgroup of G generated by X.

For H and G two groups, we write $H \leq G$, H < G or $H \leq G$ to indicate that H is a subgroup, proper subgroup or a normal subgroup of G, respectively. Let $\operatorname{Hom}(G, H)$ be the set of all homomorphisms of groups from G to H, $\operatorname{Inj}(G, H) \subseteq \operatorname{Hom}(G, H)$ the set of all injective homomorphisms and $\operatorname{Aut}(G)$ the group of automorphisms of G. Observe that, for $H \leq G$, $c: g \longmapsto c_g$ is a homomorphism from $N_G(H)$ to $\operatorname{Aut}(H)$ with kernel $C_G(H)$; we write $\operatorname{Aut}_G(H)$ its image and call it the *automizer* in G of H and thus, $\operatorname{Aut}_G(H) \cong N_G(H)/C_G(H)$. The *inner automorphism group* of H is $\operatorname{Inn}(H) = \operatorname{Aut}_H(H)$ and the *outer automorphism group* of H is $\operatorname{Out}(H) = \operatorname{Aut}(H)/\operatorname{Inn}(H)$.

For G a finite group, we write |G| for its order. For p a prime number, we say that G is a p-group if |G| is a power of p and a p'-group if |G| is prime to p. We denote by $O_p(G)$ or $O_{p'}(G)$ the largest normal subgroup of G which is a p-group or a p'-group, respectively. We also denote by $O^p(G)$ or $O^{p'}(G)$ the smallest normal subgroup of G of index a power of p or prime to p, respectively. If we consider a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module M, we will denote by M^G the submodule of M,

$$M^G = \{ x \in M \mid gx = x \}$$

(which is sometimes also denoted by $C_M(G)$ in the literature).

For specific groups, C_n will denote the cyclic group of order n, D_{2n} the dihedral group of order 2n and $A_n \leq S_n$ will denote the alternating and symmetric group on n letters.

For p a prime number and q a power of p, we write, \mathbb{F}_q the field of characteristic p with q elements and $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ the ring \mathbb{Z} localized at the prime ideal (p). We will also denote by $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$, $SL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$, $PGL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$, $PSL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ the general linear, special linear, projective general linear and projective special linear group of \mathbb{F}_q^n .

Let \mathcal{C} be a category. We write $\operatorname{Ob}(\mathcal{C})$ for the set of objects, $\operatorname{Mor}(\mathcal{C})$ for the set of all morphisms. If $x, y \in \operatorname{Ob}(\mathcal{C})$, we denote by $\operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{C}}(x, y)$ the set of all morphisms from x to y and $\operatorname{Iso}_{\mathcal{C}}(x, y)$ the set of all isomorphisms between x and y. If $F : \mathcal{C}_1 \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_2$ is a functor and $x, y \in \operatorname{Ob}(\mathcal{C}_1)$, we denote by $F_{x,y} : \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{C}_1}(x, y) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{C}_2}(F(x), F(y))$ the application induced by F and $F_x = F_{x,x}$.

For X, Y two spaces, we write $X \cong Y$ or $X \simeq Y$ to indicate that X is homeomorphic to Y or has the homotopy type of Y, respectively. We also denote by [X, Y] the set of homotopy classes of maps from X to Y. For a space X, we write $\pi_1(X)$ the fundamental group of X, i.e. the set of homotopy classes of pointed loops with concatenation as composition law.

Finally, for C a small category, we denote by $\mathcal{N}(C)$ its nerve and $|C| = |\mathcal{N}(C)|$ its geometric realization (see 2 for more details).

Fusion systems and *p*-local finite groups

In this chapter, we recall the definitions of fusion system and linking system, and some background in homotopy theory of fusion systems. We refer the reader more interested in fusion systems or homotopy theory of fusion systems to [AKO] or [Cr].

1.1 Fusion systems

A fusion system over a p-group S is a way to abstract the action of a finite group $G \ge S$ on the subgroups of S by conjugation.

Definition 1.1.1. Let S be a finite p-group.

A fusion system over S is a small category \mathcal{F} , where $Ob(\mathcal{F})$ is the set of all subgroups of S and which satisfies the following two properties for all $P, Q \leq S$:

- (a) $\operatorname{Hom}_{S}(P,Q) \subseteq \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q) \subseteq \operatorname{Inj}(P,Q);$
- (b) each $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q)$ is the composite of an \mathcal{F} -isomorphism followed by an inclusion.

The composition in a fusion system is given by composition of homomorphisms. We usually write $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q) = \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q)$ to emphasize that the morphims in \mathcal{F} are homomorphisms.

The typical example of fusion system is the fusion system of a finite group G.

Example 1.1.2. Let G be a finite group and S a p-subgroup of G.

The fusion system of G over S is the category $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ where $Ob(\mathcal{F}_S(G))$ is the set of all subgroups of S and for all $P, Q \leq S$, $Mor_{\mathcal{F}_S(G)}(P, Q) = Hom_G(P, Q)$.

The category $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ defines a fusion system over S.

In general, it is more convenient to work with fusion system when S is a Sylow psubgroup of G or more generally, when the fusion system is saturated. For that purpose, we will try to mimic Sylow Theorems in terms of the category $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$. There are several definitions of saturation. Here, we only give one due to Roberts and Shpectorov and the reader interested in other equivalent definitions can find more, for example, in [AKO].

Definition 1.1.3. Let S be a p-group and \mathcal{F} a fusion system over S.

- (a) Two subgroups $P, Q \leq S$ are \mathcal{F} -conjugate if they are isomorphic as objects in \mathcal{F} . We denote by $P^{\mathcal{F}}$ the set of all subgroups of $S \mathcal{F}$ -conjugate to P.
- (b) A subgroup $P \leq S$ is fully automized if $\operatorname{Aut}_{S}(P)$ is a Sylow p-subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$.
- (c) A subgroup $P \leq S$ is *receptive* in \mathcal{F} if it has the following property: for each $Q \leq S$ and $\varphi \in \operatorname{Iso}_{\mathcal{F}}(Q, P)$, if we set

$$N_{\varphi} = \left\{ g \in N_S(Q) \mid \varphi \circ c_g \circ \varphi^{-1} \in \operatorname{Aut}_S(P) \right\},\$$

then there is $\overline{\varphi} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(N_{\varphi}, S)$ such that $\overline{\varphi}|_Q = \varphi$.

A fusion system \mathcal{F} over a *p*-group *S* is *saturated* if each subgroup of *S* is \mathcal{F} -conjugate to a subgroup which is fully automized and receptive.

The case of the fusion system of a finite group over one of its Sylow *p*-subgroup is a particular case of a saturated fusion system.

Proposition 1.1.4 (Puig). Let G be a finite group.

If S is a Sylow p-subgroup of G, then the category $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ is a saturated fusion system.

A fusion system \mathcal{F} over a *p*-group *S* is called *realizable* if there is a finite group *G* such that *S* is a Sylow *p*-subgroup of *G* and $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}_S(G)$, and *exotic* otherwise. We know examples of exotic fusion systems (see [AKO], Section III.6, for some examples) but we do not know a lot about them and especially how they appear.

Let also distinguish other particular subgroups of S which play an important role.

Definition 1.1.5. Let S be a subgroup and \mathcal{F} a saturated fusion system over S.

- (a) A subgroup $P \leq S$ is fully centralized in \mathcal{F} if, for all $Q \in P^{\mathcal{F}}$, $|C_S(P)| \geq |C_S(Q)|$.
- (b) A subgroup $P \leq S$ is fully normalized in \mathcal{F} if, for all $Q \in P^{\mathcal{F}}$, $|N_S(P)| \geq |N_S(Q)|$.

If \mathcal{F} is realizable by a finite group G, then a subgroup $P \leq S$ is fully centralized (resp. fully normalized) if, and only if, $C_S(P)$ (resp. $N_S(P)$) is a Sylow *p*-subgroup of $C_G(P)$ (resp. $N_G(P)$).

If \mathcal{F} is a fusion system over a *p*-group *S*, for each $P \leq S$, we write $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}(P) = \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)/\operatorname{Inn}(P)$ and $\operatorname{Out}_{S}(P) = \operatorname{Aut}_{S}(P)/\operatorname{Inn}(P)$.

Definition 1.1.6. Let \mathcal{F} be a saturated fusion system over a *p*-group *S*.

(a) A subgroup $P \leq S$ is \mathcal{F} -centric if $C_S(Q) = Z(Q)$ for every $Q \in P^{\mathcal{F}}$.

(b) A subgroup $P \leq S$ is \mathcal{F} -radical if $O_p(\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)) = 1$.

We will denote by \mathcal{F}^c , \mathcal{F}^r and \mathcal{F}^{cr} the full subcategory of \mathcal{F} whose objects are the \mathcal{F} -centric subgroups, \mathcal{F} -radical subgroups and \mathcal{F} -centric and \mathcal{F} -radical subgroups of S respectively.

If \mathcal{F} is realizable by a finite group G, then a subgroup $P \leq S$ is $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ -centric if, and only if, P is *p*-centric, i.e. Z(P) is a Sylow *p*-subgroup of $C_G(P)$. The notion of \mathcal{F} -radical is not the same as being a radical *p*-subgroup. A *p*-subgroup is a radical *p*-subgroup of G if $O_p(N_G(P)/P) = 1$ while, P is $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ -radical if $O_p(N_G(P)/PC_G(P)) = 1$. The two definitions are closed but there is no implication in between. However, if P is $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ centric and $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ -radical, then P is a radical *p*-subgroup of G.

Definition 1.1.7. Let \mathcal{F} be a saturated fusion system over a *p*-group *S*.

A subgroup $P \leq S$ is \mathcal{F} -essential if P is \mathcal{F} -centric and fully normalized in \mathcal{F} , and if $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$ contains a strongly p-embedded subgroup.

For a finite group G, a subgroup H < G is *strongly p-embedded*, if $p \mid |H|$ and for each $x \in G \setminus H$, $H \cap xHx^{-1}$ has order prime to p.

The following proposition describes the properties of these \mathcal{F} -essential subgroups.

Proposition 1.1.8 ([AKO], Proposition I.3.3). Let \mathcal{F} be a saturated fusion system over a p-group S.

- (a) Each \mathcal{F} -essential subgroup of S is \mathcal{F} -centric, \mathcal{F} -radical and fully normalized in \mathcal{F} .
- (b) Let P be a fully normalized proper subgroup of S and let $H_P \leq Aut_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$ be the subgroup generated by those $\alpha \in Aut_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$ which extend to \mathcal{F} -isomorphisms between strictly larger subgroups of S. Then, either P is not \mathcal{F} -essential and $H_P = Aut_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$; or P is \mathcal{F} -essential and $H_P/Inn(P)$ is strongly p-embedded in $Out_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$.

These essential subgroups are important because their automorphisms generate the whole fusion system in a precise sens.

For a *p*-group *S*, there is a universal fusion system \mathcal{U} over *S* which contains all other fusion systems over *S*: for each $P, Q \leq S$, $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{U}}(P,Q) = \operatorname{Inj}(P,Q)$. Also, the intersection of two fusion systems over *S* is again a fusion system over *S*. We can then define, for Ψ a family of monomorphisms between subgroups of *S* and/or fusion systems over subgroups of *S*, the fusion system generated by Ψ , denoted $\langle \Psi \rangle_S$ (or $\langle \Psi \rangle$ when there is no confusion on the *p*-group we consider), as the smallest fusion system over *S* (not necessarily saturated!) which contains Ψ . Thus, $\langle \Psi \rangle_S$ is the intersection of all the fusion systems over *S* which contain Ψ and the morphisms in $\langle \Psi \rangle$ are the composites of restrictions of homomorphisms in the set $\Psi \cup \operatorname{Inn}(S)$ and their inverses.

Theorem 1.1.9 (Alperin's Fusion Theorem). Let \mathcal{F} be a saturated fusion system over a *p*-group *S*.

Then,

$$\mathcal{F} = \langle Aut_{\mathcal{F}}(P) \mid P = S \text{ or } P \text{ is } \mathcal{F}\text{-essential} \rangle_S.$$

1.2 Linking systems

For a finite group G and a subgroup $H \leq G$, we will denote by $\mathcal{T}_H(G)$ the transporter category of G over H which is the small category with set of objects the set of all subgroups of H and for all $H_1, H_2 \leq G$, $\operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{T}_G(H)}(H_1, H_2) = T_G(H_1, H_2)$. If we just want to consider

a family \mathcal{H} of subgroups of H, we will denote by $\mathcal{T}_{H}^{\mathcal{H}}(G)$ the full subcategory of $\mathcal{T}_{H}(G)$ with set of objects \mathcal{H} . Here, we will consider the case where G is a finite group and H = Sis a Sylow *p*-subgroup of G. We will also sometimes restrict our attention on the full subcategory $\mathcal{T}_{S}^{c}(G) = \mathcal{T}_{S}^{\mathcal{H}}(G)$ with $\mathcal{H} = \mathrm{Ob}(\mathcal{F}^{c})$ or $\mathcal{T}_{S}^{cr}(G) = \mathcal{T}_{S}^{\mathcal{H}}(G)$ with $\mathcal{H} = \mathrm{Ob}(\mathcal{F}^{cr})$.

These transporter categories are useful in the study of the *p*-local structure of a finite group G and we can mention that Oliver and Ventura [OV1] extend them to the notion of *transporter systems* to study extension of *p*-local finite groups by a *p*-group. Nevertheless, the structure of $\mathcal{T}_S(G)$ is too linked to G (for example, we can show that $|\mathcal{T}_S(G)| = BG$) and even if we restrict our attention on the centric subgroups, two groups G_1 and G_2 with a same Sylow *p*-subgroup S and the same fusion system over S can have different centric transporter categories (you can for example take G_1 such that $O_{p'}(G_1) \neq 0$ and $G_2 = G_1/O_{p'}(G_1)$). The good object to consider is the centric linking system!

Definition 1.2.1. Let \mathcal{F} be a fusion system over a *p*-group *S*.

A linking system associated to \mathcal{F} is a finite category \mathcal{L} together with a pair of functors

$$\mathcal{T}_{S}^{\operatorname{Ob}(\mathcal{L})}(S) \xrightarrow{\delta} \mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{F}$$

satisfying the following conditions:

- (A1) $Ob(\mathcal{L})$ is a set of subgroups of S closed under \mathcal{F} -conjugacy and overgroups, and contains $Ob(\mathcal{F}^{rc})$. Each object in \mathcal{L} is isomorphic (in \mathcal{L}) to one which is fully centralized.
- (A2) δ is the identity on objects, and π is the inclusion on objects. For each $P, Q \in Ob(\mathcal{L})$ such that P is fully centralized in \mathcal{F} , $C_S(P)$ acts freely on $Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q)$ via $\delta_{P,P}$ and right composition, and

$$\pi_{P,Q} : \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q)$$

is the orbit map for this action.

- (B) For each $P, Q \in Ob(\mathcal{L})$ and each $g \in T_S(P, Q)$, the application $\pi_{P,Q}$ sends $\delta_{P,Q}(g) \in Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P, Q)$ to $c_g \in Hom_{\mathcal{F}}(P, Q)$.
- (C) For each $P, Q \in Ob(\mathcal{L})$, all $\psi \in Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P, Q)$ and all $g \in P$, the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} P \xrightarrow{\psi} Q \\ \delta_P(g) \bigg| & \int \delta_Q(\pi(\psi)(g)) \\ P \xrightarrow{\psi} Q \end{array}$$

commutes in \mathcal{L} .

A centric linking system associated to a fusion system \mathcal{F} is a linking system associated to \mathcal{F} such that $Ob(\mathcal{L}) = Ob(\mathcal{F}^c)$.

The example of linking system we should have in mind is the centric linking system of a finite group, defined as follows. *Example 1.2.2.* Let G be a finite group and S a p-subgroup of G.

The centric linking system of G over S is the category $\mathcal{L}_{S}^{c}(G)$ where $Ob(\mathcal{L}_{S}^{c}(G))$ is the set of all p-centric subgroups of S and for all $P, Q \leq S$,

$$\operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{F}_S(G)}(P,Q) = T_G(P,Q) / O^p(C_G(P))$$

(remark that, as P is p-centric, $O^p(C_G(P))$ has order prime to p).

The category $\mathcal{L}_{S}^{c}(G)$, with the obvious functors π and δ , defines a centric linking system associated to $\mathcal{F}_{S}(G)$.

The following proposition gives some basic properties of linking systems.

Proposition 1.2.3 ([O4], Proposition 4). Let \mathcal{F} be a saturated fusion system over a *p*-group S and \mathcal{L} be an associated linking system.

(a) For each $P, Q \in Ob(\mathcal{L})$, the subgroup

$$E(P) = Ker\left(\pi_P : Aut_{\mathcal{L}}(P) \longrightarrow Aut_{\mathcal{F}}(P)\right)$$

acts freely on $Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q)$ via right composition and $\pi_{P,Q}$ induces a bijection

$$Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q)/E(P) \xrightarrow{\cong} Hom_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q)$$
.

- (b) A morphism $\psi \in Mor(\mathcal{L})$ is an isomorphism if and only if $\pi(\psi)$ is an isomorphism in \mathcal{F} .
- (c) If $P \in Ob(\mathcal{L})$ is fully normalized in \mathcal{F} , then $\delta_P(N_S(P))$ is a Sylow p-subgroup of $Aut_{\mathcal{L}}(P)$.
- (d) All morphisms in \mathcal{L} are monomorphisms and epimorphisms in the categorical sense.

When $P \leq Q$ are objects in a linking system \mathcal{L} , the morphism $\delta_{P,Q}(1) \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q)$ can be seen as an *inclusion morphism*. This terminology is motivated by axiom (B), because $\pi_{P,Q}(\delta_{P,Q}(1)) = \operatorname{incl}_{P}^{Q} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q)$.

Definition 1.2.4. Let S be a p-group, \mathcal{F} a saturated fusion system over \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{L} a linking system associated. A *compatible set of inclusions* for \mathcal{L} is a choice of morphisms $\iota_P^Q \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q)$, one for each pair $P \leq Q$ of objects of \mathcal{L} , such that $\iota_S^S = \operatorname{Id}_S$, and the following holds for all $P \leq Q \leq R$,

1. $\pi(\iota_P^Q)$ is the inclusion $P \leq Q$;

2.
$$\iota_Q^R \circ \iota_P^Q = \iota_P^R$$
.

We often write $\iota_P = \iota_P^S$. The existence of a compatible set of inclusions for \mathcal{L} is proved in [5a2], Proposition 1.13, but an easy example is given by, for each pair $P \leq Q$ of objects in \mathcal{L} ,

$$\iota_P^Q = \delta_P^Q(1)$$

In this thesis, we will fix a compatible set of inclusion $\left(\iota_P^Q\right)_{P < Q}$.

Once inclusions have been defined, we can consider restrictions and extensions of morphisms in \mathcal{L} and since morphisms in a linking system are monomorphisms and epimorphisms, restrictions and extensions are unique whenever they exist. The following proposition describes the conditions under which they do exist.

Proposition 1.2.5 ([O4], Proposition 4(b,e)). Let \mathcal{F} be a saturated fusion system over a p-group S and \mathcal{L} be an associated linking system.

- (a) For every $P, Q \in Ob(\mathcal{L}), \ \psi \in Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q) \ and \ P_0, Q_0 \in Ob(\mathcal{L}) \ such that, \ P_0 \leq P, Q_0 \leq Q \ and \ \pi(\psi)(P_0) \leq Q_0, \ there \ exists \ a \ unique \ morphism, \ \psi|_{P_0}^{Q_0} \ such \ that \ \psi \circ \iota_{P_0}^P = \iota_{Q_0}^Q \circ \psi|_{P_0}^{Q_0}.$
- (b) Let $P, Q, \overline{P}, \overline{Q} \in Ob(\mathcal{L})$ and $\psi \in Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P, Q)$ be such that $P \trianglelefteq \overline{P}, Q \le \overline{Q}$, and for each $g \in \overline{P}$, there is an $h \in \overline{Q}$ such that $\iota_Q^{\overline{Q}} \circ \psi \circ \delta_P(g) = \delta_{Q,\overline{Q}}(h) \circ \psi$. Then there is a unique morphism $\overline{\psi} \in Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(\overline{P}, \overline{Q})$ such that $\overline{\psi}|_P^Q = \psi$.

Usually, when we only study one fusion system, the most convenient linking system to work with is the centric linking system. But when we work with two different fusion systems, or with fusion subsystems, it is convenient to work with linking systems with an adapted set of objects. Hence we have to determine what are the possible sets of subgroups of S. For that we have to define the notion of \mathcal{F} -quasicentric subgroup.

Definition 1.2.6. Let \mathcal{F} be a saturated fusion system over a *p*-group *S*.

A subgroup $P \leq S$ is \mathcal{F} -quasicentric if for each $Q \leq PC_S(P)$ containing P, and each $\alpha \in \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(Q)$ such that $\alpha|_P = \operatorname{Id}, \alpha$ has a p-power order.

We will denote by \mathcal{F}^q the full subcategory of \mathcal{F} with set of objects all the \mathcal{F} -quasicentric subgroups of S.

If G is a finite group and S a Sylow p-subgroup of G, a subgroup $P \leq S$ is $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ quasicentric if, and only if, P is a p-quasicentric subgroup of G, i.e. $O^p(C_G(P))$ has order
prime to p.

We are now ready to describe the possible sets of subgroups of S we can choose to get a well-defined linking system.

Proposition 1.2.7. Let \mathcal{F} be a saturated fusion system over a p-group S.

Let \mathcal{L} be a linking system associated to \mathcal{F} .

We have $Ob(\mathcal{F}^{cr}) \subseteq Ob(\mathcal{L}) \subseteq Ob(\mathcal{F}^q)$, and there exists a linking system \mathcal{L}^q associated to \mathcal{F} such that $Ob(\mathcal{L}) = Ob(\mathcal{F}^q)$, and \mathcal{L} is a full subcategory of \mathcal{L}^q .

Moreover, for every subset $Ob(\mathcal{F}^{cr}) \subseteq \mathcal{H} \subseteq Ob(\mathcal{F}^q)$ stable by \mathcal{F} -conjugacy and overgroups, the full subcategory $\mathcal{L}^{\mathcal{H}}$ of \mathcal{L}^q with set of objects \mathcal{H} is also a linking system associated to \mathcal{F} .

Proof. The first point can be found for example in [O4], Proposition 4(g). For the second one, you can find a proof in [AKO], Proposition III.4.8. Finally, the last statement is clear from the axioms of linking system.

A quasicentric linking system associated to \mathcal{F} is a linking system \mathcal{L} with $Ob(\mathcal{L}) = Ob(\mathcal{F}^q)$.

If G is a finite group and S a Sylow p-subgroup of G, we can define the quasicentric linking system of G as the category $\mathcal{L}_{S}^{q}(G)$ with set of objects all the p-quasicentric subgroups of S and for all $P, Q \in Ob(\mathcal{L}_{S}^{q}(G))$,

$$\operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}_{S}^{q}(G)}(P,Q) = T_{G}(P,Q)/O^{p}(C_{G}(P)).$$

This category, with the obvious functors π and δ , defines a quasicentric linking system associated to $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ and $\mathcal{L}_S^c(G)$ is a full subcategory of $\mathcal{L}_S^q(G)$.

We finish with the problem of existence and uniqueness of a linking system for a given saturated fusion system over a *p*-group *S* and a set $Ob(\mathcal{F}^{cr}) \subseteq \mathcal{H} \subseteq Ob(\mathcal{F}^q)$ of subgroups of *S* stable by \mathcal{F} conjugacy and overgroups. This is a really difficult problem but it have been solved by Andrew Chermak [Ch] using the theory of partial groups (an interpretation by Bob Oliver in terms of obstruction theory is given in [O5]) and the answer is positive! Here we will always explicitly give the linking system and work with a *p*-local finite group.

Definition 1.2.8. A *p*-local finite group is defined to be a triple $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ where S is a *p*-group, \mathcal{F} a saturated fusion system over S, and \mathcal{L} a linking system associated to \mathcal{F} .

If S_0 is a subgroup of S, \mathcal{F}_0 a saturated subsystem of \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{L}_0 a linking system associated to \mathcal{F}_0 , the *p*-local finite group $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ will be called a *p*-local subgroup of $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ (even if $\mathcal{L}_0 \notin \mathcal{L}$).

We will always, or it will be stated explicitly, work with a centric linking system.

1.3 Homotopy properties of linking systems

When we work in homotopy theory and with classifying spaces of finite groups, we can be interested in the *p*-completion of them. If you take a finite group G, its classifying space BG is a space which is strongly linked to the structure of G. This link can be highlighted by *p*-local structure through the Martino-Priddy conjecture. The proof uses the notion of linking systems of groups and when we work with abstract saturated fusion systems, linking systems allow us to define classifying spaces and make a link between the theory of fusion systems and homotopy theory.

From now on, for a *p*-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$, π and δ will denote the structural functors

$$\mathcal{T}_{S}^{c}(S) \xrightarrow{\delta} \mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{F}.$$

We also write $\pi_{\mathcal{L}} = \pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|, S)$, and $\omega : \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}})$ denotes the functor which sends each objects of \mathcal{L} to the unique one in $\mathcal{B}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}})$ and, for $P, Q \leq S$, sends $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(P, Q)$ to the path $\iota_Q.\varphi.\overline{\iota_P}$ where $\overline{\iota_P}$ is the path ι_P in the other direction (see appendix 2 for more details).

1.3.1 Fundamental groups and covering spaces

Some constructions made with fusion and linking systems can be explained in terms of fundamental group and covering spaces of their geometric realizations.

If \mathcal{F} is a saturated fusion system over a *p*-group *S*, an important subgroup of *S* is the *hyperfocal subgroup* of \mathcal{F} :

$$\mathfrak{hyp}(\mathcal{F}) = \langle g^{-1}\alpha(g) \mid g \in P \leq S, \alpha \in O^p(\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)) \rangle \leq S.$$

The space $|\mathcal{L}|$ is a *p*-good space and the fundamental group of its *p*-completion can be computed as follows.

Theorem 1.3.1 ([AKO], Theorem III.4.17). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group.

The space $|\mathcal{L}|$ is p-good and the composite

$$\Psi: S \xrightarrow{\delta_S} Aut_{\mathcal{L}}(S) \xrightarrow{\omega_S} \pi_{\mathcal{L}} \xrightarrow{(\lambda_{|\mathcal{L}|})_*} \pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge})$$

is surjective with $Ker(\Psi) = \mathfrak{hyp}(\mathcal{F})$. Thus Ψ induces an isomorphism

$$\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|_p^\wedge) \cong S/\mathfrak{hyp}(\mathcal{F}).$$

Hence, the fundamental group of $|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}$ only depends on the associated fusion system. We will see later that many of the other homotopy properties of $|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}$ depend only on the fusion system.

We can also look at the covering spaces of $|\mathcal{L}|$ and we can wonder when they come from fusion subsystems. For example, we have the following properties (you can see [AKO], Section I.6, for the definition of normal subsystems of a fusion system and a linking system).

Proposition 1.3.2 ([AKO], Proposition III.4.16). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group. Let $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ be a p-local subgroup of $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ and assume that \mathcal{F}_0 is weakly normal in \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{L}_0 is normal in \mathcal{L} .

Then the inclusion $\mathcal{L}_0 \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ induces, up to homotopy, a covering space with covering group,

$$\mathcal{L}/\mathcal{L}_0 = Aut_{\mathcal{L}}(S_0)/Aut_{\mathcal{L}_0}(S_0).$$

We can look at some particular *p*-local subgroups.

Definition 1.3.3. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group and $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ a *p*-local subgroup of $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$.

- (a) We say that $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ is a *p*-local subgroup of index a power of *p* if $S_0 \geq \mathfrak{hyp}(\mathcal{F})$ and, for every $P \leq S$, $O^p(\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)) \leq \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}_0}(P)$.
- (b) We say that $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ is a *p*-local subgroup of index prime to *p* if $S_0 = S$ and, for every $P \leq S$, $O^{p'}(\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)) \leq \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}_0}(P)$.

These particular *p*-local subgroups satisfy the following properties.

Proposition 1.3.4 ([5a2], Proposition 3.8). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ a p-local subgroup of $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$.

- (a) If $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ is of index a power of p, then $P \leq S_0$ is \mathcal{F}_0 -quasicentric if, and only if, P is \mathcal{F} -quasicentric.
- (b) If $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ is of index prime to p, then $P \leq S$ is \mathcal{F}_0 -centric if, and only if, P is \mathcal{F} -centric.

These *p*-local subgroups are in one-to-one correspondence with covering spaces of $|\mathcal{L}|$ with index a power of *p* or prime to *p* respectively.

Let us first look at p-local finite subgroups of p-power index. According to the previous proposition, we will work with \mathcal{F} -quasicentric linking systems.

Theorem 1.3.5 ([5a2], Theorem 4.4). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group with \mathcal{L} a quasicentric linking system.

For each T containing $\mathfrak{hyp}(\mathcal{F})$, there is a unique p-local subgroup $(T, \mathcal{F}_T, \mathcal{L}_T)$ of index a power of p and such that $\mathcal{L}_T = \pi^{-1}(\mathcal{F}_T^q)$.

Moreover, the inclusion $\mathcal{L}_T \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ induces, up to homotopy, a covering space of degree [S:T]. Hence, $|\mathcal{L}_T|_p^{\wedge}$ is homotopy equivalent to a covering space of $|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}$ with covering group S/T.

Thus, there is a bijective correspondence between the *p*-local subgroups of $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ and the subgroups of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge})$. This can also be seen as an analogous to the situation for the classifying space of a finite group G: since $\pi_1(BG_p^{\wedge}) = G/O^p(G)$ there is a bijective correspondence between connected covering spaces of BG_p^{\wedge} and subgroups of G containing $O^p(G)$.

We can also define, for a *p*-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ the minimal *p*-local finite group of index a power of p ($\mathfrak{hyp}(S), O^p(\mathcal{F}), O^p(\mathcal{L})$) and, by Theorem 1.3.5, we obtain that the space $|O^p(\mathcal{L})|_p^{\wedge}$ is homotopy equivalent to the normal covering space of $|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}$ with covering group $S/\mathfrak{hyp}(\mathcal{F})$.

Let us now look at p-local subgroups of index prime to p. Here, for an infinite group G, we denote by $O^{p'}(G)$ the intersection of all normal subgroups in G of finite index prime to p. For \mathcal{F} a fusion system over a p-group S, let $O^{p'}(\mathcal{F})$ be the fusion system generated by $O^{p'}(\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(P))$ for all $P \leq S$ and define

$$\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}^{0}(P) = \langle \alpha \in \operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}(S) \mid \alpha \in \operatorname{Hom}_{O^{p'}(\mathcal{F})}(P,S), \text{ for some } P \leq S \rangle.$$

Since $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(S)$ normalizes $O^{p'}(\mathcal{F})$, $\operatorname{Out}^{0}_{\mathcal{F}}(S) \trianglelefteq \operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}(S)$.

Proposition 1.3.6 ([5a2], Lemma 3.4 and Proposition 5.2). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group.

- (a) $\mathcal{F} = \langle Aut_{\mathcal{F}}(S), O^{p'}(\mathcal{F}) \rangle.$
- (b) π and the inclusion of $BAut_{\mathcal{F}}(S)$ in $|\mathcal{F}^c|$ induce isomorphisms,

$$\theta: \pi_{\mathcal{L}}/O^{p'}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \pi_1(|\mathcal{F}^c|) \xrightarrow{\cong} Out_{\mathcal{F}}(S)/Out_{\mathcal{F}}^0(S).$$

Proof. The point (a) is proved in [5a2], Lemma 3.4, for (b) as $\pi_1(|\mathcal{F}^c|)$ is a p'-group by [AKO] Theorem I.7.7.(a), the second isomorphism is given in [5a2], Proposition 5.2, and the first one in Theorem 5.5 and the comments which follows .

According to 1.3.4, we will work with centric linking systems.

Theorem 1.3.7 ([5a2], Theorem 5.5). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group with \mathcal{L} a centric linking system.

For each subgroup $H \leq Out_{\mathcal{F}}(S)$ containing $Out_{\mathcal{F}}^0(S)$, there is a unique p-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}_H, \mathcal{L}_H)$ of index prime to p such that $Out_{\mathcal{F}_H}(S) = H$ and $\mathcal{L}_H = \pi^{-1}(\mathcal{F}_H^c)$.

Moreover, $|\mathcal{L}_H|$ is homotopy equivalent, via its inclusion in $|\mathcal{L}|$, to the covering space of $|\mathcal{L}|$ with fundamental group $\widetilde{H} \geq O^{p'}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}})$ such that $\theta(\widetilde{H}/O^{p'}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}})) = H/Out_{\mathcal{F}}^0(S)$ (where θ is the isomorphism of the previous proposition).

Thus, for a *p*-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ we can define the minimal *p*-local subgroup of index prime to p, $(S, O^{p'}(\mathcal{F}), O^{p'}(\mathcal{L}))$ corresponding to $(S, \mathcal{F}_H, \mathcal{L}_H)$ with $H = \operatorname{Out}^0_{\mathcal{F}}(S)$ in the previous theorem.

1.3.2 Homotopy properties of classifying spaces

Definition 1.3.8. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group.

The classifying space of $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ is the *p*-completed nerve $|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}$.

For example if G is a finite group and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ is the *p*-local finite group associated, then $|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge} \simeq BG_p^{\wedge}$.

Theorem 1.3.9 ([AKO], Theorem III.3.2). If G is a finite group and S a Sylow psubgroup of G, then

$$BG_p^{\wedge} \simeq |\mathcal{L}_S^c(G)|_p^{\wedge}$$

Remark 1.3.10. The homotopy equivalence is given by the following,

$$\mathcal{L}_{S}^{c}(G) \xleftarrow{\delta} \mathcal{T}_{S}^{c}(S) \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{S}(G) \xrightarrow{\rho} \mathcal{B}(G)$$

where ρ is the functor which send each object on the unique one in the target and for every $P, Q \leq S$ and $g \in G$, $\rho(g) = g$.

We now list some of the other results on the space $|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}$ which show that it has many homotopy properties of the *p*-completed classifying spaces BG_p^{\wedge} . We first verify that the homotopy type of $|\mathcal{L}|$ does not depend on the choice of the object set.

Theorem 1.3.11 ([5a1], Theorem 3.5). Let \mathcal{F} be a saturated fusion system over a p-group S. Let $\mathcal{L}_0 \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ be two linking systems associated to \mathcal{F} with a different set of objects. Then the inclusion induces a homotopy equivalence of space $|\mathcal{L}_0| \simeq |\mathcal{L}|$.

This theorem helps to motivate the use of the homotopy type of $|\mathcal{L}|$ and $|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}$, and their homotopy properties, as important invariants of the *p*-local finite group we consider. It also allows a certain flexibility when working with geometric realization of linking system.

We now look at mapping spaces. If we take a finite group G, and a *p*-group Q, Mislin has shown that the natural map

$$\operatorname{Rep}(Q,G) = \operatorname{Hom}(Q,G)/\operatorname{Inn}(G) \xrightarrow{\cong} [BQ, BG_p^{\wedge}]$$

is a bijection. We have an analogue for an abstract fusion system using $|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}$ instead of BG_p^{\wedge} . If Q is a finite group and \mathcal{F} is a saturated fusion system over a p-group S, we set,

$$\operatorname{Rep}(Q, \mathcal{F}) = \operatorname{Hom}(Q, S) / \sim,$$

where for $\rho, \sigma \in \text{Hom}(Q, S)$, $\rho \sim \sigma$ if there is $\alpha \in \text{Iso}_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho(Q), \sigma(Q))$ such that $\alpha \circ \rho = \sigma$.

Theorem 1.3.12 ([BLO2], Corollary 4.5). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group.

If Q is a p-group, then the map

$$Rep(Q, \mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\cong} [BQ, |\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}],$$

defined by sending the class of $\rho: Q \longrightarrow S$ to the class of the composite

$$BQ \xrightarrow{B\rho} BS \xrightarrow{incl} |\mathcal{L}| \xrightarrow{\lambda_{|\mathcal{L}|}} |\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}$$

is a bijection.

Another important homotopy property deals with cohomology but we will see it in the next chapter.

Let us finish with a theorem which states that the isomorphism type of a *p*-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ is completely determined by the homotopy type of the space $|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}$.

An isomorphism $(S_1, \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{L}_1) \longrightarrow (S_2, \mathcal{F}_2, \mathcal{L}_2)$ of *p*-local finite groups is a triple

$$S_1 \xrightarrow{\alpha}{\cong} S_2 \qquad \mathcal{F}_1 \xrightarrow{\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}} \mathcal{F}_2 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \mathcal{L}_1 \xrightarrow{\alpha_{\mathcal{L}}} \mathcal{L}_2$$

of isomorphisms of groups and categories, such that $\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(P) = \alpha(P)$ for all $P \leq S_1$, $\alpha_{\mathcal{L}}(P) = \alpha(P)$ for all $P \in Ob(\mathcal{L})$, and such that they commute in the obvious way with the structural functors $\mathcal{L}_i \xrightarrow{\pi_i} \mathcal{F}_i$ and $\mathcal{T}_{Ob(\mathcal{L})}(S) \xrightarrow{\delta_i} \mathcal{L}_i$.

Theorem 1.3.13 ([AKO], Theorem III.4.25). If $(S_1, \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{L}_1)$ and $(S_2, \mathcal{F}_2, \mathcal{L}_2)$ are p-local finite groups, then any homotopy equivalence

$$|\mathcal{L}_1|_p^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\cong} |\mathcal{L}_2|_p^{\wedge}$$

induces an isomorphism

$$(S_1, \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{L}_1) \xrightarrow{\cong} (S_2, \mathcal{F}_2, \mathcal{L}_2)$$

of p-local finite groups.

Cohomology and stable elements

In this chapter, we are interested in the notion of "stable" elements.

After we recall some generalities on group cohomology, we remind the notion of stable elements for a finite group G from Cartan and Eilenberg, their link with the cohomology of G and we translate it in term of projective limit. We also remind the notion of \mathcal{F} stable for a saturated fusion system \mathcal{F} when we work with a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -module. Then, we define the notion of \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements of a p-local finite group with coefficients in a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ module. We end this chapter comparing these three notions in the case of a realizable p-local finite group.

2.1 Group cohomology and δ -functors

Let G be a group (not necessarily finite) and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module. The group cohomology of G with coefficients in M, denoted by $H^*(G, M)$, is the cohomology of the chain complex

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]}(P_{\bullet}, M),$

where P_{\bullet} is a projective resolution of $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ as a trivial $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module. We refer the reader to [CE], [We], [AM] or [Br] for more details about this functor. Here we will use the notion of transfer and the bifunctoriality of group cohomology. We also define the notion of δ -functor and give $H^*(G, -)$ as an example.

Let \mathcal{D} be the category of pairs (G, M) with G a group and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module. A morphism in \mathcal{D} from (G, M) to (H, N) is a pair, (φ, ρ) where $\varphi : G \longrightarrow H$ is a group homomorphism and $\rho : N \longrightarrow M$ is a linear map such that, for every $n \in N$ and every $g \in G, g\rho(n) = \rho(\varphi(g)n)$. Then, we can remark the following.

Proposition 2.1.1.

 $H^*(-,-): \mathcal{D} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Mod

defines a contravariant functor.

For a pair (φ, ρ) from (G, M) to (H, N), the morphism $H^*(\varphi, \rho)$ is induced by the chain map,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[H]}(P^{H}_{\bullet}, N) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]}(P^{G}_{\bullet}, M)$$
$$f \longmapsto \rho \circ f \circ \varphi_{*}$$

where P_{\bullet}^{H} and P_{\bullet}^{G} are projective resolutions of $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ as trivial $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[H]$ -module and $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ module respectively and where φ_{*} is the chain map induced by the identity between the two chain complexes P_{\bullet}^{G} and $\varphi_{\sharp}(P_{\bullet}^{H})$ (Here, for a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[H]$ -module M, $\varphi_{\sharp}M$ is the $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module M where G acts through φ).

For example, for every group inclusion $H \leq G$ and every $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module M, the pair $(\operatorname{incl}_{H}^{G}, \operatorname{Id})$ induce the restriction map

$$\operatorname{Res}_{H}^{G}: H^{*}(G, M) \longrightarrow H^{*}(H, M).$$

Another example is given by conjugation. Let G be a group, H be a subgroup of G and $g \in G$. for every $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module M, the pair (c_g, g^{-1}) induce the conjugation map

$$c_q^*: H^*(gHg^{-1}, M) \longrightarrow H^*(H, M)$$

In that case, if we consider a projective resolution of $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ as a trivial $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module it also defines a projective resolution for H and gHg^{-1} . Then on the chain level, the map c_q^* is given by,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[gHg^{-1}]}(P^{G}_{\bullet}, M) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[H]}(P^{G}_{\bullet}, M)$$
$$f \longmapsto (u \mapsto g^{-1}f(gu))$$

Another important point of view of group cohomology is through the notion of δ -functor.

Definition 2.1.2. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be two abelian categories.

A (contravariant) δ -functor is a functor $F^* : \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}$ together with connecting homomorphisms

$$\delta_F^i: F^i(A) \longrightarrow F^{i+1}(C)$$

defined for every short exact sequence $0 \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow B \longrightarrow C \longrightarrow 0$ in \mathcal{A} , and such that,

(a) for every short exact sequence $0 \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow B \longrightarrow C \longrightarrow 0$ in \mathcal{A} , the long sequence

$$\cdots \longrightarrow F^{i}(C) \longrightarrow F^{i}(B) \longrightarrow F^{i}(A) \xrightarrow{\delta^{i}_{F}} F^{i+1}(C) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

is exact.

(b) For every morphism of short exact sequences in \mathcal{A}

$$\begin{array}{cccc} 0 & \longrightarrow & A & \longrightarrow & B & \longrightarrow & C & \longrightarrow & 0 \\ & & & & & & \downarrow \varphi_{B} & & \downarrow \varphi_{C} \\ 0 & \longrightarrow & A' & \longrightarrow & B' & \longrightarrow & C' & \longrightarrow & 0, \end{array}$$

the following diagram commute for every i,

$$F^{i}(A') \xrightarrow{\delta_{F}^{i}} F^{i+1}(C')$$

$$F^{i}(\varphi_{A}) \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow F^{i+1}(\varphi_{C})$$

$$F^{i}(A) \xrightarrow{\delta_{F}^{i}} F^{i+1}(C).$$

If $(F^*, \delta_F), (G^*, \delta_G) : \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}$ are two δ -functors, a morphism of δ -functors from (F^*, δ_F) to (G^*, δ_G) is a natural transformation η such that, for every short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow B \longrightarrow C \longrightarrow 0$$

We have a commutative diagram,

With the usual composition on natural transformations, we obtain a category. When there is no confusion on the connecting homomorphisms we will just say that F^* is a δ -functor.

Remark 2.1.3. A δ -functor can be seen as a functor from the category $S_{\mathcal{A}}$ of short exact sequences in \mathcal{A} to $Ch(\mathcal{B})$ which sends any short exact sequence to an acyclic chain complex.

If $\eta: F \longrightarrow G$ is a natural transformation then, to show that it is a morphism of δ -functors, it is enough to prove that, for every short exact sequence

 $0 \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow B \longrightarrow C \longrightarrow 0,$

the following diagram is commutative for every i.

$$F^{i}(A) \xrightarrow{\delta_{F}^{i}} F^{i+1}(C)$$

$$\downarrow^{\eta_{A}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\eta_{C}}$$

$$G^{i}(A) \xrightarrow{\delta_{G}^{i}} G^{i+1}(C)$$
One important example of a contravariant δ -functor is the *left derived functor* of an additive and left exact functor. We refer the reader to [We], Chapter 2, where he can find the notion of δ -functor, derived functor and their properties. For a group G, the group cohomology functor $H^*(G, -) : \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -Mod $\longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Mod, with the usual connecting homomorphism $\delta_{H^*(G,-)}$, is the left derived functor of the fixed point functor $M \longmapsto M^G$ and then, it defines a universal δ -functor (by [We], Theorem 2.4.7).

Definition 2.1.4. A (contravariant) δ -functor $(F^*, \delta_F) : \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}$ is universal if, given another δ -functor $(G^*, \delta_G) : \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}$ and a natural transformation $\eta^0 : F^0 \longrightarrow G^0$, there exists a unique morphism of δ -functors $\eta^* : (F^*, \delta_F) \longrightarrow (G^*, \delta_G)$ extending η^0 .

In particular, if for two groups G and H, we have a natural transformation between the functors $(-)^G$ and $(-)^H$, there is a unique morphism of δ -functors from $(H^*(G, -), \delta_{H^*(G, -)})$ to $(H^*(H, -), \delta_{H^*(H, -)})$ which extends this natural transformation.

For G a finite group, H a subgroup of G and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module, restriction and conjugation by an element $g \in G$, defined in degree 0 by

$$\left(\operatorname{Res}_{H}^{G} \right)^{0} : M^{G} \longrightarrow M^{H} \\ x \longmapsto x$$

and

$$c_g^0: \qquad M^{gHg^{-1}} \longrightarrow M^H$$
$$x \longmapsto q^{-1}x$$

give examples of morphisms of δ -functors. Another example is given by the transfer. If G is a group and H is a subgroup of G of finite index, we can define a *transfer map*

 $\operatorname{tr}_H^G: H^*(H, -) \longrightarrow H^*(G, -)$

as the morphism of δ -functors induced by the natural transformation $(-)^H \longrightarrow (-)^G$ given by, for M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module,

$$\begin{array}{ccc} M^H & & & \\ & & & \\ & x \longmapsto & \sum_{g \in [G/H]} gx. \end{array}$$

2.2 Cartan-Eilenberg Theorem

Let us now talk about an important theorem in group cohomology. This theorem, due to Cartan and Eilenberg, expresses the cohomology of a finite group G with coefficients in a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module as the submodule of "stable elements" in the cohomology of a Sylow p-subgroup of G.

Notation 2.2.1. For $H \leq K$ two subgroups of G and $M \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module, we will denote by $\operatorname{Res}_{H}^{K} : H^{*}(K, M) \longrightarrow H^{*}(H, M)$ the morphism induced by the inclusion, and by $\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{K} : H^{*}(H, M) \longrightarrow H^{*}(K, M)$ the transfer homomorphism.

If $H \leq G$ and $g \in G$, we will denote by $c_g^* : H^*(gHg^{-1}, M) \longrightarrow H^*(H, M)$ the morphism induced by c_g .

These morphisms satisfy the following properties.

Proposition 2.2.2 ([CE], Chapter XII, §8). Let G be a finite group and M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module.

We have the following properties.

- (a) For every $g, h \in G$, $c_h^* \circ c_g^* = c_{gh}^*$.
- (b) For every $g \in H$, $c_g^* = Id_{H^*(H,M)}$.
- (c) For every $H \leq K \leq G$ and $g \in G$, $c_g^* \circ \operatorname{Res}_H^K = \operatorname{Res}_{g^{-1}Hg}^{g^{-1}Kg} \circ c_g^*$
- (d) For every $H \leq K \leq G$ and $g \in G$, $c_g^* \circ tr_H^K = tr_{g^{-1}Hg}^{g^{-1}Kg} \circ c_g^*$
- (e) For every $H \leq G$, $tr_H^G \circ Res_H^G = [G:H]Id_{H^*(G,M)}$.
- (f) For every $H \leq G$, $\operatorname{Res}_{H}^{G} \circ \operatorname{tr}_{K}^{G} = \sum_{g \in [H \setminus G/K]} \operatorname{tr}_{H \cap g^{-1}Kg}^{H} \circ \operatorname{Res}_{H \cap g^{-1}Kg}^{g^{-1}Kg} \circ c_{g}^{*}$.

where $[H \setminus G/K]$ denotes the set of all double classes modulo H and K of G.

We define the stable elements as follows.

Definition 2.2.3. Let G be a finite group, S a Sylow p-subgroup of G and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module.

We say that $x \in H^*(S, M)$ is stable if, for every $g \in G$,

$$\operatorname{Res}_{S\cap g^{-1}Sg}^{S}(x) = c_g^* \circ \operatorname{Res}_{gSg^{-1}\cap S}^{S}(x).$$

For example, if S is a normal subgroup of G, $x \in H^*(S, M)$ is stable if, and only if, $x \in H^*(S, M)^G$.

Theorem 2.2.4 (Cartan-Eilenberg). Let G be a finite group, S a Sylow p-subgroup of G and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module.

The morphism $\operatorname{Res}_S^G : H^*(G, M) \longrightarrow H^*(S, M)$ is injective and its image is the sub-module of all the stable elements.

Proof. Let q = [G : S] be the index of S in G. As S is a Sylow p-subgroup of G, q is invertible in $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$. Thus, by Proposition 2.2.2 (d), $\operatorname{tr}_{S}^{G}$ is surjective and $\operatorname{Res}_{S}^{G}$ is injective.

We then have to show that $\operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{Res}_{S}^{G})$ is the set of all the stable elements.

Let $a \in \text{Im}(\text{Res}_S^G)$. There exists $b \in H^*(G, M)$ such that $a = \text{Res}_S^G(b)$. For every $x \in G$, c_x is the identity on $H^*(G, M)$, hence,

$$c_x(a) = c_x \circ \operatorname{Res}_S^G(b)$$

= $\operatorname{Res}_{xSx^{-1}}^G \circ c_x(b)$ (by Proposition 2.2.2 (c))
= $\operatorname{Res}_{xSx^{-1}}^G(b)$.

and in particular,

$$\operatorname{Res}_{S\cap xSx^{-1}}^{xSx^{-1}} \circ c_x(a) = \operatorname{Res}_{S\cap xSx^{-1}}^{xSx^{-1}} \circ \operatorname{Res}_{xSx^{-1}}^G(b)$$
$$= \operatorname{Res}_{S\cap xSx^{-1}}^G(b)$$
$$= \operatorname{Res}_{S\cap xSx^{-1}}^S \circ \operatorname{Res}_S^G(b)$$
$$= \operatorname{Res}_{S\cap xSx^{-1}}^S(a).$$

and a is stable.

Conversely, let $a \in H^*(S, M)$ be a stable element. Recall that, by [CE] Proposition XII.9.2, we have $\sum_{x \in [S \setminus G/S]} [S : S \cap xSx^{-1}] = [G : S]$. By Proposition 2.2.2 (e) and (f), we have

$$\operatorname{Res}_{S}^{G} \circ \operatorname{tr}_{S}^{G}(a) = \sum_{x \in [S \setminus G/S]} [S : S \cap xSx^{-1}]c_{x}^{*}(a) \quad \text{(by Proposition 2.2.2 (e) and (f))}$$
$$= \sum_{x \in [S \setminus G/S]} [S : S \cap xSx^{-1}]a \qquad \text{(because a is stable)}$$
$$= [G : S]a \qquad \text{(by [CE] Proposition XII.9.2)}$$
$$= qa.$$

Then, if l is the inverse of $q \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$,

$$\operatorname{Res}_{S}^{G} \circ \operatorname{tr}_{S}^{G}(la) = a.$$

Thus, $a \in \operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{Res}_{S}^{G})$.

This result can be interpreted as a projective limit.

Lemma 2.2.5. Let C be small category, k a ring and $F : C \longrightarrow k$ -Mod a contravariant functor.

Assume that there exists $x_0 \in Ob(\mathcal{C})$ such that for all $y \in Ob(\mathcal{C})$, there exists $\varphi_y \in Mor_{\mathcal{C}}(y, x_0)$.

Denote E_{stable} the set of $m \in F(x_0)$ such that for all $y \in Ob(\mathcal{C})$ and for all $\psi, \psi' \in Mor_{\mathcal{C}}(y, x_0)$, we have $F(\psi)(m) = F(\psi')(m)$.

Then,

$$E_{stable} \cong \varprojlim_{\mathcal{C}} F.$$

Proof. Let A be a k-module and $(\gamma_x)_{x\in\mathcal{C}}$ be a family of linear applications such that, for $x \in \mathrm{Ob}(\mathcal{C}), \ \gamma_x \in \mathrm{Hom}_{k-\mathrm{Mod}}(A, F(x))$ and such that for all $y, z \in \mathrm{Ob}(\mathcal{C})$ and $\varphi \in \mathrm{Mor}_{\mathcal{C}}(y, z)$, we have the following commutative diagram.



Then, by definition of E_{stable} , for all $y, z \in \text{Ob}(\mathcal{C})$ and all $\psi \in \text{Mor}_{\mathcal{C}}(y, z)$,



where *i* denotes the inclusion $E_{\text{stable}} \subseteq F(x_0)$.

Thus, for every $y \in Ob(\mathcal{C})$, γ_y factors trough E_{stable} along γ_{x_0} . This decomposition is clearly unique.

Remind that $\mathcal{T}_S(G)$ is the category with set of objects all the subgroups of S and for all $P, Q \leq S$, $\operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{T}_S(G)}(P, Q) = T_G(P, Q)$.

Corollary 2.2.6. Let G be a finite group, S a Sylow p-subgroup of G and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module.

Then

$$H^*(G, M) \cong \varprojlim_{\mathcal{T}_S(G)} H^*(-, M).$$

Proof. This is just a consequence of Lemma 2.2.5 with

$$\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{T}_S(G),$$

$$x_0 = S \in \mathcal{T}_S(G),$$

$$\varphi_P = 1 \in T_G(P, S), \text{ for all } P \in \mathcal{F}_S(G),$$

$$F = H^*(-, M) : \mathcal{T}_S(G) \longrightarrow \mathbb{F}_p\text{-Mod}$$

and of Theorem 2.2.4.

Remark 2.2.7. In fact, as P acts trivially on $H^*(P, M)$, we can define our functor $H^*(-, M)$ on the orbit category $\mathcal{O}_S(G)$ with set of objects all the subgroups of S and for $P, Q \leq S$, $\operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{O}_S(G)}(P, Q) = Q \setminus T_G(P, Q)$ and then $H^*(G, M) \cong \lim_{\substack{\longleftrightarrow \\ \mathcal{O}_S(G)}} H^*(-, M)$. This category appears in the subgroup decomposition of BG (see [DwH] for more details).

2.3 Stable elements with trivial coefficients

Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group.

First, we look at a realizable fusion system.

Proposition 2.3.1. Let G be a finite group and S a Sylow p-subgroup of G. If M is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -module, then

$$H^*(G, M) \cong \lim_{\overleftarrow{\mathcal{F}_S(G)}} H^*(-, M).$$

Proof. By Corollary 2.2.6, we have, $H^*(G, M) \cong \lim_{\substack{\tau \in G \\ T_S(G)}} H^*(-, M)$. However, as the action of G on M is trivial, for every $P \leq S$ and every $g \in C_G(P)$, c_g^* is induced by the pair $(g, g^{-1}) = (\operatorname{Id}_{F_G} \operatorname{Id}_{F_G})$ and then $g^* = \operatorname{Id}_{F_G} (g, g)$. Hence, as for every $P \in G \leq S$.

the pair $(c_g, g^{-1}) = (\mathrm{Id}_P, \mathrm{Id}_M)$ and then $c_g^* = \mathrm{Id}_{H^*(P,M)}$. Hence, as, for every $P, Q \leq S$, Hom_{\mathcal{F}} $(P,Q) = T_G(P,Q)/C_G(P)$, the cohomology functor



factors through $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$.

We have then the following corollary.

Corollary 2.3.2. Let G_1, G_2 be two finite groups and S_1 , resp. S_2 , a Sylow p-subgroup of G_1 , resp. G_2 .

If $\mathcal{F}_{S_1}(G_1) = \mathcal{F}_{S_2}(G_2)$, then, for every $M \in \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Mod,

$$H^*(G_1, M) \cong H^*(G_2, M).$$

In other words, for M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -module $H^*(G, M)$ is completely determined by $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$.

If we consider a *p*-local finite group (or even just a fusion system), we can define the more generally notion of \mathcal{F} -stable elements.

Definition 2.3.3. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -module.

An element $x \in H^*(S, M)$ is called \mathcal{F} -stable if for all $P \in Ob(\mathcal{F})$ and all $\varphi \in Hom_{\mathcal{F}}(P, S)$,

$$\varphi^*(x) = \operatorname{Res}_P^S(x).$$

We denote by $H^*(\mathcal{F}, M) \leq H^*(S, M)$ the submodule of all \mathcal{F} -stable elements.

By lemma 2.2.5, this submodule of \mathcal{F} -stable elements corresponds to the inverse limit of $H^*(-, M)$ on the category \mathcal{F}

$$H^*(\mathcal{F}, M) = \lim_{\stackrel{\longleftarrow}{\mathcal{F}}} H^*(-, M).$$

It is easily a homotopy invariant of p-local finite groups and Broto, Levi and Oliver have shown the following results.

Theorem 2.3.4. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and M an abelian p-group. The natural homomorphisms

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|_p^\wedge, M) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(\mathcal{F}, M)$$

induced by $\lambda_{|\mathcal{L}|}$ and the inclusion of BS in $|\mathcal{L}|$, are isomorphisms.

Proof. The case $M = \mathbb{F}_p$ have been proved in [BLO2], Theorem 8.1, and the general case can be found in [5a2], Lemma 6.12.

Let us finish with a remark on the set of objects we consider which can be useful for computations.

Proposition 2.3.5. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ a p-local finite group.

Let $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}'$ be two families of subgroups of S containing S and all the \mathcal{F} -essential subgroups.

If k is a ring and $F: \mathcal{F} \longrightarrow k$ -Mod a contravariant functor, then

$$\lim_{\overleftarrow{\mathcal{F}}^{\mathcal{H}'}} F = \lim_{\overleftarrow{\mathcal{F}}^{\mathcal{H}}} F$$

Proof. The modules $\lim_{\substack{\leftarrow \\ \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{H}'}}} F$ and $\lim_{\substack{\leftarrow \\ \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{H}}}} F$ can be seen as submodules of F(S). As $\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{H}} \subseteq \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{H}'}$ we have the inclusion $\lim_{\substack{\leftarrow \\ \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{H}'}}} F \subseteq \lim_{\substack{\leftarrow \\ \mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{H}}}} F$. The opposite inclusion is given by Alperin's Fusion Theorem (Theorem 1.1.9).

In particular, we obtain that, for every $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -module M,

$$H^*(\mathcal{F}, M) = \lim_{\overleftarrow{\mathcal{F}^c}} H^*(-, M)$$

This last term will be of interest when we will work with twisted coefficients.

Even better, if we denote by \mathcal{F}^{ess} the full subcategory of \mathcal{F} with set of objects the set of S and all the \mathcal{F} -essential subgroups of S, a direct corollary of Proposition 2.3.5 is that for every family \mathcal{H} containing $Ob(\mathcal{F}^{\text{ess}})$, then, for every functor F,

$$\lim_{\overleftarrow{\mathcal{F}}^{\mathcal{H}}} F = \lim_{\overleftarrow{\mathcal{F}}^{\mathrm{ess}}} F.$$

2.4 Stable elements with an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$

When we work with coefficients twisted by an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$, we cannot define our cohomology functor on all \mathcal{F} . In fact, if we take a morphism φ in \mathcal{F} between two subgroups which are not \mathcal{F} -centric, by Alperin's Fusion Theorem (Theorem 1.1.9), we can see it as a composite of restrictions of morphisms in \mathcal{F}^c . However, this decomposition is not, in general, unique and two different decompositions can lead to different morphisms in twisted cohomology. As an easy example, we can look at the trivial group $\{e\}$: each morphism in \mathcal{F}^c restricts to the identity on $\{e\}$, but, if M is not a trivial $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module, every $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mor}(\mathcal{F}^c)$ does not act trivially on $M = M^{\{e\}} = H^0(\{e\}, M)$.

Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module. Remark first that M is naturally a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[S]$ -module where the action is given by the following composition:

$$\mathcal{B}(S) = \mathcal{B}(\operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{T}_{S}^{c}(S)}(S,S)) \xrightarrow{\delta_{S}} \mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{\omega} \mathcal{B}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}}) .$$

Hence, we can consider, for $P \leq S$, the cohomology of P with coefficients in M.

As we work with an action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$, we can easily define a functor on \mathcal{L} using the bifunctoriality of group cohomology (see section 2.1) and the functor $\omega : \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}})$ which sends each objects of \mathcal{L} to the unique one in $\mathcal{B}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}})$ and, for $P, Q \leq S$, sends $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q)$ to the path $\iota_Q.\varphi.\overline{\iota_P}$ (see appendix 2 for more details).

$$H^{*}(-, M) : \qquad \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{(p)} \operatorname{-Mod}$$
$$P \in \operatorname{Ob}(\mathcal{L}) \longmapsto H^{*}(P, M)$$
$$\varphi \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(P, Q) \longmapsto H^{*}(\varphi, M) = \varphi^{*}$$
$$:= H^{*}(\pi(\varphi), \omega(\varphi)^{-1})$$

For P, Q two subgroups of S and $\varphi \in Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P, Q)$, $H^*(\varphi, M)$ can be also defined on the chain level as follows:

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[Q]}(R_{\bullet}, M) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[P]}(R_{\bullet}, M)$$
$$f \longmapsto (\omega(\varphi)^{-1}f \circ \pi(\varphi)_{*})$$

where (R_{\bullet}) is a projective resolution of the trivial $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[S]$ -module $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$. Finally, it can also be defined as the morphism between the two derived functors of $(-)^Q$ and $(-)^P$ induced by

$$x \in M^Q \longmapsto \omega(\varphi)^{-1} x \in M^P$$

By construction, this functor extend naturally the group cohomology functor defined on $\mathcal{T}_{S}^{c}(S)$.



In particular, for every $P \leq S$ and $g \in P$, $H^*(\delta_P(g), M) = c_q^*$.

Remark 2.4.1. By construction, for all $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q)$, $H^*(\varphi,-)$ defines a morphism of δ -functors from $(H^*(Q, -), \delta_{H^*(Q, -)})$ to $(H^*(P, -), \delta_{H^*(P, -)})$.

Proposition 2.4.2. Let $\varphi, \beta \in Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q)$ with $P, Q \in \mathcal{L}$. If $\pi(\varphi) = \pi(\beta)$ then $H^*(\varphi, M) = H^*(\beta, M)$.

Proof. If $\pi(\varphi) = \pi(\beta)$, then there exists $u \in Z(P)$ such that $\varphi = \beta \circ \delta_P(u)$ and thus

$$H^*(\varphi, M) = H^*(\delta_P(u), M) \circ H^*(\beta, M).$$

However $H^*(\delta_P(u), M) = H^*(\pi(\delta_P(u)), \omega(u)^{-1}) = H^*(c_u, \omega(u)^{-1})$ is the automorphism of $H^*(P, M)$ induced by the conjugation by u, and, as $u \in Z(P) \leq P$, from Proposition 2.2.2, this is the identity. Ŵ

In particular, if $\pi(\varphi) = \operatorname{incl}_P^Q$, then $H^*(\varphi, M) = H^*(\iota_P^Q, M) = H^*(\operatorname{incl}_P^Q, \operatorname{Id}_M) = \operatorname{Res}_P^Q$. For M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module $P, Q \leq S$ two \mathcal{F} -centric subgroups and $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q)$ we will also denote by $H^*(\varphi, M) = \varphi^* := H^*(\psi, M)$ where $\psi \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(P, Q)$ is such that $\pi(\psi) = \varphi$. Hence, we can factor our functor through \mathcal{F}^c and we can define the \mathcal{F} -centric stable elements.

Definition 2.4.3. An element $x \in H^*(S, M)$ is called \mathcal{F} -centric stable, or just \mathcal{F}^c -stable, if for all $P \in Ob(\mathcal{F}^c)$ and all $\varphi \in Hom_{\mathcal{F}}(P, S)$,

$$\varphi^*(x) = \operatorname{Res}_P^S(x).$$

We denote by $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) \subseteq H^*(S, M)$ the submodule of all \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements.

By lemma 2.2.5, this submodule of \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements corresponds to the inverse limit of $H^*(-, M)$ on the category \mathcal{F}^c ,

$$H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) = \lim_{\stackrel{\leftarrow}{\mathcal{F}^c}} H^*(-, M).$$

Let us finish with a computation of the stable elements in degree 0.

Lemma 2.4.4. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module. We have the following equality,

$$M^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}} = \lim_{\stackrel{\leftarrow}{\mathcal{L}}} H^0(-, M) = H^0(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

Proof. We identify $\lim H^0(-, M)$ with the submodule of $x \in M^S = H^0(S, M)$ such that for all $P \in Ob(\mathcal{L})$ and all $\varphi, \psi \in Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P, S), \varphi^*(x) = \psi^*(x).$

As for all $P, Q \in Ob(\mathcal{L})$ and all $\varphi \in Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P, Q)$, the induced morphism φ^* is given in degree 0, by, $x \in M^Q \mapsto \omega(\varphi) x \in M^P$, we get the first inclusion $M^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}} \subseteq \lim_{\leftarrow} H^0(-, M)$.

Conversely, as $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ is generated by $\{\omega(\gamma); \gamma \in \operatorname{Mor}(\mathcal{L})\}\$ (by Proposition 2.5), it is enough to show that for every $\gamma \in \mathcal{L}$ and $x \in \lim_{\mathcal{L}} H^0(-, M), \, \omega(\gamma)x = x$. Consider then $P, Q \in Ob(\mathcal{L}), \gamma \in Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P, Q)$ and the following diagram (which is not commutative in general).



As $x \in \lim_{L} H^0(-, M) \leq M^S$, we obtain $\gamma^* \circ \delta_Q^S(1)^*(x) = \delta_P^S(1)^*(x)$. Thus, as for every $x \in M^S$ we have $\delta_Q^S(1)^*(x) = x = \delta_P^S(1)^*(x)$, we have $\omega(\gamma)x = \gamma^*(x) = x$.

2.5 Realizable fusion systems and stable elements

Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group.

Assume here that there is a finite group G containing S as a Sylow *p*-subgroup and such that $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}_S(G)$. We can wonder what is the link between the cohomology of Gand the \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements. For example, by Proposition 2.3.1, we know that, for every $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -module M, the inclusion of S in G induces an isomorphism between $H^*(G, M)$ and $H^*(\mathcal{F}, M)$, and, by Proposition 2.3.5, this last one corresponds also to $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$. But what happens when we consider a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module ?

First of all, there is not always an obvious link between G and $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ and then, we cannot give to M a natural structure of $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module. But we can consider here that we have the following commutative diagram



where $\pi_{\mathcal{T}} = \pi_1(|\mathcal{T}_S^c(G)|)$, and $\rho: \mathcal{T}_S^c(G) \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}(G)$ is the functor which sends, for every $P, Q \in Ob(\mathcal{T}_S^c(G)), g \in \mathcal{T}_G(P,Q)$ to $g \in Mor(o_G)$. In general, $H^*(G,M)$ will be smaller than $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$. In fact, we can identify

$$H^*(G, M) \cong \varprojlim_{\mathcal{T}_S(G)} H^*(-, M)$$

and,

$$H^*(\mathcal{F}^c_S(G), M) \cong \varprojlim_{\mathcal{T}^c_S(G)} H^*(-, M).$$

Hence, the inclusion of S in G induces an injective map $H^*(G, M) \subseteq H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$. These inverse limits can also be translated in terms of inverse limits other the orbit categories $\mathcal{O}_S(G)$ and $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{F}^c)$ respectively. A lot of techniques have been developed to compute limits, and higher limits, over orbit categories (see for example [AKO], Section III.3.5). Grodal also studies these questions in [Gr] and gives some answers defining the notion of M-centric-radical subgroups.

Definition 2.5.1. Let G be a finite group, M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module and $K \leq G$ be the kernel of the action of G on M.

A proper p-subgroup P is call M-centric if $Z(P) \cap K$ is a Sylow p-subgroup of $C_G(P) \cap K$. If moreover, $O_p(N_G(P)/(P(C_G(P) \cap K))) = 1$, then P is called M-centric-radical.

For example, if the action of G on M is trivial (i.e. K = G), P is M-centric-radical if, and only if, P is p-centric and a radical p-subgroup. On the other hand, if K = 1, P is M-centric-radical if and only if P is a radical p-subgroup of G.

Theorem 2.5.2 ([Gr], Corollary 10.4). Let G be a finite group, S a Sylow p-subgroup of G and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module.

Let \mathcal{H} be a family of subgroup of S containing S and all the subgroups which are radical and M-centric-radical.

Then, for every $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module M, the inclusion of S in G induce a natural isomorphism,

$$H^*(G, M) \cong \lim_{\substack{\leftarrow \\ \mathcal{T}_S^{\mathcal{H}}(G)}} H^*(-, M).$$

Hence, we have a condition under which the cohomology of G is isomorphic to the \mathcal{F}^{c} -stable elements.

Theorem 2.5.3. Let G be a finite group, S be a Sylow p-subgroup of G and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be the associated p-local finite group. Let also M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module.

Assume we have the following commutative diagram



and that every M-centric-radical subgroup is p-centric. Then, the inclusion of S in G induces a natural isomorphism,

$$H^*(G, M) \cong \varprojlim_{\mathcal{T}^c_S(G)} H^*(-, M) = H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

Idempotents problems

An important result in Broto, Levi and Oliver [BLO2], and a crucial tool in the proof of Theorem 2.3.4, is the existence of an \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset which leads to an idempotent of $H^*(S, \mathbb{F}_p)$ with image $H^*(\mathcal{F}, \mathbb{F}_p)$. Unfortunately things are more complicated when we work with twisted coefficients.

In this chapter, after we recall few things on left-free bisets and how it works with trivial coefficients, we point out what is the problem when we consider twisted coefficients. We then construct, under some hypothesis, an idempotent from an \mathcal{F} -characteristic bisets when we work with any coefficients. We also look at the case of constrained fusion systems where everything true in the non twisted case can be extended. We finally show that the image of this idempotent is a δ -functor.

3.1 Left-free (G, H)-bisets

Let G, H be two finite groups.

Transitive (G, H)-bisets (here, G acts on the left and H on the right) are isomorphic to bisets of the form $(G \times H)/K$ for K a subgroup of $G \times H$. We can then use the Goursat Lemma to describe all these subgroups. Here, we are just interested in isomorphic classes of (G, H)-bisets where the action of G is free. In this setting, the classes of transitive left-free (G, H)-bisets are given by pairs (K, φ) , where K is a subgroup of Gand $\varphi \in \text{Hom}(K, H)$ a group homomorphism.

Notation 3.1.1. For all (K, φ) , with K a subgroup of G and $\varphi \in \text{Hom}(K, H)$ a group homomorphism, we write

$$\Delta(K,\varphi) = \{(k,\varphi(k)) ; k \in K\} \le G \times H.$$

For a (G, H)-pair (K, φ) , the set $\{K, \varphi\} := (G \times H)/\Delta(K, \varphi)$ defines a (G, H)-biset and the isomorphic class of this biset is determined by the conjugacy class of $\Delta(K, \varphi)$ and we will denote by $[K, \varphi]$ this class.

We can also define a category \mathcal{B} , often called the *Burnside category*, where the objects are the finite groups and, for all finite groups G and H, $\mathcal{B}(G, H)$ is the set of isomorphic classes of (G, H)-bisets. The composition is given by the following construction.

Definition 3.1.2. Let G, H and K be finite groups, $\Omega \in (G, H)$ -biset and $\Lambda \in (H, K)$ -biset. We define,

$$\Omega \circ \Lambda = \Omega \times_H \Lambda = \Omega \times \Lambda / \sim$$

where, for all $x \in \Omega$, $y \in \Lambda$ and $h \in H$, $(x, h.y) \sim (x.h, y)$.

This construction is compatible with isomorphisms, and then \mathcal{B} , endowed with the induced composition law, defines a category.

As we work with left-free bisets, we consider the subcategory $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}$ where the objects are the same but we restrict the morphisms to isomorphic classes of left-free bisets. This gives us a category and the composition follows from the next lemma.

Lemma 3.1.3. Let G, H and K be finite groups.

Let $[K, \varphi] \in \mathcal{A}(G, H)$ and $[L, \psi] \in \mathcal{A}(H, K)$. Then.

$$[K,\varphi] \circ [L,\psi] = \coprod_{x \in \varphi(K) \setminus H/L} [\varphi^{-1}(\varphi(K) \cap xLx^{-1}), \psi \circ c_{x^{-1}} \circ \varphi]$$

3.2 \mathcal{F} -characteristic bisets and trivial coefficients

Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group.

When we work with trivial coefficients, the idea is to consider the category $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}$ where the objects are the subgroups of S and for P and Q two subgroups of S, $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q)$ is the set of isomorphic classes of \mathcal{F} -generated left-free (P,Q)-bisets, i.e. the (P,Q)-bisets union of transitive bisets of the form $[R,\varphi]$ with $R \leq P$ and $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(R,Q)$.

Then, for $M \neq \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -module, we construct a functor

$$M: \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$$
-Mod

defined on objects by $M(P) = H^*(P, M)$ for every $P \leq S$ and on morphisms as follow. For every $P, Q \leq S, R \leq P$ and $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P, Q), (P[R, \varphi]_Q)_* = \operatorname{tr}_R^P \circ \varphi^*$ and, more generally, we define Ω_* , for every \mathcal{F} -generated left-free (P, Q)-biset Ω , by sum of its transitive components.

The existence of this functor will help us to construct an idempotent of $H^*(S, M)$ with image $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$. For that, we also need the notion of \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset.

Definition 3.2.1. Let Ω be a left-free (S, S)-biset.

- (a) We say that Ω is \mathcal{F} -generated if it is the union of (S, S)-bisets of the form $[P, \varphi]$ with $P \in \mathrm{Ob}(\mathcal{F})$ and $\varphi \in \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P, S)$.
- (b) We say that Ω is *left-F-stable* if for all $P \in Ob(\mathcal{F})$ and $\varphi \in Hom_{\mathcal{F}}(P,S)$, we have ${}_{\varphi}\Omega_{S} \cong {}_{P}\Omega_{S}$, i.e.

$$\left({}_{P}[P,\varphi]_{S}\right)\circ\left[\Omega\right]=\left({}_{P}[P,\operatorname{incl}_{P}^{S}]_{S}\right)\circ\left[\Omega\right]$$

(c) We say that Ω is right- \mathcal{F} -stable if for all $P \in Ob(\mathcal{F})$ and $\varphi \in Hom_{\mathcal{F}}(P,S)$, we have ${}_{S}\Omega_{\varphi} \cong {}_{S}\Omega_{P}$, i.e.

$$[\Omega] \circ \left({}_{S}[\varphi(P), \varphi^{-1}]_{P}\right) = [\Omega] \circ \left({}_{S}[P, \operatorname{incl}_{P}^{S}]_{P}\right).$$

(d) We say that Ω is non degenerate if $|\Omega|/|S| \neq 0$ modulo p.

If Ω satisfies all this four properties, we say that Ω is an \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset.

The notion of \mathcal{F} -characteristic biset was first motivated by work of Linckelmann and Webb. They are the one who first formulated these conditions and recognized the importance of finding a biset with these properties. Broto, Levi and Oliver proved that such a biset always exists if the fusion system is saturated.

Proposition 3.2.2 ([BLO2], Proposition 5.5). Let \mathcal{F} be a fusion system over a p-group S.

If \mathcal{F} is saturated, then there exists an \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset.

We can also mention that Ragnarsson and Stancu proved ([RS], Theorem A) that a fusion system \mathcal{F} is saturated if, and only if, there exists an \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset.

Now, as in [BLO2], Proposition 5.5, we can show that this biset induces, for M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -module, an idempotent of $H^*(S, M)$ with image $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

Proposition 3.2.3. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -module (with a trivial action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$).

If Ω is an \mathcal{F} -characteristic biset, then $\frac{|S|}{|\Omega|}\Omega_* \in End(H^*(S, M))$ defines an idempotent with image $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

Proof. We will show that Im $(\Omega_*) \subseteq H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$ and that $\Omega|_{H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)} = \mathrm{Id}_{H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)}$.

Let us start with the second point. If $x \in H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$, for all $P \in Ob(\mathcal{F}^c)$ and every $\varphi \in Hom_{\mathcal{F}}(P, S)$,

$$[P,\varphi]_*(x) = \operatorname{tr}_P^S \circ \varphi^*(x) = \operatorname{tr}_P^S \circ \operatorname{Res}_P^S(x) = [S:P]x = \frac{|[P,\varphi]|}{|S|}x.$$

Thus, $\frac{|S|}{|\Omega|}\Omega_*(x) = x.$

The first point uses the \mathcal{F} -stability of Ω (Definition 3.2.1). For all $x \in H^*(S, M)$, $P \in \mathcal{F}$ and every $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P, S)$,

$$\varphi^* \circ \Omega_*(x) = (P[P,\varphi]_S)_* \circ (S\Omega_S)_*(x) = (P[P,\varphi]_S \circ S\Omega_S)_*$$
$$= (P[P, \operatorname{incl}_P^S]_S \circ S\Omega_S)_*(x)$$
$$= \operatorname{Res}_P^S \circ \Omega_*(x).$$

Hence the image of $\frac{|S|}{|\Omega|}\Omega_*$ is included in $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

3.3 Bisets and twisted coefficients

Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group

When we work with twisted coefficients, we have to be more careful. We cannot define, as in the trivial case, a functor from $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}$ to $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Mod.

In fact, for $M \ a \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module, our cohomological functor $H^*(-, M)$ cannot be defined on \mathcal{F} but only on \mathcal{F}^c and thus, we can only consider \mathcal{F}^c -generated bisets, i.e. bisets union of transitive bisets of the form $[R, \varphi]$ with $R \in \mathrm{Ob}(\mathcal{F}^c)$ and $\varphi \in \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(R, Q)$.

Definition 3.3.1. Let P, Q be two \mathcal{F} -centric subgroups of S.

A left-free (P, Q)-biset is \mathcal{F}^c -generated, if it is an union of transitive bisets of the form $[R, \varphi]$ with $R \in Ob(\mathcal{F}^c)$ and $\varphi \in Hom_{\mathcal{F}}(R, Q)$.

Unfortunately, by Lemma 3.1.3, we can see that the set of isomorphic classes of \mathcal{F}^{c} generated bisets is, in general, not stable by composition. Hence, we can not, by analogy
with $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}$, define a category $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}^{c}}$ where the objects are the \mathcal{F} -centric subgroups of S and,
for P and Q two \mathcal{F} -centric subgroups of S, $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}^{c}}(P,Q)$ is the set of isomorphic classes of \mathcal{F}^{c} generated left-free (P,Q)-bisets.

Nevertheless, we have still a map from the set $A_{\mathcal{F}^c}(P,Q)$ of isomorphic classes of \mathcal{F}^c generated left-free (P,Q)-bisets to $\operatorname{Hom}(H^*(P,M), H^*(Q,M))$ for all $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module Mand $P, Q \leq S$.

For $P, Q, R \in \mathcal{F}^c$ with $R \leq Q$ and $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(R, P)$, we can associate to the (P, Q)-pair $\{R, \varphi\}$ a morphism

$$\{R,\varphi\}_* = \operatorname{tr}^Q_R \circ \varphi^* : H^*(P,M) \longrightarrow H^*(Q,M).$$

If we take another (P, Q)-biset $\{R', \varphi'\}$ isomorphic to $\{R, \varphi\}$ (this implies that R' is also \mathcal{F} -centric), we obtain the same morphism by Proposition 2.2.2. Indeed, let $\{R, \varphi\}$ and $\{R', \varphi'\}$ be two isomorphic (P, Q)-bisets. Then, there exists $g \in P$ and $h \in Q$ such that $(g, h)\Delta(R, \varphi)(g, h)^{-1} = \Delta(R', \varphi')$.

$$(g,h)\Delta(R,\varphi)(g,h)^{-1} = \{ (g.kg^{-1},h.\varphi(k).h^{-1}) ; k \in R \}$$

= $\{ (k,c_h \circ \varphi \circ c_{g^{-1}}(k)) ; k \in gRg^{-1} \}$

Hence, $R' = gRg^{-1}$, $\varphi' = c_h \circ \varphi \circ c_{g^{-1}}$ and,

$$\{R', \varphi'\}_* = \operatorname{tr}_{R'}^Q \circ \varphi'^*$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{hRh^{-1}}^Q \circ c_h^* \circ \varphi^* \circ c_{g^{-1}}^*$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{hRh^{-1}}^Q \circ c_h^* \circ \varphi^* \qquad \text{(because } g \in P \text{ and by } 2.2.2\text{)}$$

$$= c_h^* \circ \operatorname{tr}_R^Q \circ \varphi^* \qquad \text{(by } 2.2.2\text{)}$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_R^Q \circ \varphi^* \qquad \text{(because } h \in Q \text{ and by } 2.2.2\text{)}$$

$$= \{R, \varphi\}_*.$$

Thus we can set $[R, \varphi]_*$ as the composite $\operatorname{tr}_R^Q \circ \varphi^*$ and it is well-defined. We finally define Ω_* , for all left-free \mathcal{F}^c -generated (P, Q)-biset Ω , by the sum of its transitive components.

Remark 3.3.2. By Remark 2.4.1, for $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mor}(\mathcal{F}^c)$, $\varphi^* = H^*(\varphi, -)$ is a morphism of δ -functors. Hence, as Ω_* is a sum of composites of transfers, restrictions and φ^* , for $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mor}(\mathcal{F}^c)$, which are all morphisms of δ -functors, it is a morphism of δ -functors.

3.4 Idempotents and twisted coefficients

In general, an \mathcal{F} -characteristic biset is not \mathcal{F}^c -generated.

Example 3.4.1. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be the *p*-local of $S = D_8$ in A_6 . The lattice of subgroups of S has the following form.



The fusion is generated by the inner automorphisms of S, α an automorphism of V of order 3 which permutes Q_1, Q_2 and Z, and the analogue $\beta \in \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(V')$. The minimal \mathcal{F} -characteristic biset is given by the following decomposition,

$$[D_8, \mathrm{Id}] \sqcup [V, \alpha] \sqcup [V', \beta] \sqcup [Q_1, \beta^{-1} \circ \alpha] \sqcup [Q'_1, \alpha^{-1} \circ \beta].$$

Here, the subgroups Q_1 and Q'_1 are not \mathcal{F} -centric and every \mathcal{F} -characteristic biset contains this minimal \mathcal{F} -characteristic biset.

Hence, when we work with twisted coefficients we cannot use the same biset or, at least, not directly. In fact, we will use it indirectly with the following hypothesis.

Hypothesis (A). Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group.

There exists an \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset Ω such that $\Omega = \Omega_1 \circ \Omega_2 \circ \cdots \circ \Omega_n$, where, for all i, Ω_i is an \mathcal{F}^c -generate (S, S)-biset.

This is for example the case for the *p*-local finite group of D_8 in A_6 , if Ω is the minimal \mathcal{F} -characteristic biset and Ω^c the \mathcal{F}^c -generate part of Ω . Then, by Lemma 3.1.3, we get that $(\Omega^c)^4 = \Omega^2$. Hence, as Ω^2 is also \mathcal{F} -characteristic, it satisfies Hypothesis (A).

Hypothesis (A) seems reasonable but we do not know yet how to prove it. But we can make the following conjecture.

Conjecture 3.4.2. Hypothesis (A) is always true.

From now, we will use \mathcal{F} -characteristic bisets satisfying Hypothesis (A). Let us define the notion of Ω -endomorphism of $H^*(S, M)$ for $M \neq \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module. This notion is more artificial than really deep, we introduce it to get a better presentation of our propositions and theorems.

Definition 3.4.3. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group. Let Ω be a \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset satisfying Hypothesis (A) and write $\Omega = \Omega_1 \circ \Omega_2 \circ \cdots \circ \Omega_n$ a decomposition of Ω in \mathcal{F}^c -generated bisets.

For $M \neq \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module, $\omega_* = \frac{|S|}{|\Omega|} (\Omega_1)_* \circ \cdots \circ (\Omega_n)_* \in \operatorname{End}(H^*(S, M))$ is called a Ω -endomorphism.

Remark 3.4.4. If the action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ on M is trivial, then $\omega_* = \frac{|S|}{|\Omega|} \Omega_*$ and, by Proposition 3.2.3, is an idempotent with image $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

If we assume Hypothesis (A), we can define for every finite $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module M, an idempotent of $H^*(S, M)$ using an Ω -endomorphism. But first let us look at the behavior of endomorphisms induced by \mathcal{F}^c -generated (S, S)-bisets with \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements.

Lemma 3.4.5. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module.

If Ω is an \mathcal{F}^c -generated (S, S)-biset, then the endomorphism $\Omega_* \in End(H^*(S, M))$ restricted to $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$ is the multiplication by $\frac{|\Omega|}{|S|}$.

In particular, if Ω is non degenerate, the image of $\Omega_* \in End(H^*(S, M))$ contains $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

Proof. If $x \in H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$, for all $P \in Ob(\mathcal{F}^c)$ and $\varphi \in Hom_{\mathcal{F}}(P, S)$,

$$[P,\varphi]_*(x) = \operatorname{tr}_P^S \circ \varphi^*(x) = \operatorname{tr}_P^S \circ \operatorname{Res}_P^S(x) = [S:P]x = \frac{|[P,\varphi]|}{|S|}x.$$

Hence, as Ω is \mathcal{F}^c -generated, $\Omega_*(x) = \frac{|\Omega|}{|S|}x$.

Remark that, when we work with \mathcal{F} -generate (S, S)-bisets, they are left-free and rightfree (morphisms in a fusion system are injective homomorphisms). Thus, if Ω is a non degenerate \mathcal{F} -generated (S, S)-bisets, and $\Omega = \Omega_1 \circ \Omega_2$ with Ω_1 and Ω_2 other \mathcal{F} -generate (S, S)-bisets, then

$$|\Omega| = \frac{|\Omega_1| \times |\Omega_2|}{|S|}$$

and Ω_1 and Ω_2 are also non degenerate. Hence, by Lemma 3.4.5, we have the following corollary.

Corollary 3.4.6. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module.

If Ω is an \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset satisfying Hypothesis (A), and ω_* is an Ω endomorphism of $H^*(S, M)$, then, the image of ω_* contains $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

Remark 3.4.7. Remark also that, by construction and Remark 3.3.2, ω_* is a morphism of δ -functors.

Proposition 3.4.8. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and let M be an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$. Let Ω be an \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset satisfying Hypothesis (A) and ω_* an Ω -endomorphism.

For every $k \ge 0$, there is a natural number $N_{k,M} > 0$ such that, $(\omega_k)^{N_{k,M}}$ defines an idempotent $\overline{\omega}_{k,M}$ of $H^k(S,M)$ and we have

$$H^k(\mathcal{F}^c, M) \subseteq Im(\overline{\omega}_{k,M}).$$

Proof. To simplify the notations, we write $\omega = \omega_k$. For any $k \ge 0$, we have the following decreasing family of subgroups of $H^k(S, M)$.

$$H^{k}(\mathcal{F}^{c}, M) \subseteq \cdots \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(\omega^{r}) \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(\omega^{r-1}) \subseteq \cdots \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(\omega^{1}) \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(\omega^{0}) = H^{k}(S, M).$$

As $H^k(S, M)$ is a finite abelian *p*-group, this sequence stabilizes and then, there is an $n_0 \geq 1$ such that for all $n \geq n_0$, $\operatorname{Im}(\omega^n) = \operatorname{Im}(\omega^{n_0})$. In particular, $\omega^{n_0}|_{\operatorname{Im}(\omega^{n_0})}$ is a permutation of the finite set $\operatorname{Im}(\omega^{n_0})$ and there is an *l* such that $(\omega^{n_0}|_{\operatorname{Im}(\omega^{n_0})})^l = \operatorname{Id}_{\operatorname{Im}(\omega^{n_0})}$. Thus, for $N_{k,M} = l \times n_0$, the endomorphism $\overline{\omega}_{k,M} = \omega^{N_{k,M}} \in \operatorname{End}(H^k(S,M))$ is an idempotent with image $\operatorname{Im}(\omega^{n_0}) \supseteq H^k(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

Hence, we can define an idempotent of $H^*(S, M)$ as following. For every $k \ge 0$ and every $x \in H^k(S, M)$,

$$\overline{\omega}_{k,M}(x) = (\omega_k)^{\prod_{i=0}^k N_{i,M}}(x)$$

Besides, this definition only depends on the Ω -endomorphism ω_* .

Definition 3.4.9. For Ω an \mathcal{F}^c -characteristic (S, S)-biset satisfying Hypothesis (A) and ω an Ω -endomorphism, the idempotent $\overline{\omega}_{*,-}$ of $H^*(S,-)$ obtained by this process is called the \mathcal{F}^c -characteristic idempotent associated to ω . We will also, for any abelian *p*-group M with an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$, denote by $I^*_{\omega}(M) \subseteq H^*(S, M)$ the image of $\overline{\omega}_{*,M}$.

Remark 3.4.10. Remark that, by Remark 3.4.4, if the action on M is trivial, then $I^*_{\omega}(M) = H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

Proposition 3.4.11. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group.

If Ω is an \mathcal{F}^c -characteristic (S, S)-biset satisfying Hypothesis (A) and ω_* is an Ω endomorphism, then $\overline{\omega}_{*,-}$, the \mathcal{F}^c -characteristic idempotent induced by ω_* , defines an endomorphism of the δ -functor $(H^*(S,-), \delta_{H^*(S,-)})$.

Proof. For M an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ and $k \geq 0$, we denote by $N_{k,M}$ a natural number as in Proposition 3.4.8.

We have first to show that $\overline{\omega}_{*,-}$, the \mathcal{F}^c -characteristic idempotent associated to ω_* , defines a natural transformation from the functor $H^*(S,-)$ to itself. For every pair of abelian *p*-groups (M, N) with an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ and every $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]}(M, N)$, let us consider, for $k \geq 0$, the following diagram,

$$\begin{array}{c} H^{k}(S,M) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Id}} H^{k}(S,M) \xrightarrow{\varphi_{k}} H^{k}(S,N) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Id}} H^{k}(S,N) \\ \overline{\omega}_{k,M} \downarrow & \widetilde{\omega}_{k,M,N} \downarrow & \downarrow \overline{\omega}_{k,M} \\ H^{k}(S,M) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Id}} H^{k}(S,M) \xrightarrow{\varphi_{k}} H^{k}(S,N) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Id}} H^{k}(S,N) \end{array}$$

where $\tilde{\omega}_{k,M,N} = (\omega_k)^{\prod_{i=0}^k N_{i,M} \times \prod_{i=0}^k N_{i,N}}$. The middle square commutes as $\tilde{\omega}_{k,M,N}$ is a finite iteration of ω_k and ω_* is an endomorphism of δ -functors by Remark 3.4.7. The first square commutes because, as $\overline{\omega}_{k,M}$ is an idempotent of $H^k(S, M)$, $\tilde{\omega}_{k,M,N} = \overline{\omega}_{k,M}^{\prod_{i=0}^k N_{i,N}} = \overline{\omega}_{k,M}$. Finally, the last one commutes because, as $\overline{\omega}_{k,N}$ is an idempotent of $H^k(S, M)$, $\tilde{\omega}_{k,M,N} = \overline{\omega}_{k,M}^{\prod_{i=0}^k N_{i,N}} = \overline{\omega}_{k,N}$. Finally, the last one commutes because, as $\overline{\omega}_{k,N}$ is an idempotent of $H^k(S, N)$, $\tilde{\omega}_{k,M,N} = \overline{\omega}_{k,N}^{\prod_{i=0}^k N_{i,N}} = \overline{\omega}_{k,N}$. Hence, the exterior diagram commutes.

Now, to show that it defines a morphism of δ -functors, let consider a short exact sequence of abelian *p*-groups with an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}, 0 \longrightarrow L \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow 0$. By

the previous argument we just have to show that, for $k \ge 0$, the following diagram commutes,

where $\delta = \delta_{H^*(S,-)}$ corresponds to the connecting homomorphism. Consider then the following diagram,

$$\begin{array}{c} H^{k}(S,M) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Id}} H^{k}(S,M) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{k+1}(S,L) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Id}} H^{k+1}(S,L) \\ \overline{\omega}_{k,M} \downarrow & \widetilde{\omega}_{k,L,M} \downarrow & \downarrow \\ H^{k}(S,M) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Id}} H^{k}(S,M) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{k+1}(S,L) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Id}} H^{k+1}(S,L) \end{array}$$

where

$$\tilde{\omega}_{k,L,M} = (\overline{\omega}_k)^{\prod_{i=0}^{k+1} N_{i,L} \times \prod_{i=0}^{k+1} N_{i,N}}$$

and

$$\tilde{\omega}_{k+1,L,M} = (\overline{\omega}_{k+1})^{\prod_{i=0}^{k+1} N_{i,L} \times \prod_{i=0}^{k+1} N_{i,N}}$$

The middle square commutes as $\tilde{\omega}_{k,L,M}$ and $\tilde{\omega}_{k+1,L,M}$ are finite iterations of $\overline{\omega}_k$ and $\overline{\omega}_{k+1}$ and $\overline{\omega}_*$ is an endomorphism of δ -functors by Remark 3.4.7. The first square commutes because, as $\overline{\omega}_{k,M}$ is an idempotent of $H^k(S, M)$, $\tilde{\omega}_{k,L,M} = \overline{\omega}_{k,M}^{N_{k+1,M} \times \prod_{i=0}^{k+1} N_{i,L}} = \overline{\omega}_{k,M}$. The last one commutes because, as $\overline{\omega}_{k,L}$ is an idempotent of $H^k(S, L)$, $\tilde{\omega}_{k+1,L,M} = \overline{\omega}_{k+1,L}^{N_{k+1,M} \times \prod_{i=0}^{k+1} N_{i,M}} = \overline{\omega}_{k+1,L}$. Thus, the exterior diagram commutes.

3.5 Idempotents and constrained fusion systems

When we work with a constrained fusion system, the (S, S)-characteristic biset is \mathcal{F}^{c} generated and, working with a suitable category, it induces, for every $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module M, an idempotent of $H^*(S, M)$ with image $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$. Let us first recall the notion of constrained fusion systems.

Definition 3.5.1. Let \mathcal{F} be a fusion system over a *p*-group *S*.

A subgroup $Q \leq S$ is normal in \mathcal{F} if $Q \leq S$, and for all $P, R \leq S$ and every $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P, R)$, φ extends to a morphism $\overline{\varphi} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(PQ, RQ)$ such that $\overline{\varphi}(Q) = Q$.

We write $O_p(\mathcal{F})$ for the maximal subgroup of S which is normal in \mathcal{F} .

We say that \mathcal{F} is constrained if $O_p(\mathcal{F})$ is \mathcal{F} -centric.

Define, for \mathcal{F} a fusion system over a *p*-group *S* and P_0 a subgroup of *S*, $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \geq P_0}$ as follow.

 $Ob(\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \ge P_0}) = \{P_0 \le P \le S\}$ is the set of all subgroups of S containing P_0

and for all $P, Q \in Ob(\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \geq P_0})$,

 $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \geq P_0}(P,Q) = \{\mathcal{F}\text{-generated left-free } (P,Q)\text{-bisets union of } [R,\varphi] \text{ with } R \geq P_0\}.$

 $A_{\mathcal{F}\geq P_0}$ is not in general a subcategory of $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}$. The problem comes from Proposition 3.1.3: the set

$$\operatorname{Mor}(\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \ge P_0}) = \bigsqcup_{P,Q \in \operatorname{Ob}(\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \ge P_0})} \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \ge P_0}(P,Q)$$

is not stable by composition. But it is stable when the subgroup $P_0 \leq S$ is strongly closed in \mathcal{F} , i.e. no elements of P_0 is \mathcal{F} -conjugate to an elements of $S \setminus P$.

Lemma 3.5.2. Let \mathcal{F} be a fusion system over a p-group S.

If $P_0 \leq S$ is strongly closed in \mathcal{F} , then $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \geq P_0}$, with the composition defined in 3.1.2, is a subcategory of $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}$.

Proof. As P_0 is strongly closed in \mathcal{F} , for every $R, P \geq P_0$, every $s \in S$ and every $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(R, S)$,

$$\varphi^{-1}(\varphi(R) \cap sPs^{-1}) \ge \varphi^{-1}(\varphi(P_0) \cap sP_0s^{-1}) = P_0.$$

thus, by Proposition 3.1.3, $\operatorname{Mor}(\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \geq P_0})$ is stable by composition and $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \geq P_0}$ defines a subcategory of $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}$.

In particular, for $P_0 = O_p(\mathcal{F})$, which is normal in \mathcal{F} and, thus, strongly closed in \mathcal{F} , $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \geq O_p(\mathcal{F})}$ is a subcategory of $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}$.

When \mathcal{F} is constrained, $O_p(\mathcal{F})$ is \mathcal{F} -centric. Thus, every biset $\Omega \in \operatorname{Mor}(\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \geq O_p(\mathcal{F})})$ is \mathcal{F}^c -generated. Hence, if \mathcal{F} is constrained, for every $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module M, we have, as in the trivial case, a functor

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \ge O_p(\mathcal{F})} \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{(p)} \operatorname{-Mod}$$
$$P \longmapsto H^*(P, M)$$
$$_P[R, \varphi]_Q \longmapsto \operatorname{tr}_R^P \circ \varphi^*$$

Moreover, if we look at the minimal \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset, we have the following.

Proposition 3.5.3. Let \mathcal{F} be a saturated fusion system over a p-group S. If Ω is the minimal \mathcal{F} -characteristic biset, then $\Omega \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \ge O_p(\mathcal{F})}$.

Proof. This is a direct corollary of [GRh], Proposition 9.11. Indeed, by [GRh], Proposition 9.11, every $[P, \varphi]$ which appears in the decomposition of Ω satisfy $P \geq O_p(\mathcal{F})$.

Hence, using the same argument as for Proposition 3.2.3, we have the following theorem.

Theorem 3.5.4. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group, Ω be the minimal \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset and M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module.

If \mathcal{F} is constrained, then $\frac{|S|}{|\Omega|}\Omega_* \in End(H^*(S, M))$ is an idempotent with image the \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

Proof. The proof is the same as the proof of Proposition 3.2.3. We will show that $\operatorname{Im}(\Omega_*) \subseteq H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$ and that $\Omega|_{H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)} = \operatorname{Id}_{H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)}$.

Let us start with the second point. If $x \in H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$, for all $P \in Ob(\mathcal{F}^c)$ and every $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P, S)$,

$$[P,\varphi]_*(x) = \operatorname{tr}_P^S \circ \varphi^*(x) = \operatorname{tr}_P^S \circ \operatorname{Res}_P^S(x) = [S:P]x = \frac{|[P,\varphi]|}{|S|}x.$$

Thus, $\frac{|S|}{|\Omega|}\Omega_*(x) = x.$

The first point uses the \mathcal{F} -stability of Ω (Definition 3.2.1). By [AKO] Proposition I.4.5, every \mathcal{F} -centric \mathcal{F} -radical subgroup of S contains $O_p(\mathcal{F})$. Then, for all $x \in H^*(S, M)$, $P \in \mathrm{Ob}(\mathcal{F}^{cr})$ and every $\varphi \in \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P, S)$, $_P[P, \varphi]_S \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F} \geq P_0}$ and

$$\varphi^* \circ \Omega_*(x) = (P[P,\varphi]_S)_* \circ (S\Omega_S)_*(x) = (P[P,\varphi]_S \circ S\Omega_S)_*$$
$$= (P[P,\operatorname{incl}_P^S]_S \circ S\Omega_S)_*(x)$$
$$= \operatorname{Res}_P^S \circ \Omega_*(x).$$

Hence, by Proposition 2.3.5, the image of $\frac{|S|}{|\Omega|}\Omega_*$ is included in $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

3.6 A δ -functor

Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group, Ω be an \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)-biset which satisfy (A), and ω_* an Ω -endomorphism.

For M an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$, let $\overline{\omega}_{*,-} \in \text{End}(H^*(S, M))$ be the associated \mathcal{F}^c -characteristic idempotent.

Let us start with the behavior of δ -functors with idempotents. We refer the reader to Definition 2.1.2 for the definition of δ -functors and we recall that, by Remark 2.1.3, a δ -functor can be seen as a functor from the category $S_{\mathcal{A}}$ of short exact sequences in \mathcal{A} to Ch(\mathcal{B}) which sends any short exact sequence to an acyclic chain complex.

Lemma 3.6.1. Let $(M_*, f_*) = \left(\cdots \xrightarrow{f_{l-2}} M_{l-1} \xrightarrow{f_{l-1}} M_l \xrightarrow{f_l} M_{l+1} \xrightarrow{f_{l+1}} \cdots \right)_{l \in \mathbb{Z}}$ be a long exact sequence in an abelian category \mathcal{A} .

Let $i_* : (M_*, f_*) \to (M_*, f_*)$ be a morphism of long exact sequences such that, for all $l \in \mathbb{Z}$, i_l is an idempotent of M_l .

Then the sequence

$$\cdots \xrightarrow{f_{l-2}} Im(i_{l-1}) \xrightarrow{f_{l-1}} Im(i_l) \xrightarrow{f_l} Im(i_{l+1}) \xrightarrow{f_{l+1}} \cdots$$

is exact.

Proof. Let $l \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \text{Im}(i_l)$ such that $f_l(x) = 0$. By exactness of (M_*, f_*) in l, there is a $y \in M_{l-1}$ such that $f_{l-1}(y) = x$. Thus $x = i_l(x) = i_l \circ f_{l-1}(y) = f_{l-1} \circ i_{l-1}(y)$ and hence we obtain the exactness of $(\text{Im}(i_*), f_*)$ in degree l.

Proposition 3.6.2. Let \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} be abelian categories and let $(F^*, \delta_F) : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a δ -functor.

If $i^*: (F^*, \delta_F) \to (F^*, \delta_F)$ is an idempotent of δ -functors, then $(Im(i^*), \delta_F)$ defines a δ -functor.

Proof. By remark 2.1.3, a δ -functor can be seen as a functor from the category $S_{\mathcal{A}}$ of short exact sequences in \mathcal{A} to $Ch(\mathcal{B})$ which sends any short exact sequence to an acyclic chain complex. A morphism of δ -functors is then a natural transformation in that setting. With this point of view, this is just a corollary of Lemma 3.6.1.

Theorem 3.6.3. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group, Ω an \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)biset satisfying Hypothesis (A) and ω_* an Ω -endomorphism. Then, the functor $I^*_{\omega}(-)$, with the connecting homomorphism $\delta_{H^*(S,-)}$, defines a δ -functor from the category of finite $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -modules to $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Mod.

Proof. This is a direct corollary of Proposition 3.4.11 and Proposition 3.6.2. \clubsuit

The cohomology of classifying spaces of fusion systems

We apply here Theorem 3.6.3 to the study of the cohomology of the classifying space of a fusion system. We first look at the behavior of twisted cohomology after p-completion.

4.1 Cohomology of *p*-good spaces

Here, for X a topological space,

$$\lambda_X : X \to X_p^{\wedge}$$

will denote the natural transformation associated to the *p*-completion.

Lemma 4.1.1. Let X be a space and let $0 \to L \to M \to N \to 0$ be a short exact sequence of $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_1(X_p^{\wedge})]$ -modules.

If λ_X induces isomorphisms $H^*(X_p^{\wedge}, L) \cong H^*(X, L)$ and $H^*(X_p^{\wedge}, N) \cong H^*(X, N)$, then λ_X induces an isomorphism

$$H^*(X, M) \cong H^*(X_p^{\wedge}, M).$$

Proof. Let consider the exact sequences in cohomology induced by the short exact sequence,

$$0 \longrightarrow L \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow N \longrightarrow 0$$

and look at the following commutative diagram,

$$\cdots \longrightarrow H^{n-1}(X_p^{\wedge}, N) \longrightarrow H^n(X_p^{\wedge}, L) \longrightarrow H^n(X_p^{\wedge}, M) \longrightarrow H^n(X_p^{\wedge}, N) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

$$\lambda_X^* \downarrow \qquad \lambda_X^* \downarrow$$

The two lines are exact and λ_X^* gives the isomorphisms $H^*(X_p^{\wedge}, L) \cong H^*(X, L)$ and $H^*(X_p^{\wedge}, N) \cong H^*(X, N)$. We then conclude with the five lemma.

Proposition 4.1.2. Let X be a space and M be an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_1(X_p^{\wedge}).$ If X is p-good, then λ_X induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(X_n^{\wedge}, M) \cong H^*(X, M).$$

Proof. As X is p-good, λ_X induces an isomorphism, $H^*(X_p^{\wedge}, \mathbb{F}_p) \cong H^*(X, \mathbb{F}_p)$. and, by Proposition 0.10, $\pi_1(X_p^{\wedge})$ is a p-group quotient of $\pi_1(X)$. In particular, the action of $\pi_1(X_p^{\wedge})$ on M is nilpotent: there is a sequence

$$\{0\} = M_0 \subseteq M_1 \subseteq \dots \subseteq M_n = M$$

such that, for any $1 \leq i \leq n$, $M_i/M_{i-1} \cong \mathbb{F}_p$ is the trivial module. We conclude then by induction on n, by Lemma 4.1.1. Ŕ

Corollary 4.1.3. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group. If M is an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge})$, $\lambda_{|\mathcal{L}|}$ induces an isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}, M) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M)$$

Proof. As $|\mathcal{L}|$ is p-good by Theorem 1.3.1, we can apply Proposition 4.1.2.

4.2 Cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ with nilpotent coefficients

Lemma 4.2.1. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group. The natural inclusion δ_S of $\mathcal{B}(S)$ in \mathcal{L} induces, for any $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module M, a natural morphism in cohomology

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \longrightarrow H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) \subseteq H^*(S, M).$$

Proof. For $P \in Ob(\mathcal{F}^c)$ and $\varphi \in Hom_{\mathcal{F}}(P,S)$, let $\widetilde{\varphi} \in Mor_{\mathcal{L}}(P,\varphi(P))$ be such that $\pi(\widetilde{\varphi}) = \varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P, \varphi(P))$. From the definition 1.2.1 of a linking system, for every $g \in P$, we have the following commutative diagram in \mathcal{L} .



Thus, we have a natural transformation between the functors δ_P and $\delta_{\varphi(P)} \circ \mathcal{B}(\varphi)$.



Hence, by Proposition 2.2, the maps $|\delta_P|$ and $|\delta_{\varphi(P)} \circ \mathcal{B}(\varphi)| = |\delta_{\varphi(P)}| \circ |\mathcal{B}(\varphi)|$ are homotopic. In particular, the following diagram commute



and the lemma follows.

Lemma 4.2.2. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group, Ω be an \mathcal{F} -characteristic (S, S)biset satisfying Hypothesis (A) and ω_* an Ω -endomorphism. Let also $0 \to L \to M \to N \to 0$ be a short exact sequence of finite $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -modules.

If δ_S induces the following isomorphisms, $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, L) \cong I^*_{\omega}(L)$ and $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, N) \cong I^*_{\omega}(N)$, then δ_S induces an isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong I^*_{\omega}(M).$$

Proof. Consider the exact sequences in cohomology induced by the short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow L \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow N \longrightarrow 0$$

and look at the following diagram (where $\overline{\omega}_{*,-}$ denotes the \mathcal{F} -characteristic idempotent associated to ω_*).

$$\cdots \longrightarrow H^{n-1}(|\mathcal{L}|, N) \longrightarrow H^n(|\mathcal{L}|, L) \longrightarrow H^n(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \longrightarrow H^n(|\mathcal{L}|, N) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\overline{\omega}_{n-1,N} \circ \delta_S^* \downarrow \qquad \overline{\omega}_{n,L} \circ \delta_S^* \downarrow \qquad \overline{\omega}_{n,M} \circ \delta_S^* \downarrow \qquad \overline{\omega}_{n,N} \circ \delta_S^* \downarrow \qquad \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow I_{\omega}^{n-1}(N) \longrightarrow I_{\omega}^n(L) \longrightarrow I_{\omega}^n(M) \longrightarrow I_{\omega}^n(N) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

As $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, -)$ is a δ -functor and, by Theorem 3.6.3, I^*_{ω} defines also a δ -functor, the two lines are exact and, as by Proposition 3.4.11 the \mathcal{F}^c -characteristic idempotent associated to ω_* defines a morphism of δ -functors, this diagram is commutative. We conclude then with the five lemma.

Theorem 4.2.3. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group.

Assume Hypothesis (A) is satisfied. If M is an abelian p-group with a nilpotent action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$,

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

Proof. As the action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ is nilpotent, there is a sequence

$$0 = M_0 \subseteq M_1 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq M_n = M$$

such that, for every $1 \leq i \leq n$, the action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ on M_i/M_{i-1} is trivial. We know, by Theorem 2.3.4 and Remark 3.4.10, that for $1 \leq i \leq n$, δ_S induces an isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M_i/M_{i-1}) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M_i/M_{i-1}) = I^*_{\omega}(M_i/M_{i-1}).$$

By induction on n and, by Lemma 4.2.2, we get that $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong I^*_{\omega}(M)$. Finally we also have from Lemma 4.2.1 that

$$\delta_S(H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M)) \subseteq H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) \subseteq I^*_{\omega}(M).$$

Then $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) = I^*_{\Omega}(M).$

Corollary 4.2.4. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group.

Assume Hypothesis (A) is satisfied.

If M is an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge})$, then $\lambda_{|\mathcal{L}|} \circ \delta_S^*$ induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge}, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$$

Proof. By Theorem 1.3.1, $|\mathcal{L}|$ is *p*-good. Then $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|_p^{\wedge})$ is a *p*-group (by Proposition 0.10) and its action on M is nilpotent. Hence, this is just a corollary of Theorem 4.2.3 and 4.1.3.

Cohomology with coefficients twisted by a *p*-solvable action

In this chapter we are interested in the study of p-solvable actions. We first look at p-local subgroups of index prime to p which allows us to study the case of action factoring through a p'-group. In a second section, we start by studying constrained fusion systems and we finish by realizable p-local finite groups and p-solvable action.

5.1 Extension by a p'-group

In this section, we study the case of p'-actions on the coefficients. The main ingredient here is the use of p-local subgroups of index prime to p.

5.1.1 The minimal p-local subgroup of index prime to p

Recall that, for an infinite group G, we denote by $O^{p'}(G)$ the intersection of all normal subgroups in G of finite index prime to p.

Lemma 5.1.1. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and $(S, O^{p'}(\mathcal{F}), O^{p'}(\mathcal{L}))$ its minimal p-local subgroup of index prime to p.

If M is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module, then the inclusion $O^{p'}(\mathcal{L}) \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ induces the following isomorphism,

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(|O^{p'}(\mathcal{L})|, M)^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}/O^{p'}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}})}.$$

Proof. As $|O^{p'}(\mathcal{L})|$ is, up to homotopy, a covering space of $|\mathcal{L}|$ with fundamental group $O^{p'}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}}) \leq \pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ (Theorem 1.3.6 and Theorem 1.3.7), this is just a consequence of the transfer.

Lemma 5.1.2. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and $(S, O^{p'}(\mathcal{F}), O^{p'}(\mathcal{L}))$ its minimal p-local subgroup of index prime to p.

If M is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module, then

$$H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) \cong H^*(O^{p'}(\mathcal{F})^c, M)^{Aut_{\mathcal{F}}(S)/Aut_{O^{p'}(\mathcal{F})}(S)}.$$

Proof. By Proposition 1.3.6, we have $\mathcal{F} = \langle O^{p'}(\mathcal{F}), \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(S) \rangle$ and $\operatorname{Ob}(O^{p'}(\mathcal{F})^c) = \operatorname{Ob}(\mathcal{F}^c)$. The result follows as an easy consequence.

Theorem 5.1.3. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and $(S, O^{p'}(\mathcal{F}), O^{p'}(\mathcal{L}))$ its minimal p-local subgroup of index prime to p.

If M is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module and if the inclusion δ_S induces an isomorphism

 $H^*(|O^{p'}(\mathcal{L})|, M) \cong H^*(O^{p'}(\mathcal{F})^c, M),$

then δ_S induces an isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

Proof. We have the following commutative diagram (recall that $\pi_{O^{p'}(\mathcal{L})} = O^{p'}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}})$).



The projection $\pi: \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}$ induces, by Proposition 1.3.6 and Theorem 1.3.7, an isomorphism

$$\pi_{\mathcal{L}}/O^{p'}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}}) \cong \pi_1(|\mathcal{F}|)/\pi_1(|O^{p'}(\mathcal{F})|)$$

which is naturally isomorphic to $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(S)/\operatorname{Aut}_{O^{p'}(\mathcal{F})}(S)$. Then, by the two previous lemmas, we obtain

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(|O^{p'}(\mathcal{L})|, M)^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}/O^{p'}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}})}$$
$$\cong \left(\lim_{\substack{\longleftarrow \\ O^{p'}(\mathcal{F})^c}} H^*(-, M)\right)^{\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(S)/\operatorname{Aut}_{O^{p'}(\mathcal{F})}(S)}$$
$$\cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

For the second isomorphism, we have to be careful on the actions of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ on the left and $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(S)$ on the right. In fact here, by Definition 3.2.1 of \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements, we can see it on the chain level. The map $\delta_S^* : H^*(|O^{p'}(\mathcal{L})|, M) \longrightarrow H^*(S, M)$ is induced by the inclusion $\delta_S : BS \longrightarrow |O^{p'}(\mathcal{L})|$, which gives on the chain level,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[S]}\left(C_{*}\left(|\widetilde{O^{p'}(\mathcal{L})}|\right), M\right) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{O^{p'}(\mathcal{L})}]}(C_{*}(|\mathcal{E}(S)|), M)$$
$$f \longmapsto f|_{C_{*}(|\mathcal{E}(S)|)}$$

where $\mathcal{E}(S)$ is defined as in the proof of Proposition 2.4, i.e. the category with set of object S and for each $(s, s') \in S$, $\operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{E}(S)}(s, s') = \{\varphi_{s,s'}\}$. Then for $\varphi \in \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{S}}(\mathcal{F})$, if we choose a lift $\widetilde{\varphi} \in \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{L}}(S)$, acts on the left by

$$f \longmapsto \omega(\widetilde{\varphi}^{-1}) f \omega(\widetilde{\varphi}) ,$$

and on the right by,

 $f\longmapsto \omega(\widetilde{\varphi})^{-1}f\circ \varphi^*$.

Finally, the action of φ on $\mathcal{E}(S)$ corresponds to the action of $\omega(\varphi)$ on $|\mathcal{E}(S)|$ (indeed, a lift of $\omega(\varphi)$ join every vertex $s \in S$ of $|\mathcal{E}(S)|$ to the vertex $\varphi(s)$). Hence, the two actions coincide.

Corollary 5.1.4. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and M an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$.

If the action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ on M factors through a p'-group then δ_S induces an isomorphism,

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

Corollary 5.1.5. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and M an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$.

Assume that hypothesis (A) is satisfied.

If the action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ on M factors through an extension of a p-group by p'-group then δ_S induces an isomorphism,

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

5.1.2 Remarks on actions factoring through a p'-group

Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group.

According to Corollary 5.1.4, the cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ with coefficients in an abelian p-group with an action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ factoring through a p'-group can be computed by stable elements. That condition appears if, and only if, the action of S on the coefficients is trivial.

Proposition 5.1.6. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module.

The action of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ on M factors through a p'-group if, and only if, the action of S on M is trivial.

Proof. We look at the normal subgroup H of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ generated by $\delta_S(S)$ and we want to show that $H \geq O^{p'}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}})$ (the other inclusion is clear). Consider the homomorphism $\pi_* : \pi_{\mathcal{L}} \to \pi_1(|\mathcal{F}^c|)$ induced by $\pi : \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}^c$. We know that π_* is surjective with kernel $O^{p'}(\pi_{\mathcal{L}})$ (Proposition 1.3.6). Hence π_* factors through $p : \pi_{\mathcal{L}}/H \to \pi_1(|\mathcal{F}^c|)$. Let construct the inverse $s : \pi_1(|\mathcal{F}^c|) \to \pi_{\mathcal{L}}/H$ on the generators by the following way: for $\alpha \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{F}^c}(P,Q)$ we write $s(\theta(\alpha)) = \omega(\widetilde{\alpha})$ where $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q)$ is such that $\pi(\widetilde{\alpha}) = \alpha$ and $\theta : \mathcal{F} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}(\pi_{\mathcal{F}})$ is the natural functor (defined in 2.5). The application s is welldefined (because the difference between two elements sent by π on $\alpha \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{F}^c}(P,Q)$ is in $C_S(P) \leq S$) and defines a group homomorphism $(\widetilde{\alpha_1} \circ \widetilde{\alpha_2} = \widetilde{\alpha_1} \circ \alpha_2)$ which is the inverse of p.

5.2 Constrained fusion systems and coefficients with a *p*-solvable action

We studied here the case of p-local finite groups associated to constrained fusion systems. We also give some more refine results about realizable p-local finite groups when the action factor trough a p-solvable group.

5.2.1 Constrained fusion systems

Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group. Here, we assume that \mathcal{F} is a constrained fusion system (see definition 3.5.1). An important and classical result about constrained fusion system is the existence of a *model* (See [AKO] for more details).

Theorem 5.2.1. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group. If \mathcal{F} is constrained, there exists a finite group G such that

- (a) S is a Sylow subgroup of G,
- (b) $C_G(O_p(G)) \leq O_p(G)$,
- (c) $\mathcal{F}_S(G) = \mathcal{F}$.

This group G is called a *model* of \mathcal{F} and is unique in a precise way (see [AKO], Theorem I.4.9, for more details). From now let G be a model of \mathcal{F} .

Let us now study the homotopy type of $|\mathcal{L}|$. For that purpose we introduce $\mathcal{H} = \{P \in \mathrm{Ob}(\mathcal{L}) \mid P \geq O_p(G)\}$ and $\mathcal{L}^{\mathcal{H}}$ the full subcategory of \mathcal{L} with set of objects \mathcal{H} .

Lemma 5.2.2. The CW complex $|\mathcal{L}^{\mathcal{H}}|$ is a classifying space of G.

Proof. The functor

$$F: \qquad \mathcal{L}^{\mathcal{H}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}^{\{O_p(G)\}} \\ P \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathcal{H}} \longmapsto O_p(G) \\ g \in T_G(P, Q) \longmapsto g \in N_G(O_p(G)) = G$$

gives us a retraction by deformation of $|\mathcal{L}^{\mathcal{H}}|$ on the geometric realization of the full subcategory of \mathcal{L} with unique object $O_p(G) \leq S$. As $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{L}}(O_p(G)) = N_G(O_p(G)) = G$, this last category is $\mathcal{B}(G)$. in particular, its geometric realization is a classifying space of G.

When the fusion system is constrained, we always have a retraction by deformation from $|\mathcal{L}|$ to $|\mathcal{L}^{\mathcal{H}}|$.

Proposition 5.2.3. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group.

If \mathcal{F} is constrained and G is a model of \mathcal{F} , then $|\mathcal{L}|$ is a classifying space of G.

Proof. As $O_p(G) \leq G$, the functor

$$F: \qquad \begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{L} & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{L}^{\mathcal{H}} \\ P \in \mathcal{L} & \longmapsto & PO_p(G) \in \mathcal{L}^{\mathcal{H}} \\ g \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q) & \longmapsto & \overline{g} \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(PO_p(G), QO_p(G)) \end{array}$$

where \overline{g} is the unique extension of $g \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(P,Q)$ in $\operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{L}}(PO_p(G), QO_p(G))$ (see [AKO], Proposition III.4.3), is well-defined and induces a retraction by deformation of $|\mathcal{L}|$ on $|\mathcal{L}^{\mathcal{H}}|$. We conclude with Lemma 5.2.2. Ŕ

The fundamental group of $|\mathcal{L}|$ is isomorphic to G and, in particular, every $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ module is naturally a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module. The problem is now to compare the cohomology of G, a model of \mathcal{F} , and the \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements.

Proposition 5.2.4. Let G be a finite group and S a Sylow p-subgroup of G.

If $C_G(O_p(G)) \leq O_p(G)$, then, for a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[G]$ -module M, the inclusion of S in G induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(G, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_S^c(G), M).$$

Proof. We consider here the p-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L}) = (S, \mathcal{F}_S(G), \mathcal{L}_S^c(G))$. By assumption, $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$ is constrained and G is a model of $\mathcal{F}_S(G)$. Hence $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$ is well-defined. We know that $Res_S^G: H^*(G, M) \longrightarrow H^*(S, M)$ is injective and we can easily see that $\operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{Res}_{S}^{G}) \leq H^{*}(\mathcal{F}^{c}, M)$. From Cartan-Eilenberg Theorem (Theorem 2.2.4) we know that $\operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{Res}_S^G) = \lim_{\leftarrow} H^*(-, M)$. Consider then $x \in H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) =$ $\lim_{T_{S}(G)} H^{*}(-,M) = \lim_{\mathcal{T}_{S}(G)} H^{*}(-,M), P \leq S \text{ and } g \in N_{G}(P). \text{ In } \mathcal{T}_{S}(G) \text{ we have the}$

 $\mathcal{F}_{S}^{c}(G)$

following commutative diagram

where e is the trivial element of G. Hence, as the above part of the diagram is in $T_S^c(G)$ and $x \in \lim H^*(-, M)$, $\mathcal{T}_{S}^{c}(G)$

$$c_g^* \circ \operatorname{Res}_{gPg^{-1}}^S(x) = \operatorname{Res}_P^{PO^p(G)} \circ c_g^* \circ \operatorname{Res}_{gPg^{-1}O_p(G)}^S(x) = \operatorname{Res}_P^{PO^p(G)} \circ \operatorname{Res}_{PO_p(G)}^S(x) = \operatorname{Res}_P^S(x).$$

Ŵ

Thus $x \in \lim_{\mathcal{T}_{S}^{c}(G)} H^{*}(-, M) = \lim_{\mathcal{F}_{S}^{c}(G)} H^{*}(-, M).$

Corollary 5.2.5. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group.

If \mathcal{F} is constrained and M is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module, then δ_S induces a natural isomorphism,

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

5.2.2 Realizable fusion systems and *p*-solvable actions

Consider here a finite group G, S a Sylow p-subgroup of G and let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be the associated p-local finite group. In that setting, working with $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -modules with a natural action of G, we can compare the cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ and the cohomology of G when the action factor through a p-solvable group. The key is the use of p-local subgroups of index p or prime to p.

We will denote by

$$\rho: \mathcal{T}_S(G) \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}(G)$$

the functor which sends each object in the source to the unique one in the target and sends, for every $P, Q \leq S, g \in T_G(P, Q)$ to $g \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{B}(G)}(o_G)$.

Finally, let $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_S^c(G)$ be the centric transporter category of G, $\mathcal{L}^q = \mathcal{L}_S^q(G)$ be the quasicentric linking system associated to G and $\mathcal{T}^q = \mathcal{T}_S^q(G)$ be the associated quasicentric transporter category.

Lemma 5.2.6. Let G be a finite group and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be the associated p-local finite group with \mathcal{L} a linking system which is not necessarily centric. Let $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_S^{Ob(\mathcal{L})}(G)$ be the transporter category associated to G with set of objects $Ob(\mathcal{L})$.

If M is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module, then the canonical functor $\delta : \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{L}$ induces a natural isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{T}|, M) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M)$.

Proof. This is a consequence of [BLO1], Lemma 1.3, with $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{T}$, $\mathcal{C}' = \mathcal{L}$ and the functor $T : \mathcal{L}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -Mod which sends each object on M, and each morphism on its action on M. Then δ induces a natural isomorphism $\lim_{t \to \infty} {}^*(M) \cong \lim_{t \to \infty} {}^*(M)$. Then

$$H^*(|\mathcal{T}|, M) = \lim_{\leftarrow \tau} {}^*(M) \cong \lim_{\leftarrow {\mathcal{L}}} {}^*(M) = H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M)$$

Where the first and last equality is just an interpretation in terms of functor cohomology and can be found in [LR], Proposition 3.9.

Theorem 5.2.7. Let G be a finite group, S a Sylow p-subgroup of G, $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_S^c(G)$ and $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_S^c(G)$. Let M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module and assume we have the following commutative diagram.



If ρ_* is surjective and $\Gamma = Im(\varphi) = Im(\overline{\varphi})$ is p-solvable, then δ and ρ induce natural isomorphisms

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{T}|, M) \cong H^*(G, M).$$

Proof. By Lemma 5.2.6, we just have to show that ρ induces a natural isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{T}|, M) \cong H^*(G, M)$. We prove this by induction on the minimal number n of extensions by p-groups or p'-groups we need to obtained Γ .

If n = 0, $\Gamma = 1$ and the action of $\pi_{\mathcal{T}}$ on M is trivial then it is just Theorem 2.3.4.

Assume that, if Γ is obtained by *n* extensions, the result is true and suppose that Γ is obtained with n + 1 extensions. Consider then the last one

$$0 \to \Gamma_n \to \Gamma \to Q \to 0.$$

Denote $H = \overline{\varphi}_*^{-1}(\Gamma_n)$. Thus $(T, \mathcal{F}_H, \mathcal{L}_H) = (S \cap H, \mathcal{F}_{S \cap H}(H), \mathcal{L}_{S \cap H}^c(H))$ is a *p*-local subgroup of $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ of index a power of *p* or prime to *p*.

If Q is a p'-group:

In that case, $(T, \mathcal{F}_H, \mathcal{L}_H)$ is a *p*-local finite subgroup of index prime to *p* (defined in 1.3.4). Then $\operatorname{Ob}(\mathcal{F}^c) = \operatorname{Ob}(\mathcal{F}^c_H)$, $\mathcal{T}_H = \mathcal{T}^c_{S \cap H}(H) \subset \mathcal{T}$ and, by [OV1], Proposition 4.1, this inclusion of category induces, up to homotopy, a covering space with covering group G/H = Q. We then have the following commutative diagram with exact row (here, \longrightarrow means onto)



and the following fibration sequences

$$|\mathcal{T}_H| \longrightarrow |\mathcal{T}| \longrightarrow BQ$$
$$BH \longrightarrow BG \longrightarrow BQ$$

Moreover, ρ induces a morphism of fibration sequences between these two.

Hence, we have the following Serre spectral sequences

$$H^{p+q}(|\mathcal{T}|, M) \Leftarrow H^p(Q, H^q(|\mathcal{T}_H|, M)),$$
$$H^{p+q}(G, M) \Leftarrow H^p(Q, H^q(H, M)),$$

and ρ induces a morphism ρ^* of spectral sequences between these two. By induction, ρ^* gives an isomorphism on the E_2 page and then induces an isomorphism of spectral sequences. In particular, ρ induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{T}|, M) \cong H^*(G, M).$$

If Q is a p-group:

In that case, $(T, \mathcal{F}_H, \mathcal{L}_H)$ is a *p*-local finite subgroup of index a power of *p* (defined in 1.3.4). We have to be careful and work with all the quasicentric subgroups of *S*. However,

this is not a problem because the inclusion $\mathcal{T} \subset \mathcal{T}^q$ induces a natural isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{T}^q|, M) \simeq H^*(|\mathcal{T}|, M)$. Indeed, we have the following commutative diagram.



The vertical arrows induce isomorphisms in cohomology by Lemma 5.2.6 and the lower horizontal one induces an isomorphism in cohomology because, by Theorem 1.3.11 $|\mathcal{L}| \simeq$ $|\mathcal{L}^q|$. Hence the upper arrow induces an isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{T}^q|, M) \simeq H^*(|\mathcal{T}|, M)$. Assume then that, for this part, $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}^q$ and $\mathcal{T}_H = \mathcal{T}_H^q$.

By Proposition 1.3.4, $Ob(\mathcal{F}_H^q) \subset Ob(\mathcal{F}^q)$. Then, $\mathcal{T}_H \subset \mathcal{T}$ and, still with Proposition 4.1 in [OV1], this inclusion induces a covering space with covering group G/H = Q. We then have the following diagram with exact row



and the following fibration sequences

$$|\mathcal{T}_H| \longrightarrow |\mathcal{T}| \longrightarrow BQ$$
$$BH \longrightarrow BG \longrightarrow BQ.$$

Moreover, ρ induces a morphism of fibration sequences between these two.

Hence, we have the following Serre spectral sequences

$$H^{p+q}(|\mathcal{T}|, M) \Leftarrow H^p(Q, H^q(|\mathcal{T}_H|, M)),$$
$$H^{p+q}(G, M) \Leftarrow H^p(Q, H^q(H, M)),$$

and ρ induces a morphism ρ^* of spectral sequences between these two. By induction, ρ^* gives an isomorphism on the E_2 page and then induces an isomorphism of spectral sequences. In particular, ρ induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{T}|, M) \cong H^*(G, M).$$

Hence, by induction, we get the result.

We can then use Theorem 2.5.3 to get the following.

Corollary 5.2.8. Let G be a finite group, S a Sylow p-subgroup of G and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ the associated p-local finite group.

Let M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module and assume that we have the following commutative diagram,



and that $\Gamma := Im(\varphi) = Im(\overline{\varphi}).$

If Γ is p-solvable and all the M-centric-radical subgroups of S are p-centric, then δ and ρ induce a natural isomorphism,

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

Here we use explicitly that $(S_H, \mathcal{F}_H, \mathcal{L}_H)$ is a *p*-local subgroup of index *p* or prime to *p* of $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ because they are the main cases where we know that \mathcal{T}_H is a transporter category associated to a *p*-local subgroup of $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ and $|\mathcal{T}_H|$ a covering space of $|\mathcal{T}|$. But Theorem 5.2.7 might be generalized (at least with technical condition) in view of [OV1], Proposition 4.1.

We can also conjecture that it can be generalize to any abstract *p*-local finite group and any $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module with a *p*-solvable action.

Conjecture 5.2.9. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group and M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)]$ -module. If the action of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$ on M is *p*-solvable, then the inclusion of BS in $|\mathcal{L}|$ induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

From now, we have an example (see Remark 6.3.7) which is not recovered by Corollary 5.2.8 or a previous result. One problem is the difficulty to find good examples which are not too complicated for computation. Indeed, we want a p-solvable action but we also do not want that the fusion system is constrained (in this case we already know the result) or to be under the hypothesis of Corollary 5.2.8. This forces us to consider huge fusion systems...
Studies of some constructions

In this chapter, we study some constructions of *p*-local finite groups and we give some results to study the cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ and to compare it with the \mathcal{F}^{c} -stable elements. This is motivated by the research of examples (or counter examples) in the study of Conjecture 5.2.9.

6.1 Products of fusion systems

Let $(S_1, \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{L}_1)$ and $(S_2, \mathcal{F}_2, \mathcal{L}_2)$ be two *p*-local finite groups. Consider the *p*-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ as the *product* of $(S_1, \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{L}_1)$ and $(S_2, \mathcal{F}_2, \mathcal{L}_2)$ i.e. $S = S_1 \times S_2$ and \mathcal{F} is generated by the morphisms of the form $(\phi, \psi) \in \mathcal{F}_1 \times \mathcal{F}_2$ (see for example [AKO], Section I.6). Here, we denote by $\mathcal{F}_1 \times \mathcal{F}_2$ the category product of the categories \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_2 (in particular, this is not a fusion system!) and respectively by $\mathcal{L}_1 \times \mathcal{L}_2$, the category product of the categories \mathcal{L}_1 and \mathcal{L}_2 . We write also, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, $\operatorname{pr}_i : S \longrightarrow S_i$ the canonical projections.

Proposition 6.1.1. The inclusion $i : \mathcal{F}_1 \times \mathcal{F}_2 \to \mathcal{F}$ induce an homotopy equivalence on their geometric realizations.

Proof. Let $P, Q \leq S$ and $\phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P, Q)$. As ϕ is a composite of restrictions of morphisms of the form $(\psi, \gamma) \in \mathcal{F}_1 \times \mathcal{F}_2$, ϕ can be factored as follows.



Consider then $p : \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}_1 \times \mathcal{F}_2$ defined on objects by, for $P \leq S$, $p(P) = \text{pr}_1(P) \times \text{pr}_2(P)$ and on morphisms by, for $\phi \in \text{Mor}(\mathcal{F})$, $p(\phi) = (\phi_1, \phi_2)$ where ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are defined as above.

It defines a functor and we have the following commutative diagram.



Hence, there is a natural transformation from $i \circ p$ to $\mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{F}}$. As $p \circ i = \mathrm{Id}$, we have, by Proposition 2.3, that |i| and |p| are homotopy equivalence.

To study \mathcal{L} , we first have to describe the \mathcal{F} -centric subgroups of S.

Lemma 6.1.2. Let P be a subgroup of S. the following conditions are equivalent,

- (i) P is \mathcal{F} -centric,
- (ii) $pr_1(P) \times pr_2(P)$ is \mathcal{F} -centric,
- (iii) $pr_1(P)$ is \mathcal{F}_1 -centric and $pr_2(P)$ is \mathcal{F}_2 -centric.

Proof. We can see that $C_S(P) = C_S(\operatorname{pr}_1(P) \times \operatorname{pr}_2(P)) = C_{S_1}(\operatorname{pr}_1(P)) \times C_{S_2}(\operatorname{pr}_2(P)),$ $Z(\operatorname{pr}_1(P) \times \operatorname{pr}_2(P)) = Z(\operatorname{pr}_1(P)) \times Z(\operatorname{pr}_2(P))$ and that $Z(P) = P \cap Z(\operatorname{pr}_1(P) \times \operatorname{pr}_2(P)).$ Besides, if $P, Q \leq S$ are \mathcal{F} -conjugate, then $\operatorname{pr}_1(P) \times \operatorname{pr}_2(P)$ and $\operatorname{pr}_1(Q) \times \operatorname{pr}_2(Q)$ are also \mathcal{F} -conjugate (if φ sends P on Q then $p(\varphi)$, with p as in the proof of the last proposition, send $\operatorname{pr}_1(P) \times \operatorname{pr}_2(P)$ on $\operatorname{pr}_1(Q) \times \operatorname{pr}_2(Q)$).

The lemma follows easily.

Ŵ

As on the fusion systems level, we can try to compare \mathcal{L} with the product $\mathcal{L}_1 \times \mathcal{L}_2$. In fact, we can obtain \mathcal{L} as the following pullback (see [CL], Definition 2.15, for more details)



where p is the retraction defined in the proof of Proposition 6.1.1 and, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, $\pi_i : \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_i$ is the canonical projection functor. Then we have the following result.

Proposition 6.1.3 ([CL], Proposition 2.17). Let, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, $(S_i, \mathcal{F}_i, \mathcal{L}_i)$ be two p-local finite groups and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ the p-local finite group product of $(S_1, \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{L}_1)$ and $(S_2, \mathcal{F}_2, \mathcal{L}_2)$. The category $\mathcal{L}_1 \times \mathcal{L}_2$ is a full subcategory of \mathcal{L} and the inclusion induces an homotopy equivalence.

From this, we can deduce the homotopy type of $|\mathcal{L}|$.

Corollary 6.1.4. (a) $|\mathcal{L}| \simeq |\mathcal{L}_1| \times |\mathcal{L}_2|$.

(b) $\pi_{\mathcal{L}} \cong \pi_{\mathcal{L}_1} \times \pi_{\mathcal{L}_2}$

When we look at the cohomology we can use the Kunneth formula.

Proposition 6.1.5. Let, for $i \in \{1,2\}$, $(S_i, \mathcal{F}_i, \mathcal{L}_i)$ be two p-local finite groups and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ the p-local finite group product of $(S_1, \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{L}_1)$ and $(S_2, \mathcal{F}_2, \mathcal{L}_2)$.

Let also M_1 be a $\mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}_1}]$ -module and M_2 be a $\mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}_2}]$ -module.

If, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, δ_{S_i} induces a natural isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M_i) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_i^c, M_i)$ then δ_S induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} M_2) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} M_2).$$

Here, $\otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p}$ denotes the usual tensor product on \mathbb{F}_p -vector spaces but the tensor product \otimes denotes a tensor product of graded \mathbb{F}_p -vector spaces, i.e. for two graded \mathbb{F}_p -vector spaces V^* and W^* , $V^* \otimes W^*$ is the graded \mathbb{F}_p -vector space $(V^* \otimes W^*)^n = \bigoplus_{i=0}^n V^i \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} W^{n-i}$.

Proof. As we work with \mathbb{F}_p -modules, the Kunneth formula tells us that $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} M_2) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M_1) \otimes H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M_2)$ and the following diagram commutes for each $P_1 \leq S_1$, $P_2 \leq S_2$

$$\begin{array}{c} H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M_1) \otimes H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M_2) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} M_2) \\ \downarrow \\ \delta_{P_1 \otimes \delta_{P_2}} \downarrow & \downarrow \\ H^*(P_1, M_1) \otimes H^*(P_2, M_2) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(P_1 \times P_2, M_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} M_2) \end{array}$$

Besides, as $\mathcal{F}_1 \times \mathcal{F}_2$ is a retract of \mathcal{F} , using the Kunneth formula several times we get

$$H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} M_2) = \lim_{\substack{\not\leftarrow \\ \mathcal{F}_1^c \times \mathcal{F}_2^c}} H^*(-, M_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} M_2) \qquad (\text{because } \mathcal{F}^c = \langle \mathcal{F}_1^c \times \mathcal{F}_2^c \rangle)$$
$$\cong \lim_{\substack{\not\leftarrow \\ P_1 \times P_2 \in \mathcal{F}_1^c \times \mathcal{F}_2^c}} (H^*(P_1, M_1) \otimes H^*(P_2, M_2))$$
$$\cong \left(\lim_{\substack{\not\leftarrow \\ \mathcal{F}_1^c}} H^*(-, M_1)\right) \otimes \left(\lim_{\substack{\not\leftarrow \\ \mathcal{F}_2^c}} H^*(-, M_2)\right).$$

Hence

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} M_2) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M_1 \otimes M_2)$$

and this isomorphism is induced by δ_S .

6.2 Cohomological coverings of *p*-local finite groups

Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a *p*-local finite group.

Here we will consider general linking systems. It allows us to work with more flexible sets of objects without changing the homotopy type of the geometric realization. Thus for a *p*-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$, $Ob(\mathcal{L})$ will be a set of \mathcal{F} -quasicentric subgroups of S which contains all the \mathcal{F} -centric and \mathcal{F} -radical subgroups. We will write \mathcal{L}^q to indicate that we consider all the \mathcal{F} -quasicentric subgroups of S, \mathcal{L}^c if we consider only the \mathcal{F} -centric subgroups and \mathcal{L}^{cr} if we consider only the \mathcal{F} -centric and \mathcal{F} -radical ones.

Ŵ

To explain the idea here, we start by an easy example: $(D_8, \mathcal{F}_{D_8}(A_6), \mathcal{L}_{D_8}^{cr}(A_6))$. If one look at the linking system, it has the following form,



where Q and Q' are the two subgroups of D_8 isomorphic to a Klein four group. We can see this category as a union of two other linking systems, \mathcal{L}_1 and \mathcal{L}_2 .



These two linking systems correspond to linking systems of *p*-local finite groups associated to $N_{A_6}(Q)$ and $N_{A_6}(Q')$ respectively, which are both constrained. Thus we can use Van Kampen Theorem to get the fundamental group of $|\mathcal{L}_{D_8}^{cr}(A_6)|$ and the Mayer-Vietoris long exact sequence to study its cohomology.

Here we will try to generalize this idea by looking at some linking systems as union of two others which are easier to work with and hence, using Van Kampen and Mayer-Vietoris, get informations on the homotopy type of the initial one.

Definition 6.2.1. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ and, for $i = \{1, 2\}$, $(S, \mathcal{F}_i, \mathcal{L}_i)$ be three *p*-local finite groups on the same *p*-group *S*. Let *M* be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module.

We will say that $\{\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2\}$ is a covering of \mathcal{L} if $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_1 \cup \mathcal{L}_2$.

We will say that $\{\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2\}$ is an *M*-cohomological covering of \mathcal{L} if it is a covering of \mathcal{L} and the inclusions of categories induce injective maps $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \hookrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M)$ and $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M) \hookrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1 \cap \mathcal{L}_2|, M)$ for all *i*.

Remark 6.2.2. If $\{\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2\}$ is a covering of \mathcal{L} then \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_2 can be seen as subsystems of \mathcal{F} and $\mathcal{F} = \langle \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2 \rangle$.

Lemma 6.2.3. If $\{\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2\}$ is a covering of \mathcal{L} then we have the following Pushout diagram,



Proof. Let us look at the nerves, $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{L})$, $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{L}_1)$ and $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{L}_2)$ of these categories.

In \mathcal{L} , if for example, $\varphi = \psi \circ \theta$ with $\theta \in \mathcal{L}_1(P,Q)$, $\psi \in \mathcal{L}_2(Q,R)$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{L}_1(P,R)$, then, fixing an inclusion system $\{\iota_P^Q\}_{P \leq Q \leq S}$, we have the following commutative diagram



where $P_Q = \operatorname{Im}(\theta)$, $Q_R = \operatorname{Im}(\psi)$ and $P_R = \operatorname{Im}(\psi \circ \theta)$. Thus $\overline{\psi}|_{P_Q}^{P_R} = \overline{\theta}^{-1} \circ \overline{\varphi}$ so $\overline{\psi}|_{P_Q}^{P_R} \in \mathcal{L}_1(P_Q, P_R)$ and, by existence of extensions in \mathcal{L}_1 and unicity in \mathcal{L} (Proposition 1.2.5), we have that $\overline{\psi}$ and ψ are in \mathcal{L}_1 .

We can deduce from this that $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{L}) = \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{L}_1) \cup \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{L}_2).$

Proposition 6.2.4. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ and, for $i = \{1, 2\}$, $(S, \mathcal{F}_i, \mathcal{L}_i)$ be three p-local finite groups on the same p-group S. Let M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module.

If $\{\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2\}$ is a covering of \mathcal{L} , then $\pi_{\mathcal{L}} = \pi_{\mathcal{L}_1} *_{\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}_1 \cap \mathcal{L}_2|)} \pi_{\mathcal{L}_2}$.

Moreover, if $\{\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2\}$ is an *M*-cohomological covering of \mathcal{L} , then there is a short exact sequence,

$$0 \longrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \longrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M) \oplus H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M) \longrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1 \cap \mathcal{L}_2|, M) \longrightarrow 0.$$

Proof. This is just a consequence of Lemma 6.2.3. We use Van Kampen for the first point and the long exact sequence of Mayer-Vietoris for the second point. \diamondsuit

Proposition 6.2.5. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ and, for $i = \{1, 2\}$, $(S, \mathcal{F}_i, \mathcal{L}_i)$ be three p-local finite groups on the same p-group S. Let M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module.

Assume that $\{\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2\}$ is an *M*-cohomological covering of \mathcal{L} and that, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, δ_S induces natural isomorphisms $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_i^c, M)$.

Then δ_S induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

Proof. By the previous proposition, we have the following short exact sequence,

$$0 \longrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \longrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M) \oplus H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M) \longrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1 \cap \mathcal{L}_2|, M) \longrightarrow 0.$$

The maps are given by the inclusions hence, by exactness of the sequence and M-cohomological covering hypothesis, the image of the left arrow is

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M) \cap H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M) \subseteq H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1 \cap \mathcal{L}_2|, M).$$

Besides, we have the following commutative diagram.



Thus, by hypothesis, δ_S gives the following isomorphism,

 $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M) \cap H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_1^c, M) \cap H^*(\mathcal{F}_2^c, M).$

Finally, as $\mathcal{F} = \langle \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2 \rangle$, we obtain that

$$H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) = H^*(\mathcal{F}_1^c, M) \cap H^*(\mathcal{F}_2^c, M) \subseteq H^*(S, M)$$

and that

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M),$$

where the isomorphism is induced by δ_S .

Let us now look at some examples.

One case where we want to use this decomposition is when, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, $\mathcal{L}_1 \cap \mathcal{L}_2$ is a linking system, \mathcal{L}_3 , associated to another *p*-local finite group over S, $(S, \mathcal{F}_3, \mathcal{L}_3)$. The example of $D_8 \leq A_6$ is of this form. Besides, for $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, if we assume that, δ_S induces the isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_i^c, M)$, then as $\mathcal{F}_3^{cr} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_i^{cr}$, we have the following inclusion

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_i^c, M) \hookrightarrow H^*(\mathcal{F}_3^c, M) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1 \cap \mathcal{L}_2|, M).$$

Then we just have to look at, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, the injectivity of

$$H^*(\mathcal{L}, M) \longrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M)$$

or, equivalently the injectivity of the direct sum of these two arrows

$$H^*(\mathcal{L}, M) \longrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M) \oplus H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M)$$

Proposition 6.2.6. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ and, for $i = \{1, 2, 3\}$, $(S, \mathcal{F}_i, \mathcal{L}_i)$ be four p-local finite groups on the same p-group S. Let M a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module.

Assume that $\{\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2\}$ is a covering of \mathcal{L} and that $\mathcal{L}_1 \cap \mathcal{L}_2 = \mathcal{L}_3$. If for $i \in \{1, 2, 2\}$ induces an isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{L}| = M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c)$

If, for $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, δ_S induces an isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_i^c, M)$ then the followings are equivalent,

- (i) $\{\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2\}$ is an *M*-cohomological covering of \mathcal{L} ,
- (ii) $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \longrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M) \oplus H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M)$ is injective,

Ŕ

(*iii*) $H^*(\mathcal{F}_3^c, M) = H^*(\mathcal{F}_1^c, M) + H^*(\mathcal{F}_2^c, M),$

(iv) δ_S induces a natural isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

Proof. As remark before, we have, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$ the inclusion

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M) \hookrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1 \cap \mathcal{L}_2|, M).$$

Hence (i) is equivalent to (ii).

Besides, by exactness of the Mayer-Vietoris long exact sequence associated to the decomposition $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_1 \cup \mathcal{L}_2$, and as we know that, for $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, δ_S induces the isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_i^c, M)$, (ii) is equivalent to (iii).

Finally, still by exactness, the image of the arrow

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \longrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M) \oplus H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M)$$

is $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M) \cap H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M)$. But, as δ_S induces the isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M) \cap H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_1^c, M \cap H^*(\mathcal{F}_2^c, M) = H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M),$$

(ii) is equivalent to (iv).

For example, the hypothesis of this proposition are satisfied if \mathcal{F}_1 , \mathcal{F}_2 and \mathcal{F}_3 are constrained (as in the example of $D_8 \leq A_6$).

As an example of how we can use this proposition, we can work with realizable fusion systems. We write here $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_S^{\mathrm{Ob}(\mathcal{L})}(G)$ the transporter category with object set $\mathrm{Ob}(\mathcal{L})$ and $\pi_{\mathcal{T}} = \pi_1(|\mathcal{T}|)$. The following corollary can be for example used with Theorem 5.2.7.

Corollary 6.2.7. Let G be a finite group, S a Sylow p-subgroup of G and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ the associated p-local finite group. Let M be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -module.

Assume that there are three p-local finite subgroups, $(S, \mathcal{F}_i, \mathcal{L}_i)_{i \in \{1,2,3\}}$, of $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ such that,

- (a) $\{\mathcal{L}_1, \mathcal{L}_2\}$ is a covering of \mathcal{L} ,
- (b) $\mathcal{L}_1 \cap \mathcal{L}_2 = \mathcal{L}_3$,
- (c) for $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, \mathcal{F}_i is realized by a subgroup G_i of G containing S,
- (d) there is a commutative diagram,



Ŵ

(e) for $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, δ_S and $\rho|_{T_S^{Ob(\mathcal{L})}(S)}$ induce natural isomorphisms

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}_i|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}_i^c, M) \cong H^*(G_i, M).$$

If, moreover, δ and ρ induces a natural isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(G, M)$, then δ_S and $\rho|_{\mathcal{T}_{c}^{Ob(\mathcal{L})}(S)}$ induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) \cong H^*(G, M).$$

Proof. We are in the condition of the previous proposition and we just have to show the injectivity of the map $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \longrightarrow H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M) \oplus H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M)$. However, as G_1 and G_2 are subgroups of G containing S,

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(G, M) \hookrightarrow H^*(G_1, M) \oplus H^*(G_2, M) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{L}_1|, M) \oplus H^*(|\mathcal{L}_2|, M).$$

This gives us the corollary.

This gives us the corollary.

We finish this subsection with an example where our last result can be seen in practice. Consider $G = P\Gamma L_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ the extension of $PGL_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ with the Galois automorphism of \mathbb{F}_4 . We will study its 2-local structure $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$. We also send the reader to the article of Oliver and Ventura [OV2] which gives some computation around these groups and in particular the computation of the essential subgroups.

When we look at the centric-radical linking system (using GAP) which is, in fact, a transporter system, it has the following form



where straight lines correspond to inclusions, waved lines to \mathcal{F} -conjugate subgroups and $UT_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ denotes the subgroup of $PGL_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ of upper triangular matrices with one on the diagonal. We also have the following inclusions (from top to bottom) between the normalizers, where for $i \in \{1, 2, ..., 7\}$, N_i is the normalizer of P_i .



Moreover, the conjugations $P_2 \sim P_3$ and $P_4 \sim P_5$ are controlled by respectively N_6 and N_7 , and $N_7 \cap N_6 = N_1$. Then we can see that \mathcal{L} is a covering of two linking systems $\mathcal{L}_6 = \mathcal{L}_S^{\mathcal{H}_6}(N_6)$ and $\mathcal{L}_7 = \mathcal{L}_S^{\mathcal{H}_7}(N_7)$ and the intersection $\mathcal{L}_6 \cap \mathcal{L}_7$ is also a linking system $\mathcal{L}_1 = \mathcal{L}_S^{\mathcal{H}_1}(N_1)$. These three linking systems correspond to constrained fusion systems with models N_6 , N_7 , and N_1 respectively (P_6 , P_7 and P_1 are centric in G). Thus, the first three conditions of Corollary 6.2.7 holds here. By Proposition 6.2.4, $\pi_{\mathcal{L}} = N_6 *_{N_1} N_7$ and a quotient of this amalgamated product is naturally isomorphic to $Q = G/PSL_3$, (\mathbb{F}_4) $\cong C_3 \rtimes C_2$ which is *p*-solvable. Hence, for every $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[Q]$ -module, (*c*) and (*d*) are satisfied. Finally, by Theorem 5.2.7, we obtain the last condition and then for every $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[Q]$ -module M, δ_S induces a natural isomorphism,

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M).$$

Remark 6.2.8. In fact, we can also apply Corollary 5.2.8 because, for every $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[Q]$ -module M, the set of all M-centric-radical subgroups of S (Definition 2.5.1) is exactly the set of all \mathcal{F} -centric and \mathcal{F} -radical subgroups of S. Hence this does not give a very useful example for Conjecture 5.2.9.

6.3 The p-local structure of wreath products by C_p

Let G_0 be a finite group, S_0 a Sylow *p*-subgroup of G_0 and $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ be the associated *p*-local finite group. We are interested in the wreath product $G = G_0 \wr C_p$, $S = S_0 \wr C_p$ and the associated *p*-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$. By [CL], Theorem 5.2 and Remark 5.3, we have that $|\mathcal{L}| \simeq |\mathcal{L}_0| \wr BC_p = |\mathcal{L}_0|^p \times_{C_p} EC_p$ and, in particular, $\pi_{\mathcal{L}} = \pi_{\mathcal{L}_0} \wr C_p$.

We first give a lemma on strongly *p*-embedded subgroups. Recall that, for a finite group G, a subgroup H < G is strongly *p*-embedded, if $p \mid |H|$ and for each $x \in G \setminus H$, $H \cap xHx^{-1}$ has order prime to p.

Lemma 6.3.1. Let G be a finite group, $G_0 \leq G$ a subgroup of index a power of p.

If G contains a strongly p-embedded subgroup and $p \mid |G_0|$, then G_0 contains a strongly p-embedded subgroup.

Proof. Let H be a strongly p-embedded subgroup of G. By [AKO], Proposition A.7, H contains a Sylow p-subgroup of G so, up to conjugacy, we can choose H such that H contains a Sylow p-subgroup of G_0 . Hence $G_0 \cap H$ contains a Sylow p-subgroup of G_0 and $p \mid |G_0 \cap H|$. We will show that $G_0 \cap H$ is a strongly p-embedded subgroup of G_0 .

As [G:H] is prime to p and $[G:G_0]$ is a power of $p, G_0 \cap H$ is a proper subgroup of G_0 .

It remains to show that, for each $x \in G_0 \setminus G_0 \cap H$, $(G_0 \cap H) \cap x(G_0 \cap H)x^{-1}$ has order prime to p. But $(G_0 \cap H) \cap x(G_0 \cap H)x^{-1} \leq H \cap xHx^{-1}$, thus, as H is a strongly p-embedded subgroup of G, this last subgroup has order prime to p for every $x \in G \setminus H$. In particular, for each $x \in G_0 \setminus G_0 \cap H$, $(G_0 \cap H) \cap x(G_0 \cap H)x^{-1}$ has order prime to pand $G_0 \cap H$ is a strongly p-embedded subgroup of G_0 .

We give also a lemma on \mathcal{F}_1 -essential subgroups for $\mathcal{F}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ a subsystem of index a power of p. We recall (Definition 1.1.7) that a proper subgroup P < S is \mathcal{F} -essential if P

is \mathcal{F} -centric and fully normalized in \mathcal{F} , and if $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$ contains a strongly *p*-embedded subgroup.

Lemma 6.3.2. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group and $(S_1, \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{L}_1)$ a p-local subgroup of index a power of p.

If $P < S_1$ is \mathcal{F} -essential, then P is \mathcal{F}_1 -essential.

Proof. Let $P \leq S_1$ be an \mathcal{F} -essential subgroup. P is \mathcal{F}_1 -centric:

As P is \mathcal{F} -centric, $C_S(Q) = Z(Q)$ for all $Q \in P^{\mathcal{F}}$. In particular, for all $Q \in P^{\mathcal{F}_1} \subseteq P^{\mathcal{F}}$, $C_{S_1}(Q) = Z(Q)$ and P is \mathcal{F}_1 -centric.

<u>*P* is fully normalized in \mathcal{F}_1 .</u> By [AKO] Proposition I.2.6, it is enough to show that *P* is receptive and fully automized in \mathcal{F}_1 . But, as *P* is \mathcal{F}_1 -centric, it is fully centralized in \mathcal{F}_1 and so it is receptive by [AKO] Proposition I.2.5. It remains to show that *P* is fully automized in \mathcal{F}_1 .

As P is fully normalized in \mathcal{F} (P is \mathcal{F} -essential), by [AKO] Proposition I.2.5, P is fully automized in \mathcal{F} . Hence $\operatorname{Aut}_{S}(P)$ is a Sylow p-subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$ and then $\operatorname{Aut}_{S_1}(P) = \operatorname{Aut}_{S}(P) \cap \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}_1}(P)$ is a Sylow p-subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}_1}(P)$.

 $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}_1}(P)$ contains a strongly *p*-embedded subgroup :

As P is \mathcal{F} -essential, $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$ contains a strongly p-embedded subgroup. As \mathcal{F}_1 is a subsystem of \mathcal{F} of index a power of p, $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}_1}(P)$ is a subgroup of $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$ of index a power of p. Moreover, as P is a proper subgroup of S_1 , $P < N_{S_1}(P)$ and, as P is \mathcal{F}_1 -centric, every element of $N_{S_1}(P)$ induces a non trivial element in $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}_1}(P)$. Hence $p \mid |\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}_1}(P)|$ and, by Lemma 6.3.1, $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}_1}(P)$ contains a strongly p-embedded subgroup.

We can easily describe the essential subgroups of a product of fusion systems.

Lemma 6.3.3. Let $(S_1, \mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{L}_1)$ and $(S_2, \mathcal{F}_2, \mathcal{L}_2)$ be p-local finite groups and $(S = S_1 \times S_2, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be the product (see Section 6.1) of the two.

The \mathcal{F} -essential subgroups of S are of the form $Q_1 \times S_2$ with $Q_1 < S_1 \mathcal{F}_1$ -essential or $S_1 \times Q_2$ with $Q_2 < S_2 \mathcal{F}_2$ -essential.

Proof. Let $P \leq S$ be a \mathcal{F} -essential subgroup. By Proposition 1.1.8, P is \mathcal{F} -centric and \mathcal{F} -radical. Thus, By [AOV], Lemma 3.1, $P = P_1 \times P_2$ with $P_i \leq S_i$.

Remark also that, if we have two groups G_1 and G_2 such that p divide $|G_1|$ and $|G_2|$ then $G_1 \times G_2$ cannot contain a strongly p-embedded subgroup. Indeed, by [AKO], Proposition A.7, if S_i is a Sylow p-subgroup of G_i , every strongly p-embedded subgroup of $G_1 \times G_2$ must contain $H = \langle x \in G \mid x(S_1 \times S_2)x^{-1} \cap S_1 \times S_2 \neq 1 \rangle$ and it is not difficult to see that H contains $G_1 \times \{0\}$ and $\{0\} \times G_2$ which implies that H = G. We have that $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}(P) = \operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}_1}(P_1) \times \operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}_2}(P_2)$ hence, the only possibility for P to be \mathcal{F} -essential is that $P_1 = S$ and P_2 is \mathcal{F}_2 -essential or the contrary.

The radical subgroups of a wreath product have been listed explicitly by Alperin and Fong in [AF]. They also compute their normalizers, centralizers and outer-automorphisms and we invite the reader to find the details there.

Let G_0 be a finite group, S_0 a Sylow *p*-subgroup of G_0 and $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ be the associated *p*-local finite group. We consider the wreath product $G = G_0 \wr C_p$, $S = S_0 \wr C_p$ and the associated *p*-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$. Here, for the direct computation, we will take the notation of Alperin and Fong [AF]: an element of G will be represented by permutation matrix corresponding to the powers of $(1, 2, \ldots, p)$ with entries in G_0 and the composition will follow the matrix product with the composition in G_0 . Denote by $c \in G$ the element

$$e \otimes P_{(1,2,\dots,p)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & e \\ e & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & e & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

where e is the trivial element of G_0 . Here, we are interested in the \mathcal{F} -essential subgroups.

Lemma 6.3.4. Let $P \leq S$ be an \mathcal{F} -essential subgroup.

- (E₁) If $P \leq S_0^p$, then either $P = S_0^p$ and $N_G(P) = N_{G_0}(S_0) \wr C_p$ or P is \mathcal{F}_0^p -essential and $N_G(P) = N_{G_0^p}(P)$.
- (E₂) If $P \not\leq S_0^p$, then $P \cong_{\mathcal{F}} Q \wr C_p$ where Q is \mathcal{F}_0 -essential and $N_G(P)/P \cong N_{G_0}(Q)/Q$ through the diagonal map $G_0 \hookrightarrow G_0^p$.

Proof. Let $P \leq S$ be an \mathcal{F} -essential subgroup.

Assume first that $P < S_0^p$. By Lemma 6.3.2, we know that P is \mathcal{F}_0^p -essential and the computation of $N_G(P)$ and $N_G(S_0^p)$ are direct.

Secondly, assume that $P \not\leq S_0^p$. All choices of a splitting $C_p \to G$ are conjugate in G and hence we can assume that $P = \langle P_0, c \rangle$ where $P_0 = P \cap S_0^p$. If we write $P_0^{(i)}$ the projection of P_0 on its *i*th factor, as c normalizes P_0 , we have that $P_0^{(i)} = P_0^{(j)}$ for all i, j and if we denote $Q = P_0^{(1)}$, then $P_0 \leq Q^p$. A direct computation give that

$$C_G(P) \cong C_{G_0}(Q) \otimes \mathrm{Id} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} g & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & g & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & g \end{pmatrix} ; g \in C_{G_0}(Q) \right\}$$

and as P is p-centric, Q is G_0 -centric.

Let us now look at the normalizers. We have that $N_G(P) = \langle N_{G_0^p}(P), c \rangle$ so we just have to study $N_{G_0^p}(P)$. If $g = (g_1, \ldots, g_p) \in N_{G_0^p}(P)$, as g normalizes $P \cap G_0^p = P_0$, we have, for all $i, g_i \in N_{G_0}(Q)$. Moreover, if we denote $h = (h_1, \ldots, h_p) = gcg^{-1}c^{-1} \in P_0$, we have, for all $i, g_ih_i = g_{i-1}$ (with $g_0 = g_p$) and then, there is $h' \in Q^p$ such that $g = (g_1, g_1, \ldots, g_1).h \in \langle N_{G_0}(Q) \otimes \operatorname{Id}, Q^p \rangle \leq N_G(Q \wr C_p)$. Hence, every automorphism $c_g \in \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$ can be extended to an automorphism of $Q \wr C_p$. As P is \mathcal{F} essential, by Proposition 1.1.8.(b), $P = Q \wr C_p$ and $N_G(P)/P = N_{G_0}(Q)/Q \otimes \operatorname{Id} \cong N_{G_0}(Q)/Q$. Then, as $N_G(P)/P = \operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}(P)$ contains a strongly p-embedded subgroup, $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}_0}(Q) = N_{G_0}(Q)/Q$ as well. Finally, up to conjugacy, we can also assume that Q is fully normalized in \mathcal{F}_0 and thus Q is \mathcal{F}_0 -essential.

Let us now look at some cohomological results. Recall that for a group G, a subgroup $H \leq G$, and $M \in \mathbb{F}_p[H]$ -module, we define the *induced* and *coinduced* $\mathbb{F}_p[G]$ -module by,

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G}(M) = M \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_{p}[H]} \mathbb{F}_{p}[G] \qquad \operatorname{coInd}_{H}^{G}(M) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}[H]}(\mathbb{F}_{p}[G], M)$$

Recall also that, when the index of H in G is finite, these two $\mathbb{F}_p[G]$ -modules are isomorphic (by [We], Lemma 6.3.4).

Lemma 6.3.5. Let X be a CW complex and denote by G its fundamental group.

If X_0 is a covering space of X with fundamental group $G_0 \leq G$ of finite index, then, for every $\mathbb{F}_p[G_0]$ -module M, we have a natural isomorphism of $\mathbb{F}_p[G/G_0]$ -modules,

$$H^*(X_0, \operatorname{Res}_{G_0}^G \operatorname{Ind}_{G_0}^G(M)) \cong H^*(X_0, M) \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} \mathbb{F}_p[G/G_0].$$

This induces the wanted isomorphism in cohomology.

Proof. This can be easily seen on the chain level. Let \tilde{X} be the universal covering space of X. As $\mathbb{F}_p[G/G_0]$ -modules, we have the following

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{F}_p[G_0]}(C_*(\tilde{X}), \operatorname{Res}_{G_0}^G \operatorname{Ind}_{G_0}^G(M)) = \bigoplus_{g \in [G/G_0]} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{F}_p[G_0]}(C_*(\tilde{X}), g.M)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{F}_p[G_0]}(C_*(\tilde{X}), M) \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} \mathbb{F}_p[G/G_0].$$

Proposition 6.3.6. Let G_0 be a finite group and $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ be the associated p-local finite group. Consider $G = G_0 \wr C_p$, $S = S_0 \wr C_p$ a Sylow p-subgroup of G and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ the associated p-local finite group. Denote also by $G_0^{\Delta} \cong G_0$ and $S_0^{\Delta} \cong S_0$ the diagonal subgroups of G_0^p and S_0^p and consider the associated p-local finite subgroup $(S_0^{\Delta}, \mathcal{F}_0^{\Delta}, \mathcal{L}_0^{\Delta}) \cong$ $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$. If, for M an $\mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0}^{\Delta}]$ -module, $\delta_{S_0^{\Delta}}$ and $\delta_{S_0^p}$ induce natural isomorphisms $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_0^{\Delta}|, M) \cong H^*((\mathcal{F}_0^{\Delta})^c, M)$ and $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_0^p|, coInd_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0}^{\Delta}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0}^p}(M)) \cong H^*((\mathcal{F}_0^p)^c, coInd_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0}^{\Delta}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0}^p}(M))$ then δ_S induces a natural isomorphism

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, coInd_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0^{\Delta}}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}}(M)) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, coInd_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0^{\Delta}}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}}(M)).$$

Proof. Write $N = \text{coInd}_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0^{\widehat{o}}}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}}(M)$ and, for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, denote by $H^*(\mathcal{F}^{E_i}, N)$ the stable elements of $H^*(S, N)$ under the full subcategory of \mathcal{F} with objects S and all the subgroups of S of type (E_i) defined in Lemma 6.3.4.

By Shapiro (see for example [Ev], Proposition 4.1.3), for every $P = Q \wr C_p$ of type (E_1) , we have a natural isomorphism $H^*(Q \wr C_p, N) \cong H^*(Q, M)$ and, by the computation of normalizers in Lemma 6.3.4,

$$H^*(Q \wr C_p, N)^{\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}}(Q \wr C_p)} \cong H^*(Q^{\Delta}, M)^{\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{F}_0}(Q)}$$

Ŵ

Hence, applying this to all the subgroups of type (E_1) and, by naturality of the Shapiro isomorphisms, we have that,

$$H^*(\mathcal{F}^{E_1}, N) \cong H^*((\mathcal{F}_0^{\Delta})^c, M).$$

On the topological side, as $|\mathcal{L}_0|$ is a covering space of $|\mathcal{L}_0^p|$ which is also a covering space of $|\mathcal{L}|$ (by [CL], Theorem 5.2 and Remark 5.3), $|\mathcal{L}_0|$ is a covering space of $|\mathcal{L}|$. Then, if we denote by X the universal covering space of $|\mathcal{L}|$ (which is also the universal covering space of $|\mathcal{L}_0|$), we have the following isomorphism on the chain level (because Res and coInd are adjoint functors)

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}_{0}}^{\Delta}]}(C_{*}(X), M) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]}(C_{*}(X), N)$$

which is analogue to the Shapiro isomorphism (see [Ev], Proposition 4.1.3). It gives us the following isomorphism on cohomology

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}_0^{\Delta}|, M) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, N)$$

and give the following commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} H^*(S_0^{\Delta}, M) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(S, N) \\ \begin{pmatrix} \delta_{S_0^{\Delta}} \end{pmatrix}^* \downarrow & \downarrow \delta_S^* \\ H^*(|\mathcal{L}_0^{\Delta}|, M) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, N) \end{array}$$

Thus by hypothesis, δ_S induces an isomorphism

$$H^*(\mathcal{F}^{E_1}, N) \cong H^*((\mathcal{F}_0^{\Delta})^c, M) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{L}_0^{\Delta}|, M) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, N).$$

Secondly, by factoring the Shapiro isomorphism (see [Ev], Proposition 4.1.3), the inclusion of S_0^p in S induces an injection $H^*(S, N) \hookrightarrow H^*(S_0^p, N)$. Hence

$$H^*(\mathcal{F}^{E_2}, N) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^p_0, N)^{C_p} \le H^*(S^p_0, N).$$

By assumption, $\delta_{S_0^p}$ induces an isomorphism

$$H^*((\mathcal{F}_0^p)^c, N) = H^*((\mathcal{F}_0^p)^c, \operatorname{coInd}_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0^\Delta}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}}(M)^p) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{L}_0^p|, \operatorname{coInd}_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0^\Delta}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}}(M)^p) H^*(|\mathcal{L}_0^p|, N)$$

and, by Lemma 6.3.5, this is isomorphic, as $\mathbb{F}_p[C_p]$ -module, to the following

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}^p_0|, \operatorname{coInd}_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}^\Delta_0}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}}(M)) \otimes \mathbb{F}_p[C_p].$$

In particular it is a projective $\mathbb{F}_p[C_p]$ -module.

Consider now the Serre spectral sequence associated to the fibration sequence

$$|\mathcal{L}_0|^p \longrightarrow |\mathcal{L}| \longrightarrow BC_p$$

with coefficients in N. The E_2 page is the following,

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p(C_p, H^q(|\mathcal{L}_O|^p, N))$$

and, by the previous computation, the E_2 page is concentrated in the first row. Hence, we have that, $H^*(|\mathcal{L}_0^p|, N)^{C_p} = E_2^{0,*} \cong H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, N)$.

In conclusion,

$$H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, N) = H^*(\mathcal{F}^{E_1}, N) \cap H^*(\mathcal{F}^{E_2}, N) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, N)$$

and the theorem follows.

This proposition is a bit technical but we will use it in a specific case. Consider p = 5, the group $G_0 = GL_{20}(F_2)$, the wreath product $G = G_0 \wr C_5$ and $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ the associated 5-local finite groups. By [Ru], Theorem 6.3, we know that $(S_0, \mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{L}_0)$ admits a 5-local subgroup of index 4 which is exotic $(S_e, \mathcal{F}_e, \mathcal{L}_e)$ and that we have a fibration sequence

$$|\mathcal{L}_e| \longrightarrow |\mathcal{L}| \longrightarrow BC_4.$$

In particular, we have $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}/\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0} = C_4 \wr C_5$ and we can be interested in comparing $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, N)$ and $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, N)$ for $N = \mathbb{F}_5[C_4 \wr C_5] = \operatorname{Ind}_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0}^{\perp}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}}(M) \cong \operatorname{coInd}_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0}^{\perp}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}}(M)$ (the action factors through a finite group) with $M = \mathbb{F}_5[C_4]$.

By Corollary 5.1.4, we have that $\delta_{S_0^{\Delta}}$ and $\delta_{S_0^p}$ induce natural isomorphisms

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}_0^{\Delta}|, M) \cong H^*((\mathcal{F}_0^{\Delta})^c, M) \text{ and}$$
$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}_0^p|, \operatorname{coInd}_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0^{\Delta}}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0}^p}(M)) \cong H^*((\mathcal{F}_0^p)^c, \operatorname{coInd}_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0^{\Delta}}}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0}^p}(M)),$$

 $(\operatorname{Ind}_{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0}^0}^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}_0}^p}(M) = \mathbb{F}_5[C_4^5]).$

Hence, all the hypothesis of Proposition 6.3.6 are satisfied and

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, N) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, N).$$

Remark 6.3.7. This gives us an example of isomorphism between the cohomology of $|\mathcal{L}|$ and the stable elements when the action factors through a *p*-solvable group which cannot be recovered by a previous result. It helps us to settle Conjecture 5.2.9.

Ŵ

Examples

In this chapter we study some counter-examples. More precisely, we are looking at p-local finite groups $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ and $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ -modules M such that $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

7.1 A linking system with a non \mathbb{F}_p -acyclic universal covering space

We give here a condition on \mathcal{F} such that the free module $\mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ gives a counter-example.

Proposition 7.1.1. Let $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be a p-local finite group. Assume that we have the following

- 1. The universal covering space $|\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}|$ of $|\mathcal{L}|$ is not \mathbb{F}_p -acyclic,
- 2. $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ is finite.
- 3. δ_S induces an inclusion $S \leq \pi_{\mathcal{L}}$.

Then we have

$$H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, \mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]) \cong H^*(|\mathcal{\widetilde{L}}|, \mathbb{F}_p) \not\cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, \mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]).$$

Proof. As $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ is finite, $\mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}] = \operatorname{Ind}_1^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}} \mathbb{F}_p \cong \operatorname{coInd}_1^{\pi_{\mathcal{L}}} \mathbb{F}_p$. Then, we have the following isomorphism on the chain level,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]}(C_*(|\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}|), \mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{F}_p}(C_*(|\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}|), \mathbb{F}_p)$$

which induces the first isomorphism. As $|\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}|$ is not \mathbb{F}_p -acyclic, $H^i(|\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}|, \mathbb{F}_p) \neq 0$ for some *i*. However, as *S* is a subgroup of $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}$, $\mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]$ is also an $\mathbb{F}_p[S]$ -projective module. As *S* is finite, $H^*(S, \mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}])$, and thus $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, \mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}]) \subseteq H^*(S, \mathbb{F}_p[\pi_{\mathcal{L}}])$, are concentrated in degree 0.

7.2 Projective linear groups

Here we study the p-local structure of the group $PGL_n(F_q)$ for q a power of p.

7.2.1 Tits buildings and radical subgroups

Let $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ and $V = \mathbb{F}_q^n$ be the natural \mathbb{F}_q -vector space on which G acts.

Definition 7.2.1. The *Tits building* of G, denoted by Δ , is the poset of proper nontrivial subspaces of V.

Definition 7.2.2. A *flag* of V is a sequence of proper nontrivial subspaces of V, $D = (W_1 < W_2 < \cdots < W_k)$ with $W_1 \neq 0$ and $W_k < V$.

For two flags, $D = (W_1 < W_2 < \cdots < W_k)$ and $D' = (W'_1 < W'_2 < \cdots < W'_l)$, we will write $D \leq D'$ if $k \leq l$ and if there is an injective increasing map $\sigma : \{1, 2, \ldots, k\} \rightarrow \{1, 2, \ldots, l\}$ such that $W_i = W'_{\sigma(i)}$. It gives to the set of flags of V a poset structure.

We will denote by U_D the set of all $g \in G$ satisfying $g(W_i) = W_i$ which induces identity on W_1 , W_i/W_{i-1} and V/W_k . It defines a subgroup of G.

We will denote by Rad the poset of these subgroups.

Remark 7.2.3. (a) For a flag D, U_D is a p-group.

- (b) Each Sylow *p*-subgroup of G is equal to U_D for a maximal flag D.
- (c) If $D = (W_1 < W_2 < \cdots < W_k)$, for every *i* and every $g \in U_D$, W_i is stable by *g*.
- (d) If $D = (W_1 < W_2 < \cdots < W_k)$, $W_1 = V^{U_D}$ and W_k is the smallest subspace of V such that every $g \in U_D$ induces the identity on V/W_k (or, by duality, $W_k = V^{U_D}$ where V is identified with its dual V^* using the dual of a basis adapted to U_D and $U_D^* = \{g^* \mid g \in U_D\}$).

Proposition 7.2.4. Let $D = (W_1 < W_2 < \cdots < W_k)$ be a flag of V. We have the following

- (a) $N_G(U_D) = \{g \in G \mid \forall i, g(W_i) = W_i\},\$
- (b) $C_G(U_D) \leq U_D$ (U_D is a centric subgroup of G),
- (c) $O_p(N_G(U_D)/U_D)$ is trivial (U_D is a radical p-subgroup of G).

Proof. To show the first point we can remark that, for a subgroup $H \leq G$ and $g \in G$, $V^{gHg^{-1}} = g(V^H)$. In particular $gU_D g^{-1} = U_{g(D)}$ for every $g \in N_G(U_D)$.

For the point (b), in a basis associated to D, the matrix of an element of U_D is an upper triangular block matrix with identity block on the diagonal and the matrix of an element of $N_G(U_D)$ in the same base is just an upper triangular block matrix. Hence, using matrix arguments, we can show that $C_G(U_D) \leq U_D$. Indeed, if $g \in C_G(U_D)$, it normalizes U_D and thus its block matrix (in a basis adapted to D) has the following form,

$$\begin{pmatrix} A_1 & \star & \cdots & \star \\ 0 & A_2 & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \star \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & A_k \end{pmatrix}$$

and commutes for example with matrices of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathrm{Id} & R & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \mathrm{Id} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 & \mathrm{Id} \end{pmatrix} \in U_D.$$

In other words, $A_1R = RA_2$ for every matrix R. Then the endomorphism

$$R \in \mathcal{M}_{n_1, n_2}(\mathbb{F}_q) \mapsto A_1 R - R A_2 \in \mathcal{M}_{n_1, n_2}(\mathbb{F}_q)$$

(where n_1 and n_2 are respectively the dimension of A_1 and A_2) is null. In particular, by looking at elementary matrices, we get that A_1 and A_2 are identity matrices. Finally, with the same arguments (changing the position of R), for every $i, A_i = \text{Id}$.

For the third point, we can first remark that, if we write for i > 1, $d_i = dim(W_i) - dim(W_{i-1})$ and $d_1 = dim(W_1)$,

$$N_G(U_D)/U_D \cong PGL_{d_1}(\mathbb{F}_q) \times PGL_{d_2}(\mathbb{F}_q) \times \cdots \times PGL_{d_k}(\mathbb{F}_q).$$

As $O_p(PGL_k(\mathbb{F}_q)) = 1$ for every k > 1, U_D is a radical *p*-subgroup of *G*.

Ŵ

Proposition 7.2.5. Let D and D' be two flags.

The following are equivalent,

- (i) $D \leq D'$
- (*ii*) $U_D \leq U_{D'}$.

Proof. $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$ is clear using the matrix representation in a basis adapted to D'.

Conversely, let $D = (W_1 < \cdots < W_k)$ and $D' = (W'_1 < \cdots < W'_l)$ and assume that $U_D \leq U_{D'}$. By Remark 7.2.3, $W'_1 = V^{U_{D'}} \leq V^{U_D} = W_1$ and $W_k \leq W'_l$. If l = 1 then $W'_1 \leq W_1 \leq W_k \leq W'_l = W'_1$ and thus k = 1 and $W_1 = W'_1$. Assume now that $l \geq 2$ (i.e. $W'_1 < W'_k$) and assume there is a $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ such that, for every $j, W_i \neq W'_j$. As $W'_1 < W_i < W'_l$, there is $j_0 \in \{1, \ldots, l-1\}$ such that $W'_{j_0} < W_i$ and $W'_{j_0+1} \not\leq W_i$. But we have $W'_{j_0+1}/W'_{j_0} = (V/W'_{j_0})^{U_{D'}} \leq (V/W'_{j_0})^{U_D} \leq W_i/W'_{j_0}$ and hence, $W_{j_0+1} \leq W_i$ which contradicts the definition of j_0 .

Corollary 7.2.6. The application $D \mapsto U_D \in Rad$ induces a G-equivariant homeomorphism between the two CW complexes |Rad| and $|\Delta|$.

Proof. The *G*-poset of flags of *V* corresponds to the *G*-poset of the simplexes of $|\Delta|$. Then the geometric realization of the nerve of Rad is the barycentric subdivision of $|\Delta|$. As the action of *G* on the flags and Rad coincide, the action of *G* on |Rad| and $|\Delta|$ coincide.

These subgroups of G are also important in the study of the radical *p*-subgroups of G.

Proposition 7.2.7. Let P be a proper nontrivial p-subgroup of G. There is a flag D_P such that,

(a) $P \leq U_{D_P}$

(b) $N_G(P) \leq N_G(U_{D_P}).$

Proof. P acts on V, and, as we are in characteristic p and P is a p-group, $V^P \neq \{0\}$. Moreover, $P \neq \{\text{Id}\}$, thus $V^P \neq V$ and we can define $W_1 = V^P$. By induction, we assume that for $i \leq 0$, the proper nontrivial subspace W_i is defined. If $(V/W_i)^P < (V/W_i)$, we set $W_i < W_{i+1} < V$ such that $W_{i+1}/W_i = (V/W_i)^P$, else we stop.

We obtain by this process a flag $D_P = (W_1 < W_2 < \cdots < W_k)$ such that $P \leq U_{D_P}$ and $N_G(P) \leq N_G(U_{D_P})$ (using the fact that, for a subgroup H of G and $g \in G$, $V^{gHg^{-1}} = g(V^H)$).

In particular, we can show that Rad corresponds to the set of all the radical p-subgroups of G.

Corollary 7.2.8. The set of all the radical p-subgroups of G is Rad.

Proof. We already know that, for a flag D, U_D is a radical p-subgroup of G. Consider then H a radical p-subgroup of G and assume that $H < U_{D_H}$ where D_H is the flag from the last proposition. Hence $H < N_{U_{D_H}}(H) \le U_{D_H}$ (each subgroup of a p-group is strictly contains in its normalizer) and as U_{D_H} is normal in $N_G(H)$, $H < O_p(N_G(H))$ which contradicts the definition of radical p-subgroup.

7.2.2 The homotopy type of the linking system

Let $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ be the associated *p*-local finite group.

We are interested in the homotopy type of $|\mathcal{L}|$. As we know, it has the homotopy type of the geometric realization of the subcategory of $|\mathcal{L}|$ with objects the \mathcal{F} -centric and \mathcal{F} -radical subgroups of S.

Lemma 7.2.9. Let G be a finite group, S a Sylow p-subgroup of G and $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ the associated p-local finite group.

If a subgroup P of S is \mathcal{F} -centric and \mathcal{F} -radical, then P is a radical p-subgroup of G.

Proof. Let $P \leq S$ be an \mathcal{F} -centric and \mathcal{F} -radical subgroup of S. We have, if we write $O^p(C_G(P)) = C'_G(P), O_p(N_G(P)/PC'_G(P)) = 1$. If P is not a radical p-subgroup of G, then $K = O_p(N_G(P)/P) > 1$ and then $1 < K/C'_G(P) \leq N_G(P)/PC'_G(P)$ is a normal p-subgroup of $N_G(P)/PC'_G(P)$ which leads to a contradiction. Hence P is a radical p-subgroup of G.

Corollary 7.2.10. Let $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ and S a Sylow p-subgroup of G.

If we denote by \mathcal{L}^{cr} the subcategory of $\mathcal{L}_{S}^{c}(G)$ with set of objects all the \mathcal{F} -centric and \mathcal{F} -radical subgroups of S and \mathcal{T}^{r} the subcategory of $\mathcal{T}_{S}(G)$ with set of objects all the subgroups of S which are radical p-subgroups of G, then

$$\mathcal{L}^{cr} = \mathcal{T}^r$$

Proof. From the corollary 7.2.8, every radical *p*-subgroup of *G* is centric, the set of \mathcal{F} -radical and \mathcal{F} -centric subgroups of *S* is the set of subgroups of *S* which are radical *p*-subgroups. Thus $Ob(\mathcal{L}^{cr}) = Ob(\mathcal{T}^r)$ and, as they are all centric, $\mathcal{L}^{cr} = \mathcal{T}^r$.

Proposition 7.2.11. |Rad| is a covering space of $|\mathcal{L}_{S}^{cr}(G)|$ with covering group G.

Proof. By Corollary 7.2.10, $\mathcal{L}^{cr} = \mathcal{T}^r$ and in particular $|\mathcal{L}_S^c(G)| \cong |\mathcal{L}^{cr}| = |\mathcal{T}^r|$. Also, we can easily see that $|\mathcal{T}^r|$ has the homotopy type of the Borel construction $|\mathcal{E}G \times_G \operatorname{Rad}|$. The result then follows as a consequence.

Let us finish with a result of Tits on the homotopy type of the geometric realization of the Tits building Δ_G .

Proposition 7.2.12 (Tits). Let $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

The geometric realization of the Tits Building of G has the homotopy type of a wedge of (n-2)-spheres. In particular, $H_*(|\Delta|; \mathbb{F}_p) = H_0(|\Delta|; \mathbb{F}_p) \oplus H_{n-2}(|\Delta|; \mathbb{F}_p)$.

Then, the action of G on Δ induces a structure of $\mathbb{F}_p[G]$ -module on $H_{n-2}(|\Delta|; \mathbb{F}_p)$, which defines the *Steinberg representation of* G denoted St_G . This representation have been well studied and for example, we have the following.

Proposition 7.2.13. The $\mathbb{F}_p[G]$ -module St_G is projective.

7.2.3 The case $n \geq 4$

Let $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

In that case, by Proposition 7.2.12, $|\Delta|$ is simply connected but not \mathbb{F}_p -acyclic and, $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}_S^c(G)|) = G$. Hence, as a direct corrolary of Proposition 7.2.11, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 7.2.14. Let $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ and S a Sylow p-subgroup of G.

(a) The universal cover of $|\mathcal{L}_{S}^{c}(G)|$ has the homotopy type of |Rad|.

(b) $\pi_{\mathcal{L}} := \pi_1(|\mathcal{L}_S^c(G)|) \cong G.$

Thus, for S a Sylow p-subgroup of G, the p-local finite group $(S, \mathcal{F}_S(G), \mathcal{L}_S^c(G))$ satisfies the assumption of 7.1.1 and then, the $\mathbb{F}_p[G]$ -module $\mathbb{F}_p[G]$ gives a counter-example.

Moreover, the Steinberg module gives also another counter-example.

Proposition 7.2.15. Let $G = PGL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ and S a Sylow p-subgroup of G. If St_G is the Steinberg representation of G, then

$$H^{n-2}(|\mathcal{L}_{S}^{c}(G)|, St_{G}) \neq 0 \qquad but \qquad H^{n-2}(\mathcal{F}_{S}^{c}(G), St_{G}) = 0.$$

Proof. First, as the Steinberg representation St_G is $\mathbb{F}_p[G]$ -projective, it is $\mathbb{F}_p[S]$ -projective and then $H^{n-2}(\mathcal{F}_S^c(G), \operatorname{St}_G) \leq H^{n-2}(S, \operatorname{St}_G) = 0$ is trivial. Secondly, still as St_G is $\mathbb{F}_p[G]$ -projective and $|\operatorname{Rad}|$ is the universal cover of $\mathcal{L}^{cr} = \mathcal{T}$ by Proposition 7.2.14 (by using the notation of 7.2.10), for every $m \geq 0$,

$$H^{m}(|\mathcal{L}^{cr}|, \operatorname{St}_{G}) = H^{m}(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}[G]}(C_{*}(|\operatorname{Rad}|), \operatorname{St}_{G})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{F}_{p}[G]}(H_{m}(|\operatorname{Rad}|, \mathbb{F}_{p}), \operatorname{St}_{G}).$$

Thus, by Corollary 7.2.6,

$$H^{n-2}(|\mathcal{L}^{cr}|, \operatorname{St}_G) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{F}_p[G]}(H_{n-2}(|\Delta|), \operatorname{St}_G) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{F}_p[G]}(\operatorname{St}_G, \operatorname{St}_G) \neq 0.$$

Finally, as $|\mathcal{L}_{S}^{c}(G)| = |\mathcal{L}^{cr}|$, we get the result.

7.2.4 The case n = 3

Let $G = PGL_3(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

When n = 3, $|\Delta|$ is a wedge of circles but the linking system restricted to \mathcal{F} -centric and \mathcal{F} -radical subgroups of S has the same form as in the case of $D_8 \leq A_6$ (which, by the way, corresponds to the *p*-local finite group of $G = PGL_3(\mathbb{F}_2)!$).

Let S be the Sylow p-subgroup of G of upper triangular matrices with ones on the diagonal. Then, by Corollary 7.2.8, the proper \mathcal{F} -centric and \mathcal{F} -radical subgroups of S are the following ones,

$$P = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & a \\ 0 & 1 & b \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \; ; \; (a,b) \in \mathbb{F}_q^2 \right\} \quad \text{and} \quad Q = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & a & b \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \; ; \; (a,b) \in \mathbb{F}_q^2 \right\}.$$

Moreover, the normalizers are the followings,

 $N_G(S) = S, N_G(P)/P \cong PGL_2(\mathbb{F}_q) \text{ and } N_G(Q)/Q \cong PGL_2(\mathbb{F}_q).$

Hence, $|\mathcal{L}^{cr}| \cong B(N_G(P) *_S N_G(Q))$ and, for $M = \mathbb{F}_p[G]$, we have, by Mayer Vietoris, the following exact sequence,

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{0}(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \longrightarrow H^{0}(N_{G}(P), M) \oplus H^{0}(N_{G}(Q), M) \longrightarrow H^{0}(S, M) \longrightarrow H^{1}(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \longrightarrow 0.$$

Finally, looking at the indexes of S, $N_G(P)$ and $N_G(Q)$ in G, we can verify that,

$$H^1(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \neq \underbrace{0 = H^1(\mathcal{F}_S(G)^c, M)}_{\text{by projectivity of } M}.$$

Appendices

The Geometric realization of a category

1 Simplicial sets and their realizations

Definition 1.1. The simplicial category Δ is the category whose objects are the sets $[n] = \{0, 1, \ldots, n\}$ for $n \ge 0$ and whose morphisms are the order preserving maps between objects.

A simplicial set is a functor $K: \Delta^{\text{op}} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{Sets}$, and a morphism of simplicial sets between two simplicial sets K_1 and K_2 is a natural transformation of functors.

For K a simplicial set, we often write $K_n = K([n])$, which is regarded as the set of "*n*-simplices" and an *n*-simplex σ of K is degenerated if $\sigma \in \text{Im}(\chi^*)$ for some $\chi \in \text{Mor}(\Delta)$. More precisely, the morphisms in Δ are generated by the *face* and *degeneracy* morphisms. For each n,

- (i) there are n + 1 face morphisms $d_n^i \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\Delta}([n-1], [n])$ for $0 \le i \le n$ where d_n^i is the (unique) injective morphism whose image does not contains i,
- (ii) there are *n* degeneracy morphisms $s_n^i \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\Delta}([n], [n-1])$ for $0 \le i \le n-1$ where s_n^i is the (unique) surjective morphism such that $s_n^i(i) = s_n^i(i+1) = i$.

Thus, an *n*-simplex σ of K is degenerate if, and only if, there exists $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ such that $\sigma \in \text{Im}(s_n^{i*})$.

Let, for $n \ge 0$, Δ^n be the *n*-simplex of \mathbb{R}^n . This can be seen as a covariant functor $\Delta : \Delta \longrightarrow$ Top. We define then the geometric realization of a simplicial set as follows.

Definition 1.2. Let K be a simplicial set.

The geometric realization of K is the space

$$|K| = \left(\prod_{n \ge 0} K_n \times \Delta^n \right) \middle/ \sim$$

where $(\sigma, \varphi_*(\tau)) \sim (\varphi^*(\sigma), \tau)$ for all $\sigma \in K_m, \tau \in \Delta^n$ and all $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\Delta}([n], [m])$.

The geometric realization of a simplicial set K has a natural structure of CW complex with one vertex for each $\sigma \in K_0$, an edge for each non degenerate element of K_1 , a 2-cell for each non degenerated element of K_2 , etc. The geometric realization defines a functor from the category S of simplicial sets to the category of topological spaces. It is more precisely the left adjoint of the singular simplicial set functor

$$S: \operatorname{Top} \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}$$

defined, for a space X, by $S_n(X)$ as the set of all continuous maps $\Delta \longrightarrow X$.

We can also define the product of two simplicial sets K and L by the simplicial set given by $(K \times L)_n = K_n \times L_n$ and respectively on morphisms. The following proposition shows that geometric realization behaves nicely with respect to products.

Proposition 1.3. Let K, L be two simplicial sets.

The application

$$|K \times L| \longrightarrow |K| \times |L|$$

induced by the projections of simplicial sets is a continuous bijection.

It is also a homeomorphism under certain conditions (for example if K or L has finitely many non degenerate simplices). See [GZ], Section III.3, for more details about this and a proof.

2 The nerve of a category and its geometric realization

Definition 2.1. Let C be a small category.

The *nerve* of \mathcal{C} is the simplicial set $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{C})$ define on objects by

 $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{C})_0 = Ob(\mathcal{C})$ and for n > 0, $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{C})_n = \{c_0 \xrightarrow{\alpha_1} c_1 \xrightarrow{\alpha_2} \cdots \xrightarrow{\alpha_n} c_n \mid c_i \in Ob(\mathcal{C}), \alpha_i \in Mor(\mathcal{C})\}$

and on morphisms by, for $n \ge 0$ and $i \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$,

$$d_n^{i^*}(c_0 \xrightarrow{\alpha_1} c_1 \xrightarrow{\alpha_2} \cdots \xrightarrow{\alpha_n} c_n) = \begin{cases} c_1 \xrightarrow{\alpha_2} \cdots \xrightarrow{\alpha_n} c_n & \text{if } i = 0\\ c_0 \xrightarrow{\alpha_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{\alpha_{i-1}} c_{i-1} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{i+1} \circ \alpha_i} c_{i+1} \xrightarrow{\alpha_{i+2}} \cdots \xrightarrow{\alpha_n} c_n & \text{if } 0 < i < n\\ c_0 \xrightarrow{\alpha_1} c_1 \xrightarrow{\alpha_2} \cdots \xrightarrow{\alpha_{n-1}} c_{n-1} & \text{if } i = n \end{cases}$$

$$s_n^{i^*}(c_0 \xrightarrow{\alpha_1} c_1 \xrightarrow{\alpha_2} \cdots \xrightarrow{\alpha_n} c_n) = c_0 \xrightarrow{\alpha_1} \cdots \xrightarrow{\alpha_i} c_i \xrightarrow{\text{Id}_{c_i}} c_i \xrightarrow{\alpha_{i+1}} \cdots \xrightarrow{\alpha_n} c_n$$

The geometric realization of \mathcal{C} is then the geometric realization of $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{C})$

$$|\mathcal{C}| = |\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{C})|$$

The nerve define a functor from the category of small categories to S and thus, the geometric realization of a category define a functor from the category of small categories to Top. We can now look at natural transformation of functors. We have the following result at first proved by Segal.

Proposition 2.2. Let C and D be two small categories and f, g two functors from C to D.

If there is a natural transformation u between f and g, then the induced application |f|and |g| are homotopic.

Proof. Denote $\mathcal{I} = 0 \longrightarrow 1$ the category with two objects and a unique non identity morphism between the two objects.

By definition of u, for all $c, c' \in \mathcal{C}$ and all $\alpha \in Mor(\mathcal{C})$, we have the following commutative diagram.

We can then define a functor $\hat{u} : \mathcal{C} \times \mathcal{I} \to \mathcal{D}$ given on objects by, $\forall c \in \mathcal{C}, \hat{u}(c, 0) = f(c)$ and $\hat{u}(c, 1) = g(c)$, and on morphisms by, $\forall c, c' \in \mathcal{C}$ and $\forall \alpha \in \operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{C}}(c, c'), \hat{u}(\alpha, \operatorname{Id}_0) = f(\alpha), \hat{u}(\alpha, \operatorname{Id}_1) = g(\alpha)$ and $\hat{u}(\alpha, 0 \longrightarrow 1) = u(c') \circ f(\alpha) = g(\alpha) \circ u(c)$.

As $|\mathcal{I}| = I$, we have, by Proposition 1.3, $|\mathcal{C} \times \mathcal{I}|$ is homeomorphic to $|\mathcal{C}| \times I$. Thus $|\hat{u}|$ define a homotopy between |f| and |g|.

Corollary 2.3. (a) If C is a category with an initial or a terminal object, then |C| is contractible.

(b) Let $f : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ and $g : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$ be functors. If there are natural transformations $u : f \circ g \to Id_{\mathcal{D}}$ and $v : g \circ f \to Id_{\mathcal{C}}$ then $|f| : |\mathcal{C}| \to |\mathcal{D}|$ and $|g| : |\mathcal{D}| \to |\mathcal{C}|$ are homotopy equivalences.

Proof. For (a), denote by F_{c_0} the constant functor which send each object to c_0 , the initial (or terminal) object of \mathcal{C} , and each morphisms on Id_{c_0} . We have a natural transformation between F_{c_0} and $\mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{C}}$ which send $c \in \mathcal{C}$ on the unique morphism from c_0 to c (or c to c_0). Thus $|F_{c_0}|$ and $|\mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{C}}| = \mathrm{Id}_{|\mathcal{C}|}$ are homotopic. Then $|F_{c_0}|$ is a retraction by deformation of $|\mathcal{C}|$ on $|c_0|$ which is a point.

For (b), this is clear by functoriality and Proposition 2.2.

One important example is given by the construction of a classifying space of a finite group G from the category $\mathcal{B}(G)$.

Proposition 2.4. Let G be a finite group. Let $\mathcal{B}(G)$ be the category with one object o_G and such that $Mor_{\mathcal{B}(G)}(o_G) = G$.

Then $|\mathcal{B}G|$ is a classifying space of G.

Proof. Consider the category $\mathcal{E}(G)$ with set of objects G and for each $(g,h) \in G \times G$, Mor_{$\mathcal{E}(G)$} $(g,h) = {\varphi_{g,h}}$. As every object of $\mathcal{E}G$ is initial and terminal, by 2.3, $EG = |\mathcal{E}G|$ is contractible.

Consider then the functor $p_G : \mathcal{E}G \to \mathcal{B}G$ which send each object on o_G and for all $(g,h) \in G \times G$, send $\varphi_{g,h}$ on hg^{-1} .

Ŵ

We have an action of G on $\mathcal{E}G$ by multiplication on objects and morphisms $(g.\varphi_{h,k} = \varphi_{gh,gk})$. This action induces a free G-action on the geometric realization $EG = |\mathcal{E}G|$ and $|p_G|$ is the orbit map for this action. Hence, EG is the universal cover of $|\mathcal{B}G|$ and $\pi_1(|\mathcal{B}G|) \cong G$. Then $|\mathcal{B}G|$ is a classifying space of G.

We finish with the fundamental group and some covering space constructions of the geometric realization of a category with a special form (which contains all the categories we consider here).

Proposition 2.5 ([AKO], Proposition III.2.8). Let C be a small category and $c_0 \in Ob(C)$. Assume we can choose morphisms $\iota_c \in Mor_{\mathcal{C}}(c, c_0)$, for each $c \in Ob(C)$, where $\iota_{c_0} = Id_{c_0}$. Define the functor

$$\theta: \mathcal{C} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}(\pi_1(|\mathcal{C}|, c_0))$$

by sending each object $c \in Ob(\mathcal{C})$ to the unique object and, for $c, d \in Ob(\mathcal{C})$, each $\alpha \in Mor_{\mathcal{C}}(c, d)$ to the class of loop $\iota_d.\alpha.\overline{\iota_c}$.

Then θ induces an isomorphism of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{C}|, c_0)$ with the free group on generators $[\alpha]$ for each $\alpha \in Mor(\mathcal{C})$, modulo the relation $[\iota_c] = 1$ for each $c \in Ob(\mathcal{C})$ and $[\beta \circ \alpha] = [\beta][\alpha]$ for each composable pair $\alpha, \beta \in Mor(\mathcal{C})$.

Proposition 2.6 ([AKO], Proposition III.2.9). Let C be a small category, $c_0 \in Ob(C)$, G be a finite group and $F : C \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}(G)$ be a functor.

Assume, for each $c \in Ob(\mathcal{C})$ and each $g \in G$, there are $d \in Ob(\mathcal{C})$ and $\psi \in Iso_{\mathcal{C}}(c,d)$ such that $F(\psi) = g$.

For each $H \leq G$, let $C_H \subseteq C$ be the subcategory with the same objects, where for all $\psi \in Mor(\mathcal{C}), \ \psi \in Mor(\mathcal{C}_H)$ if and only if $F(\psi) \in H$.

Then, For each $H \leq G$, $|\mathcal{C}_H|$ is homotopy equivalent to the covering space of $|\mathcal{C}|$ with fundamental group $|F|^{-1}_*(H)$.

The Bousfield-Kan *p*-completion

The Bousfield-Kan *p*-completion functor is a functor from spaces to spaces, denoted $(-)_p^{\wedge}$, together with a natural transformation $\lambda : \operatorname{Id} \longrightarrow (-)_p^{\wedge}$. We refer to [BK] for a precise definition of this functor and its properties. We also refer to [AKO] for some of the properties which are more clearly proved.

Definition 0.7. A continuous map $f: X \longrightarrow Y$ is a *p*-equivalence if f induces an isomorphism from $H^*(X, \mathbb{F}_p)$ to $H^*(Y, \mathbb{F}_p)$ (or, equivalently, f induces an isomorphism from $H_*(X, \mathbb{F}_p)$ to $H_*(Y, \mathbb{F}_p)$).

Many of the important properties of *p*-completions hold only for certain classes of spaces. But the next proposition holds for all spaces.

Proposition 0.8 ([BK], Lemma I.5.5). A continuous map $f: X \longrightarrow Y$ induces a homotopy equivalence $f_p^{\wedge}: X_p^{\wedge} \longrightarrow Y_p^{\wedge}$ if, and only if, it is a p-equivalence.

When we work with p-completion, the classes of p-complete spaces and p-good spaces play a central role.

Definition 0.9. Let X be a space.

- (i) The space X is *p*-complete if $\lambda_X : X \longrightarrow X_p^{\wedge}$ is a homotopy equivalence.
- (ii) The space X is *p*-good if $\lambda_X : X \longrightarrow X_p^{\wedge}$ is a *p*-equivalence. X is called *p*-bad otherwise.

One important family of examples of p-complete spaces are the classifying spaces of p-groups (See [AKO], Proposition III.1.10).

We can show ([BK], Proposition I.5.2) that a space X is p-good if, and only if, X_p^{\wedge} is p-complete (i.e. $X_p^{\wedge} \simeq (X_p^{\wedge})_p^{\wedge}$). On the other hand, if a space is p-bad, then all of its iterated p-completions are also p-bad ([BK], Proposition I.5.2).

The most important criterion for checking if a space is p-good, at least for the type of spaces we work with in this thesis, is given by the following proposition. Recall that a finite group G is call p-perfect if G is generated by its commutators and p-th powers.

Proposition 0.10. Let X be a space.

If $\pi_1(X)$ contains a p-perfect subgroup of finite index, then X is p-good and if K is the maximal p-perfect group of $\pi_1(X)$, then $\pi_1(X_p^{\wedge}) = \pi_1(X)/K$. In particular, if $\pi_1(X)$ is finite, then X is p-good and $\pi_1(X_p^{\wedge}) = \pi_1(X)/O^p(\pi_1(X))$.

A proof is sketched in [AKO], Proposition III.1.11. Remark that, in particular, this implies that, if X is p-good then $\pi_1(X_p^{\wedge})$ is a p-group.

The next proposition states that when X is p-good, $\lambda_X : X \longrightarrow X_p^{\wedge}$ is universal among all p-equivalence $X \longrightarrow Y$.

Proposition 0.11. For every p-good space X, and every p-equivalence $f: X \longrightarrow Y$, there is a map $g: Y \longrightarrow X_p^{\wedge}$ unique up to homotopy, such that $g \circ f \simeq \lambda_X$. Thus $\lambda_X: X \longrightarrow X_p^{\wedge}$ is a final object among homotopy classes of p-equivalences defined on X.

This is just a direct consequence of [BK], Lemma I.5.5.

Corollary 0.12. If X and Y are two spaces, and one of them is p-good, then their pcompletions are homotopy equivalent if, and only if, there exists some space Z and maps $X \xrightarrow{f} Z \xleftarrow{g} Y$ such that f and g are p-equivalences.

Bibliography

[5a1]	Carles Broto, Natàlia Castellana, Jesper Grodal, Ran Levi, and Bob Oliver. Subgroup families controlling <i>p</i> -local finite groups. <i>Proc. London Math. Soc.</i> (3), 91(2):325–354, 2005.
[5a2]	Carles Broto, Natàlia Castellana, Jesper Grodal, Ran Levi, and Bob Oliver. Extensions of <i>p</i> -local finite groups. <i>Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.</i> , 359(8):3791–3858, 2007.
[AF]	J. L. Alperin and P. Fong. Weights for symmetric and general linear groups. J. Algebra, 131(1):2–22, 1990.
[AKO]	Michael Aschbacher, Radha Kessar, and Bob Oliver. Fusion systems in algebra and topology, volume 391 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2011.
[AM]	Alejandro Adem and R. James Milgram. Cohomology of finite groups, vol- ume 309 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 2004.
[AOV]	Kasper K. S. Andersen, Bob Oliver, and Joana Ventura. Reduced, tame and exotic fusion systems. <i>Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3)</i> , 105(1):87–152, 2012.
[BK]	Aldridge K. Bousfield and Daniel M. Kan. <i>Homotopy limits, completions and localizations.</i> Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 304. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1972.
[BLO1]	Carles Broto, Ran Levi, and Bob Oliver. Homotopy equivalences of <i>p</i> -completed classifying spaces of finite groups. <i>Invent. Math.</i> , 151(3):611–664, 2003.
[BLO2]	Carles Broto, Ran Levi, and Bob Oliver. The homotopy theory of fusion systems. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 16(4):779-856, 2003.

[Be2] David J. Benson. Representations and cohomology. II, volume 31 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. second edition, 1998. Cohomology of groups and modules. [Be3] David J. Benson. Cohomology of sporadic groups, finite loop spaces, and the Dickson invariants. In Geometry and cohomology in group theory (Durham. 1994), volume 252 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 10-23. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1998. [Br]Kenneth S. Brown. Buildings. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989. [Br2]Kenneth S. Brown. Cohomology of groups, volume 87 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1982. [CE]Henri Cartan and Samuel Eilenberg. Homological algebra. Princeton Landmarks in Mathematics. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1999. With an appendix by David A. Buchsbaum, Reprint of the 1956 original. [CL]Natàlia Castellana and Assaf Libman. Wreath products and representations of p-local finite groups. Adv. Math., 221(4):1302–1344, 2009. [Ch]Andrew Chermak. Fusion systems and localities. Acta Math., 211(1):47–139, 2013. [Cr] David A. Craven. The theory of fusion systems, volume 131 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2011. An algebraic approach. [DwH] William G. Dwyer and Hans-Werner Henn. Homotopy theoretic methods in group cohomology. Advanced Courses in Mathematics. CRM Barcelona. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2001. [Ev]Leonard Evens. The cohomology of groups. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1991. Oxford Science Publications. [GRh] Matthew Gelvin and Sune Precht Reeh. Minimal characteristic bisets for fusion systems. J. Algebra, 427:345–374, 2015. [GZ] Pierre Gabriel and Michel Zisman. Calculus of fractions and homotopy theory. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Band 35. Springer-Verlag New York, Inc., New York, 1967. Gr Jesper Grodal. Higher limits via subgroup complexes. Ann. of Math. (2), 155(2):405-457, 2002.[Hatch] Allen Hatcher. Algebraic topology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002.

[LR]	Ran Levi and Kári Ragnarsson. <i>p</i> -local finite group cohomology. <i>Homology</i> <i>Homotopy Appl.</i> , 13(1):223–257, 2011.
[O1]	Bob Oliver. Equivalences of classifying spaces completed at odd primes. <i>Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc.</i> , 137(2):321–347, 2004.
[O2]	Bob Oliver. Equivalences of classifying spaces completed at the prime two. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 180(848):vi+102, 2006.
[O4]	Bob Oliver. Extensions of linking systems and fusion systems. <i>Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.</i> , 362(10):5483–5500, 2010.
[O5]	Bob Oliver. Existence and uniqueness of linking systems: Chermak's proof via obstruction theory. <i>Acta Math.</i> , 211(1):141–175, 2013.
[OV1]	Bob Oliver and Joana Ventura. Extensions of linking systems with <i>p</i> -group kernel. <i>Math. Ann.</i> , 338(4):983–1043, 2007.
[OV2]	Bob Oliver and Joana Ventura. Saturated fusion systems over 2-groups. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 361(12):6661–6728, 2009.
[P1]	Lluis Puig. Structure locale dans les groupes finis. Bull. Soc. Math. France Suppl. Mém., (47):132, 1976.
[P6]	Lluis Puig. Frobenius categories. J. Algebra, 303(1):309–357, 2006.
[RS]	Kári Ragnarsson and Radu Stancu. Saturated fusion systems as idempotents in the double Burnside ring. <i>Geom. Topol.</i> , 17(2):839–904, 2013.
[Ru]	Albert Ruiz. Exotic normal fusion subsystems of general linear groups. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 76(1):181–196, 2007.
[We]	Charles A. Weibel. An introduction to homological algebra, volume 38 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994.

Index

 $M^G, 7$ $U_D, 76$ [X, Y], 7 $\mathcal{B}(G), 85$ $\mathbb{F}_q, 7$ $\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G}(M), 72$ $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}, 7$ $\operatorname{coInd}_{H}^{G}(M), 72$ $\mathcal{E}(G), 85$ $\omega,\,15$ $\pi_{\mathcal{L}}, 15$ $\pi_{\mathcal{T}}, 32$ Alperin's Fusion Theorem, 11 automizer, 7 $\operatorname{Aut}_G(H), 7$ automorphism $\operatorname{Aut}(G), 7$ $\operatorname{Out}_{S}(P), 10$ $\operatorname{Out}_{\mathcal{F}}(P), 10$ inner, 7 $\operatorname{Inn}(H), 7$ outer, 7 Out(H), 7biset, 35 $(K,\varphi), 35$ $[K, \varphi], 35$ $\mathcal{A}(G,H), 36$

 $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}, 36$

 $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q), 36$ $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}>P_0}, 42$ $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}\geq P_0}(P,Q), 43$ $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}^c}, 38$ $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}^c}(P,Q), 38$ $\mathcal{B}(G,H), 35$ \mathcal{F} -characteristic, 36 \mathcal{F} -generated, 36 \mathcal{F}^{c} -generated, 38 Ω -endomorphism, 39 $\Omega_*, 38$ \times_G , 36 Bousfield-Kan p-completion, 87 $X_p^{\wedge}, 87$ *p*-bad, 87 p-complete, 87 p-equivalence, 87 *p*-good, 87 Cartan-Eilenberg Theorem, 25 category $Mor(\mathcal{C}), 7$ $\operatorname{Mor}_{\mathcal{C}}(x,y), 7$ $Ob(\mathcal{C}), 7$ centralizer, 7 $C_G(X), 7$ classical groups $A_n, 7$ $C_n, 7$ $D_n, 7$

 $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q), 7$ $PGL_n(\mathbb{F}_q), 7$ $PSL_n(\mathbb{F}_q), 7$ $SL_n(\mathbb{F}_q), 7$ $S_n, 7$ classifying space of group, 1 BG, 1conjugation, 7 $c_q, 7$ covering, 64 M-cohomological, 64 flag, 76 functor $F_{x,y}, 7$ $\mathbb{F}_x, 7$ δ -functor, 22 δ , 22 universal, 24 fundamental group, 7 $\pi_1(X), 7$ fusion system, 9 $O^{p'}(\mathcal{F}), 18$ $O^p(\mathcal{F}), 17$ $\mathcal{F}, 9$ $\mathcal{F}^c, 10$ \mathcal{F}^q , 14 $\mathcal{F}^r, 10$ $\mathcal{F}^{cr}, 10$ $\mathcal{U}, 11$ $\langle \Psi \rangle_S, \langle \Psi \rangle, 11$ $\mathcal{F}_S(G), 9$ constrained, 42exotic, 10 realizable, 10 saturated, 10 geometric realization, 84 |C|, 84group cohomology, 21 $H^*(G, M), 21$ $H^*(\varphi, \rho), 21$ Res_P^Q , 22 ${\rm tr}_P^Q$, 24, 25 $c_q^*, 22$

homomorphism, 7 $\operatorname{Hom}(G, H), 7$ $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}}(P,Q), 9$ $\operatorname{Inj}(G,H), 7$ idempotent \mathcal{F}^{c} -characteristic, 41 $I^*_{\omega}(M), 41$ $\overline{\omega}_{*,-}, 41$ linking system, 12 $O^{p'}(\mathcal{L}), 18$ $O^p(\mathcal{L}), 17$ $\mathcal{L}, 12$ $\mathcal{L}^c_S(G), 13$ $\mathcal{L}^q_S(G), 15$ δ , 12 $\pi, 12$ centric, 12 quasicentric, 15 compatible set of inclusions, 13 $\iota_P^Q, 13$ nerve, 84 $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{C}), 84$ normalizer, 7 $N_G(X), 7$ p-local finite group, 15 classifying space of, 18 p-local subgroup, 15 simplicial set, 83 S, 84degeneracy morphism, 83 face morphism, 83 geometric realization, 83 stable elements \mathcal{F} -stable, 28 $H^*(\mathcal{F}, M), 28$ $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M), 31$ \mathcal{F}^{c} -stable, 31 stable, 25 Steinberg representation, 79 St, 79 subgroup

H < G, 7 $H \leq G, 7$ $H \leq G, 7$ M-centric, 33 M-centric-radical, 33 $O^{p}(G), 7$ $O^{p'}(G), 7, 17, 51$ $O_p(G), 7$ $O_p(\mathcal{F}), 42$ $O_{p'}(G), 7$ \mathcal{F} -centric, 10 \mathcal{F} -conjugate, 9 \mathcal{F} -essential, 11 \mathcal{F} -quasicentric, 14 \mathcal{F} -radical, 10 p-centric, 11 p-group, 7 p-quasicentric, 14 p'-group, 7 fully automized, 9 fully centralized, 10 fully normalized, 10 generated, 7 $\langle X \rangle$, 7 hyperfocal, 16 $\mathfrak{hyp}(\mathcal{F}), 16$ normal in \mathcal{F} , 42 radical, 11 receptive, 9 strongly p-embedded, 11 strongly closed, 43 Tits buildings, 76 transporter, 7 $T_G(X,Y), 7$ transporter category, 11 $\mathcal{T}_{H}^{\mathcal{H}}(G), 12$ $\mathcal{T}_{H}(G), 11$ $\mathcal{T}_S^c(G), 12$ $\mathcal{T}_{S}^{cr}(G), 12$
Résumé

Nous présentons une étude de la cohomologie à coefficients tordus de la réalisation géométrique des systèmes de liaison. Plus précisément, si $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ est un groupe fini *p*-local, nous travaillons sur la cohomologie $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M)$ de la réalisation géométrique de \mathcal{L} , avec un $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)]$ -module M en coefficients, et ses liens avec les éléments \mathcal{F}^c -stables $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) \subseteq H^*(S, M)$ à travers l'inclusion de BS dans $|\mathcal{L}|$.

Après avoir donné la définition des éléments \mathcal{F}^c -stables, nous étudions l'endomorphisme de $H^*(S, M)$ induit par un (S, S)-bi-ensemble \mathcal{F}^c -caractéristique et nous montrons que, sous certaine hypothèse et si l'action est nilpotent, alors on a un isomorphisme naturel $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$. Ensuite, nous regardons les actions *p*-résolubles à travers la notion de sous-groupe *p*-local d'index premier à *p* ou une puissance de *p*. Nous montrons que si l'action de $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$ sur *M* se factorise par un *p*'-groupe alors on a aussi un isomorphisme naturel. Pour une action *p*-résoluble plus général, nous obtenons un résultat dans le cas des systèmes réalisables. Ces résultats nous conduisent à la conjecture qu'on a un isomorphisme naturel pour tout groupe fini *p*-local et toute action *p*-résoluble.

Nous donnons quelque outils pour étudier cette conjecture. Nous travaillons sur les produits de groupes finis *p*-locaux avec la formule de Kunneth et les systèmes de liaison que se décomposent bien vis-à-vis de la suite exacte longue de Mayer-Vietoris. Finalement, nous étudions les sous-groupes essentiels d'un produit couronné par C_p .

Nous finissons par des exemples qui soulignent, qu'en général, on ne peut espérer un isomorphisme entre $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M)$ et $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

Abstract

The aim of this work is to study the cohomology with twisted coefficients of the geometric realization of linking systems. More precisely, if $(S, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L})$ is a *p*-local finite group, we work on the cohomology $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M)$ of the geometric realization of \mathcal{L} with coefficients in a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)]$ -module M and its links with the \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M) \subseteq H^*(S, M)$ through the inclusion of BS in \mathcal{L} .

After we give the definition of \mathcal{F}^c -stable elements, we study the endomorphism of $H^*(S, M)$ induced by an \mathcal{F}^c -characteristic (S, S)-biset and we show that, if the action is nilpotent and we assume an hypothesis, we have a natural isomorphism $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M) \cong H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$. Secondly, we look at *p*-solvable actions of $\pi_1(|\mathcal{L}|)$ on M through the notion of *p*-local subgroups of index a power of p or prime to p. If the action factors through a p'-group, we show that there is also a natural isomorphism. We then work on extending this to any *p*-solvable action and we get some positive answers when the *p*-local finite group is realizable. Theses leads to the conjecture that it is true for any *p*-local finite group and any *p*-solvable actions.

We also give some tools to study this conjecture on examples. We look at products of p-local finite groups with Kunneth Formula and linking systems which can be decomposed in a way which behaves well with Mayer-Vietoris long exact sequence. Finally, we study essential subgroups of wreath products by C_p .

We finish with some examples which illustrate that, in general, we cannot hope an isomorphism between $H^*(|\mathcal{L}|, M)$ and $H^*(\mathcal{F}^c, M)$.

Rémi Molinier
molinier@math.univ-paris13.fr
Université Paris 13, Sorbonne Paris Cité,
LAGA, UMR 7539 du CNRS,
99, Av. Jean-Baptiste Clément,
93430 Villetaneuse,
FRANCE.